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Listed on the main board of SGX in 2005, Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd ("Lizhong Wheel® or, together with its subsidiaries, ’
the “Group'), 1s a specialist in the design, manufacture and sales of aluminum alloy wheels in the People's Republic of !
China ("PRC"). The products manufactured by the Group are sold to customers via three (3) major channels, including

original equipment manufacturing ("OEM®) services to renowned automobile brands such as Toyota, GM, Geely and ‘
Great Wall, retail sales to after-sales markets through over 50 distribution channels covering major provinces of the '
PRC, and export sales to automobile manufacturers and intemational whee! distributors in the USA, Europe, Japan i
and South Korea. |

in the PRC This gives the Group access to the entire production chain for automobile manufacturing and therefore
enables the Group to respond quickly to customers’ demands and develop long-lasting relationships with many of its
local customers.

1

The Group’s six (6) production facilities are strategically located in the Pan Bohai Sea Region - an important auto hub |
1

.

The Group's Thailand plantin Thai-China Rayong Industrial Park was incorporated in September 2010 and is currently
under constructon. The Thaitand plant wili be a platform for the Group’s overseas development and expansion as
it is set to be completed by October 2011 and production is expected to commence soon thereafter With an annual
production capacity of 8.7 million wheels by the end of 2010, the Group is one of the largest producers of aluminum
alloy wheels in the PRC

As a testament to the quality of the Group's production , the Group's products are able to conform to strict international
quality standards such as QS9000, ISO/TS 16949, TUV (Germany), SFI (USA) and VIA (Japan). The Group is
committed to product innovation and has established a mould production plant, which has an annual production
capacity of 600 sets of moulds in 2010. The Group currently manufactures and sells more than 300 patented models
of wheels ranging from 12 to 24 inches in diameter, many of which designs are patented by the Group
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to
present to you the annual report of Lizhong Wheel
Group Ltd. (*Lizhong Wheel" or, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group™) for the financial year ended
31 December (“FY") 2010.

2010 was generally a commendable year for the Group
as growth in the domestic auto market remained robust
and the overseas auto market gradually recovered
after a two-year recession amidst the global financial
crisis. We were able to leverage on the favorable
market environment and our competitive edge as a
prominent player in China’s aluminum wheel industry
to achieve another set of strong performance.

Inflexion year of 2010

Our turnover in FY2010 surged 60.8% year-on-year
to RMB1,610.0 million from RMB1,001.3 million in
FY2009 as we recorded tremendous growth across
all our business segments. Meanwhile, we secured
larger orders from our existing original equipment
manufacturer (“OEM") customers and expanded
both our OEM and export customer bases. This was
attributable to our enhanced marketing efforts, strong
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research and development capabilities and close ties
with our customers in product innovation.

Our gross profit margin dropped from 15.0% in
FY2009 to 12.6% in FY2010 as we were constrained
by production capacity and outsourced some
production to our associates, which resulted in a low
gross profit margin. If sales and profit recorded from
our associates were excluded, our gross profit margin
would have remained stable at 14.3% in FY2010.

Our net profit attributable to shareholders tripled to
RMB125.8 million in FY2010 from RMB43.3 million
in FY2009. This was inclusive of a one-off gain of
RMB75.0 million from the redemption of convertible
bonds.

Owing to our continual efforts on improving financial
position and liquidity, we significantly reduced our
net gearing ratio to 38.6% in FY2010 from 74.8% in
FY2009. Net asset value per share in FY2010 rose to
RMB2.48 from RMB1.94 in FY2009.

Solid record to transcend

Since listing on the Main Board of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST")
in 2005, we have set out a blueprint to expand the
Group and eventually become the leading aluminum
alloy wheel producer in the PRC. After prudentially
increasing our annual production capacity from 3.0
million wheels in 2006 to 8.7 million wheels by end
2010, we are now one of the largest aluminum alloy
wheel manufacturers in the PRC.

We have diversified our OEM customer base to
include 15 renowned auto brands to date and enjoy
about a 15.6% market share in the domestic OEM
market. In the years ahead, we will also look towards
sourcing for more OEM customers to further enhance
our market share.

On the overseas expansion front, we have already
expanded our footprint in the European, American
and Japanese automobile markets, and penetrated
the Australian automobile market in 2010.
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Ample capacity allowing for growth in 2011
We look set to continue our growth momentum in
2011, by riding on the robust demand from both
domestic and overseas automobile markets. With the
new annual production capacity of 1.0 million wheels
added to our factory located in Tianjin City at the end of
2010, we will not be subject to such stringent capacity
constraints and will be able to push our business to
new heights.

Expanding beyond China

Even with the anti-dumping duty imposed on Chinese-
made aluminum alloy wheels by the European Union
atthe end of 2009, the Group showed its ability to react
quickly and decisively to changing market conditions
by laying out its plan to start development on a Thailand
plant the in Thai-China Rayong Industrial Park from as
early as June 2010.

The Thai Project, with an annual production capacity
of 1.0 million wheels, is set to target the overseas
markets, including Europe, America and other
countries.

Upon the completion of the Thailand plant by the end of
2011, we will be the first amongst our domestic peers
to have built an overseas factory. This will give us the
first-mover advantages that will assist us to compete
with our peers from other manufacturing countries and
have more exposure to a bigger share of overseas
markets.
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Dividend

To reward shareholders for their support, the Board
of Directors has declared a final dividend of RMB5.0
cents per share for FY2010.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting to be held on 29 April 2011, the
proposed dividend will be payable in due course.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
utmost appreciation to our management and staft,
shareholders, business partners and customers
for their dedication and commitment. Without your
professionalism and loyalty, Lizhong Wheel would not
be able to achieve what it has done so far. We will
continue to put in our best efforts to deliver value to all
our stakeholders. | look forward to meeting you at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 29
April 2011.

Yours faithfully,
Zang Ligen

Executive Chairman
6 April 2011
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The following discussion is based upon, and should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
of Lizhong Whee! Group Ltd. ("Lizhong Wheel® or, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group®), including the notes thereto

Except as otherwise noted, financial and statistical information presentedin this report for Lizhong Wheel is on a consolidated
basis

Financial Performance

The Group recorded a strong recovery in its financial performance for the financial year ended 31 December {*FY*) 2010
Revenue surged 60.8% year-on-year to RMB1,610.0 million in FY2010 from RMB1,001.3 in FY2009 with an improved
performance across all its business segments.

Sales by business segment

Year ended Year ended Change

Revenue 31 December 2010 31 December 2009 oy
RMB' Miflion % RME’ Million % %

OEM 1,046.3 650 653 4 653 60.1

Export 4206 26.1 2128 213 977

Retail 124 1 7.7 118.5 18 47

Others 19.0 12 166 17 14.5

Total 16100 100.0 1,001.3 1000 60.8

Sales from the original equipment manufacturer ("OEM") segment increased 60.1% year-on-year from RMB653 4 million in
FY2009 to RMB1,046.3 million in FY2010 as the Group boosted its sales from both existing and newly secured customers
due to the robust automobile market in China. With the continual recovery in overseas automobile markets since the end of
2009 and the Group's enhanced marketing efforts, the Group was able to double its export sales from RMB212.8 million in
FY2009 to RMB420.6 million in FY2010 Adding to the robust growth from the OEM and export segments was the Group's
retall segment, which saw a 4.7% year-on-year increase in sales from RMB118.5 million in FY2009 to RMB124.1 million in
FY2010

On a full year basis, gross profit margin of the Group fell by 2.4%, from 15.0% in FY2008 to 12.6% in FY2010 due to the
higher mix of low-margin outsourced products. As the production utilisation rate of the Group recovered to above 95 0% in
line with a high volume of orders, the Group outsourced the production of 1.55 million wheels, or 20.4% of the Group's total
output, to its associates. Generally, outsourced products command a low gross profit margin, and the Group’s gross profit
margin would have been stable at 14.3% in FY2010 if sales and profit recorded from the associates were excluded.

The Group recognised a bulk gain of RMB75.0 million from the redemption of convertible bonds under other operating
income, which in turn jumped from RMB7 .0 million in FY2009 to RMB80.6 million in FY2010
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Administrative expenses rose 61.0% year-on-year from RMB58.0 million in FY2009 to RMB893.4 million in FY2010 as the
Group placed more focus on research and development activities, and expanded its headcount during the year

As a result of the above factors, the Group nearly tripled its net profit attributable to sharenolders from RMB43.3 million in
FY2009 to RMB125.8 million in FY2010.

Financial Position
The Group's financial position continued to improve in line with market recovery. Our shareholders' equity stood at RMB604.9
million as at 31 December 2010, up 27.1% from RMB475.8 million as at 31 December 2009.

On a per share basis, our diluted eamings per share went up to RMB53.53 cents for FY2010 from RMB18 11 cents for
FY2009. Qur net asset value per share rose to RMB2.48 as at 31 December 2010 from RMB1.94 as at 31 December
2009

The Group significantly reduced its net gearing ratio to 38.6% as at 31 December 2010 from 74.8% as at 31 December
2009, as aresult of continued efforts in cash flow management.

Cash Flow Management

The Group's cash conversion cycle improved from 91 days in FY2008 to 59 days in FY2010 as a result of extension of its
repayment period to suppliers, in line with loose credit policies as well as improved inventory management on the part of
the Group.

- Witheffective cash management, the Group generated net cash from operations of RMB117.0 million in FY2010 as compared
to RMB56.5 million in FY2009. With regard to the Group's production capacity expansion plan, the Group made payments of
RMB54.3 million to acquire additional production equipment As a result, cash and cash equivalents increased by RMB39.6
miflion or 63.8% from RMB62.1 million as at 31 December 2009 to RMB101.7 million as at 31 December 2010,




FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

RMB'000
125,817
FY2010 ¥
FY2009
FY2008
FY2007 @
FY2006
1 1 1 1 i 1 J
0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000 140,000
Actual i
[ Lo - L. el i . :
RMB'000 FY2006 Fy2007 FY2008 FY2009 FY2010
Revenue 760,370 905,422 916,569 1001.328 1,610,037
Profit Before Income Tax 73,801 105,678 62,951 52,573 143,719
Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company 78,345 104,843 53,385 43,320 125817
Total Assets 692556 1,051,098 1,106,448 1243526 1601211
Total Liabilities 400.508 658,084 677,717 767.722 996,299
Equity Attnbutable to Equity Holders of the Company 287,941 376,332 412,795 456,115 581,782
Cash and Cash Equivalents 84,657 154,863 133,249 62,102 101,749
Earnings Per Share (RMB cents) 3333 44 61 2271 18.43 53.53
Net Operating Cash Flow 64,933 24,967 122,362 56.451 117,002

37 (80 &5 &8 //ANNUAL REPORT 2010 // 7

e e




w..,
YolQie
as n.'

e

8 /1 &1 (11 & §C //ANNUAL REPORT 2010




30ARD OF
DIRECTORS

-

Mr Zang Ligen
Executive Chairman

Mr Zang Ligen, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive Chairman and is responsible for the overall management
of our Group He has approximately 27 years of relevant experience in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy
and more than 16 years of relevant expenience in the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels

Mr Zang Ligen, together with our other Executive Directors, established Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing
Co, Ltd. in 1984 (now known as Hebei Lizhong), a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of
aluminium alloy. In 1995, Mr Zang, together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding Wheel to undertake the
manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels and was its chairman from 1995 to 2000 and from 2004 to date. In 1996, he was
appointed deputy chairman of Baoding Longda Aluminium Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged in the manufacture and
processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as its deputy chairman to date. In 1997, he became chairman of Hebei Lizhong
and remains as its chairman to date. In 2001, he was appointed chairman of Chonggqing Lizhong, a company principally
engaged in the sate of aluminium alloy wheels, and Meilu Alloy, a company principally engaged in the manufacture and
processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as their chairman to date. In 2002, he was appointed chairman of Qinhuangdao
Dicamry and remains as its chairman to date. In 2003, he was appointed chairman of Guangzhou Lizhong Jishan Alloy Co.,
Ltd., a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as its chairman to
date. He has held several notable positions such as deputy to the 10th People’s Congress of Hebei Province (since 2003),
deputy head of China Non-ferrous Metals Industry Association, Recycled Metals Division (since 2002), and committee
member of Hebei Provincial Township Enterprise Association (1996-2001)

Mr Zang was awarded a certificate for being the main contributor in relation to the A356 aluminium, silicon, magnesium and

titanium alloy products of high purity in 1999 by Hebei Provincial Science and Technology Committee and a certificate to
recognise him as outstanding factory head of Township Enterprise in Hebei Province in 1999.
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Board of Directors

Mr Zang Lizhong, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive
Director and assists our Executive Chairman in the management,
supervision and co-ordination of the business of the Group. Mr Zang
Lizhong, together with our other Executive Directors, established
Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing Co., Ltd. in 1984 (now
known as Hebei Lizhong), a company principally engaged in the
manufacture and processing of aluminium afloy. In 1995, Mr Zang,
together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding
Wheel to undertake the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels and
was appointed its deputy general manager, where he was responsible
for production and technological development. In 1997, he became
deputy chairman of Hebei Lizhong and remains as its deputy
chairman to date. From 2000 to 2004, he was appointed chairman of
Baoding Wheel. Mr Zang Lizhong was appointed visiting professor of
Baoding Junior College of Finance in 2004. He was appointed deputy
Mr Zang LiZhong president of the 2nd Standing (?onj\mnttee oftTle Federation of Industry

. N and Commerce of the North District of Baoding (General Chamber of
Executlve D'reCtor Commerce) in 2003. In 2010, he was appointed as the Chairman of
New Thai Whee! Manufactuning Co , Ltd

Mr Zang Liguo, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive
Director and assists our Executive Chairman in the management,
supervision and coordination of the business of the Group

Mr Zang Liguo, together with our other Executive Directors, established
Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing Co., Ltd. in 1984 (now
known as Hebei Lizhong), a company principally engaged in the
manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy. In 1995, Mr Zang,
together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding
Wheel to undertake the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels.
From 1996 to 1997, he was appointed as deputy general manager of
Baoding Longda Aluminium Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged
in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy In 1998, he
was appointed chairman of Sitong Aluminium, a company principally
engaged in the processing of scrap aluminium alloy into reusable
aluminium alloy ingots. In 2001, he was appointed deputy charrman
cum general manager of Pioneer, a company principally engaged in
the provision of electroplating services, and remains as its deputy
chairman to date

Mr Zang Liguo
Executive Director
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Board of Directors

Mr Zhao Qinghua
Independent Director

Mr Zhao Qinghua is our Independent Director.

He was a teacher at the Faculty of Economics Management of Hebei Geological College (now known as Economic University
of Shijiazhuang) from 1978 to 1984 and at Baoding Junior College of Finance from 1984 to 1988. From 1989 to 1995, he
was an economics adviser to Baoding Nonferrous Metals Processing Factory (now known as Hebei Lizhong) and Bacding
Lizhong Nonferrous Metals Co., Ltd He was concurrently a lawyer of Baoding City Economics Law Firm and Baoding City
Jinfang Law Firm from 1988 to 1991 and from 1991 to 1994 respectively. From 1996 to 1997, he was appointed general
manager of Baoding Longda Aluminium Co., Ltd., a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of
aluminium alloy. From 1998 to 2002, he was appointed general manager of Hebet Lizhong, a company principally engaged
in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy.

Currently, he 1s an associate professor of Baoding Junior Coliege of Finance. He holds a Diploma in Economics Management
{Geology) from Hebei Geology College. He also holds a Diploma in Accountancy from the Renmin University of China. He
is concurrently the research fellow of China Township Enterprise Research Insttute. He also holds various positions such as
committee member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Hebei Provincial Committee, deputy head
of the Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau Compatriots Commission of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference Baoding,
committee member of the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference of Baoding and member of Jiu San Society
Baoding Municipal Committee
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Board of Directors

Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Independent Director

Mr Chua Hung Meng
Independent Director
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Mr Ong Tiew Siam is our Independent Director.

He obtained his Bachelor of Commerce (Accountancy/Honours) from the
Nanyang University in Singapore in 1974. He is presently a fellow member
of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Singapore and Australia,
and a member of the Singapore Institute of Directors. Mr Ong has wide
and varied business expenence in different industries. Mr Ong started
his career with Arthur Andersen as an audit assistant in 1978. After he
left Arthur Andersen, he joined Singapore Automotive Engineering Pte.
Ltd. as a finance officer. From 1982 to 1983, he was the finance manager
of Acmil S.E Asia Pte. Ltd. (a subsidiary of AC! International Ltd., which
was then listed on the Australian Stock Exchange). He joined Tat Hong
Holdings Ltd. in 1983 as the finance and administration manager and was
appointed group financial controller and company secretary in 1997 and
executive director in 1999. He has resigned as executive director with
effect from 1 January 2010 and remained as a non-executive director of
the company.

Mr Ong is also the independent director of several listed companies.

Mr Chua Hung Meng is our Independent Director.

In the early part of his banking career, Mr Chua worked in various
domestic and intemational banks including Industrial and Commercial
Bank, Singapore, AMRO Bank (Singapore Branch) and Credit Suisse
(Singapore Branch). He was Head of Placement in London Forfaiting
Asia Pacific Ltd. in Hong Kong from 1995 to 1997. From 1997 to 1999,
he was Head of Placement in SouthQuay Globa! Markets Ltd. in Hong
Kong and from 1999 to 2001, he held a number of positions at Vickers
Ballas & Co Pte. Ltd. Mr Chua currently holds a senior position with a
Singapore branch of a European Bank, a position he has held since
2002

He attained his Bachelor of Business Administration from the National
University of Singapore in 1981, and received a Masters for Professional
Accounting from The University of Southern Queensland in 2003
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KEY

MANAGEMENT

Mr Zhang Jianliang
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr Zhang Jianliang is the Chief Executve Officer of the
Group. He is responsible for assisting the Board to formulate
and implement the business strategies of the Group, and
oversees its day-to-day operations. From 1987 to 1988,
he was a technical officer of CITIC Bohai Aluminium Co.,
Ltd. From 1988 to 1995, he was the head of the machining
and sales department of Dicastal Wheel He was seconded
by Dicastal Wheel to Baoding Wheel from 1995 to 1999
He was the general manager of Baoding Whee! from 1985
to 2001 and from 2004 to date. From 2002 to 2008, he
was the general manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry. He
is currently also a professor of Baoding Junior College
of Finance and a technology consultant of GIMA GmbH
{located in Goeppingen, Germany). He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Faculty of
Machinery from Beijing Institute of Chemica! Technology
(now known as Beijing University of Chemical Technology)

Mr Zhang Jinli
Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr Zhang Jinli is the Chief Financial Officer of the Group.
He is responsible for the financial management of our
Group. From 1991 to 1996, he was a product design
personnel of Baoding Transformer Factory (now known
as Tianwei Baobian Co., Ltd.) where he was responsible
for product design and development. From 1999 to 2000,
he was an auditor with Shenzhen Zhonghua Accounting
Firm, where he was responsible for the audit of listed
companies in the PRC. From 2000 to 2004, he was an
investment of Guangdong Hualong Group
Company Limited. He holds a Bachelor Degree in electric
machinery studies and a Bachelor Degree in Technological
Economics from Tianjin University and obtained a Masters
in Management from Renmin University of China. He is
currently a non-practicising member of the PRC Certified
Public Accountants' Association and a feliow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

manager
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Kev Management

Mr Wei Jijian

Vice-President

Mr Wei Jijian is the Vice-President of the Group, having
been with our Group since February 2003. He is in charge
of production management in Baoding Wheel. From 1970
to 1996, he was a producton worker and was subsequently
promoted to head one of the production workshops of Tianjin
Car Engine Factory. From 1996 to 2002, he was in charge
of casting operations of Tianjin Fengtian Car Engines Co.,
Ltd. From 2003 to 2004, he was the production manager
and assistant to the general manager of Qinhuangdao
Dicamry. He was appointed the deputy general manager
of Baoding Wheel in 2004. From 2007 to 2010, he was the
standing deputy General Manager of Baoding Wheel. He
holds a Diptoma in Business Management from School of
Communist Party of China (CPC) Tianjin Committee.

Mr Ji Guofu
Chief Engineer

Mr Ji Guofu is the Chief Engineer of the Group and the
Deputy General Manager of Baoding Wheel, having been
with our Group since 1998. He is in charge of R&D and
Quality Control and responsible for our Group's technology
systems, development of new products and quality control.
Prior to joining our Group, he served as a technician
of Nanchang Hongdu Machinery Factory from 1986 to
1992. From 1992 to 1998, he was the head of Xiamen
City Chengdong Machinery Factory. He was appainted as
deputy general manager and chief engineer of Baoding
Wheel in 1998, He obtained a Diploma in Machine-Building
Technology and Equipment from Nanchang Airplane
Manufacturing Company Polytechnic Institute in 1980.
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Mr Liu Baoxing

Vice-President

Mr Liv Baoxing is the Vice-President of the Group and the
standing Deputy General Manager of Baoding Wheel, having
been with with our Group since 1996, He isresponsible for the
procurement and sales of our Group. From 1991 to 1996, he
was a sales personne! of Hebei Province Qingyuan County
Fareign Trade Integrated Processing Factory where he was
responsible for sates. In 1996, he joined Baoding Wheel as
a sales executive, and has since held various positions of
deputy sales manager, sales manager, assistant to general
manager and deputy general manager. He holds a Diploma
in Industrial Economics (Management of Rura!l Enterprises)
from the Department of Economics of Hebei University.

Mr Song Zhao Yi

General Manager

Mr Song Zhao Yiis the General Manager of Tianjin Dicastal
and has been with our Group since Aprnl 2006. From 1992
to 1995, he was an engineer with the Manufacture & Repair
8ranch Factory of Fushun Aluminum Plant. From 1995
to 2005, he joined Fushun Shunhua Aluminium Wheel
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. and rose through the ranks to the
position of general manager. From 2005 to 2006, he was
the general manager of CAM Automotive Manufacturing
(Fushun) Co, Ltd In 2007, he was appointed General
Manager of Tianjin Dicastal. He obtained his professional
training in the areas of casting techniques and equipment
at the Jinzhou Institute of Technology.




Key Management

Mr Liu Bin

General Manager

Mr Liu Bin is the General Manager of Inner Mongolia
Lizhong Huomei and has been with our Group since March
2004. Prior to joining our Group, he served as an engineer
and subsequently, manager of Shenyang Aerospace
Xinguang Power Machine Corporation from 1992 to 1996
From 1997 to 2004, he held the position of section leader
and subsequently, supervisor of Shenyang Aerospace
Mitsubishi Co. In 2007, he was appointed General Manager
of Inner Mongolia Lizhong Huomei. He graduated from the
Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology in 1992 and
has a Master's in Business Administration from Central
State University in the United States.

Mr Wang Xianbin

General Manager

Mr Wang Xianbin is the General Manager of Tianjin Nano
Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. From July 1995 to March
2000, he worked as a technician in Hebei Tianye Automobile
Group Co, Ltd. From March 2000 to October 2008, he
served as head of the production department with Baoding
Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd,. From November
2008 to May 2010, he was Deputy General Manager of
Tianjin Nano and was in charge of overall management. He
obtained a Bachelor Degree of Machine Manufacturing in
Hebei University of Electromechanics

Mr Cao Weize

General Manager

Mr Cao Weize is the Generai Manager of Qinhuangdao
Dicamry and has been with our Group since March 2005
From 1988 to 1990, he held the position of journalist at the
Baoding Radio Station in the Hebei province. From 1930
to 2001, he served as a clerk, and held various judiciary
positons in the Intermediate People's Courtin Baoding City.
In the period of 1997 to 2000, he studied law at Renmin
University of China. Frem July 2001 to March 2005, he
served as the Secretary of the Board at Hebei Lizhong.
From March 2005 to October 2007, he held the position
of operations manager within Lizhong Whee! Group Ltd.
and was subsequently appointed to be the deputy generai
manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry in November 2007. He
holds a degree in Master of Law from the Renmin University
of China,

Mr Jiang Xiaoping

General Manager

Mr Jiang Xiaoping is the General Manager of New Thai
Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd. and has been with our
Group since earty 2010. Prior to Joining our Group, he was
an engineer at Daye Special Steel Co., Ltd. under the Hubei
Ministry of Metallurgical Industry, China from 1983 to 1992.
From Apnil 1998 to March 2001, he was a researcher at
the R&D headquarters of ENKEI Group, Japan. From April
2001 to December 2009, he worked as a project manager at
Yubu Automobile Aluminum Wheel plant in Canada. In early
2010, he joined Baoding Wheel and worked as a Technology
Manager. In September 2010, he was appointed as Deputy
General Manager of Baoding Wheel and General Manager
in January 2011. He graduated from Wuhan Institute of Iron
and Steel in China in 1983, and obtained a master and
doctor degree from Okayama University in Japan in 1995
and 1998 respectively.
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Kev Management

Mr Tian Baoji
Deputy General Manager

Mr Tian Baoji is the Deputy General Manager of Tianjin
Lizhong Whee! and has been with our Group since 1995
From 1990 to 1994, he worked at the Baoding Machine
Too! Plant. From 1995 to 2002, he was the supervisor of
the plant at Baoding Lizhong. From 2002 to March 2005, he
was appointed as the assistant to the general manager and
head of operations in Qinhuangdao Dicamry and was later
promoted to deputy general manager of Tianjin Lizhong
Wheel in November 2007. He holds a degree in Economics
from the Hebei University of Technology and professional
certifications as an assistant engineer.

Mr Hou Junfeng
Deputy General Manager

Mr Hou Junfeng is the Deputy General Manager of Inner
Mongolia Lizhong Huomei and has been with our Group
since November 2007. Prior to joining our Group, he served
as a technician and subsequently, engineer and technology
section leader of Tongliao Forging Machine Tool Plant from
August 1983 to May 1994, From June 1994 to August 2007,
he successively held the positions of Deputy Chief Engineer
in Tongliao Tongshun Aluminium Co, Ltd, the Chief
Engineer of the aluminium plant of Zhengzhou Faxiang
Aluminium Co., Ltd and the branch factory manager and
branch secretary in Zhongdian Huomei-Hongjun Aluminium
Co., Ltd. He then joined Huomei Group and was appointed
as the Deputy General Manager of Inner Mongolia Lizhong
Huomei Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd in November 2007
He graduated from Jilin University of Technology in 1983.
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Mr Zhao Qishan
Deputy General Manager

Mr Zhao Qishan is the Deputy General Manager of Tianjin
Dicastal and has been with the company since 2001. From
1996 to 2000, he was a praduction worker at Hebei Lizhong
and was subsequently promoted to the head of the facility.
Between June 2000 and February 2001, he was the head
of production at Baoding Longda Aluminium Ltd. From 2001
to 2007, he heid various positions including head of casting,
heat treatment, production and deputy head of quality
control. From 2007, he has been serving as the deputy
general manager of Tianjin Dicastal. He holds professional
certifications as an assistant engineer.

Mr Yu Qiulin
Deputy General Manager

Mr Yu Qiulin is the Deputy General Manager of New Thai
Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd. and has been with our
Group since 2003. Prior to joining our Group, he served as
an technician in Xiamen Minxing Industry Co., Ltd. in Fujian
Province from 1999 to 2002. From October 2002 to August
2003, he worked as Quality Manager in Xiamen New East
Asia Color Printing Co., Ltd. From September 2003, he
joined Baoding Wheel and has since held various positions
of Technician, Director for the first Casting Workshop,
Assistant Director of Production Department, Deputy
Director of the first Production Department and Director of
Comprehensive Department He holds a Diploma in Quality
Control Studies and Engineenng from Hubei University.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive:

Mr Zang Ligen (Executive Chairman)
Mr Zang Liguo (Executive Director)
Mr Zang Lizhong (Executive Director)

Non-Executive:
Mr Zhao Qinghua (Independent Director)
Mr Chua Hung Meng (independent Director)

Mr Ong Tiew Siam (Independent Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Ong Tiew Siam (Chairman)
Mr Zhao Qinghua

Mr Chua Hung Meng

NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Mr Zhao Qinghua (Chairman)

Mr Chua Hung Meng

Mr Ong Tiew Siam

REMUNERATION COMMITEE
Mr Chua Hung Meng (Chairman)

Mr Ong Tiew Siam

Mr Zhao Qinghua

SECRETARY

Ms Ng Peishi Loseana

REGISTERED OFFICE

1 Robinson Road #17-00, AIA Tower
Singapore 048542

Tel 65- 6535 1944

Fax : 65- 6535 8577

BUSINESS OFFICE

No. 948 East Qiyi Road, Baoding City Hebei, China 071000
Tel 86- 312- 599 7688

Fax : 86- 312- 599 7666

Email : sunjiewu@lzwheel.com

Website . www.lzwheel.com

SHARE REGISTRAR

Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place #32-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623

Tel : 65- 6536 5355

Fax . 65- 6536 1360

AUDITORS

Deloitte & Touche LLP

6 Shenton Way

#32-00 DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809

AUDIT PARTNER-IN-CHARGE

Name: James Xu Jun

Date of Appointment: 30 Apnl 2009
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Manufacturing Co., Ltd

Tianjin Nano Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd
Clever View Limited

99.97% ) .
° New Thai Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. (the *Company®) is committed to high standards of
corporate governance by complying with the benchmark set by the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the "Code”)
This report outlines the Company's corporate govemance framework in place with specific reference to the principles of

the Code

(A) BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and controi
the company. The Board Is collectively responsible for the success of the
company. The Board works with Management to achleve this, and Management
remalins accountable to the Board.

The Board as at the date of this Report comprises:-

Date of last
Name Appointment Date of Appointment re-election
Mr Zang Ligen (Executive Chairman) 10 June 2004 30 April 2009
Mr Zang Lizhong {Executive Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2010
Mr Zang Liguo {Executive Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2008
Mr Zhao Qinghua (Independent Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2008
Mr Ong Tiew Siam (Independent Director) 30 May 2005 30 April 2009
Mr Chua Hung Meng (Independent Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2010

The detailed profiles of the Directors are set out on pages 9 to 12 of this Annual Report.
The Board's role is to:

1. provide entrepreneurial leadership, set strategic aims, and ensure that the necessary
financial and human resources are in place for the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) to meet their objectives;

2 establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed
and managed,

3 review Management performance; and

4. set the Group's values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and
others are understood and met

The Board regularly reviews the business plans and the financial performance of the Group. The
Board has overall responsibility for putting in place a framework of good corporate governance in
the Group, including the processes for financial reporting and compliance. All Board members bring
their independent judgment, diversified knowledge and experience to bear on issues of strategy,
performance, resources and standards of conduct.

The Board has identified a number of areas for which the Board has direct responsibility for
decision-making. The Board's approval is required in matters such as major funding proposals,
investment and divestment proposals, major acquisitions and disposals, corporate or financial
restructuring, mergers and acquisitions. share issuance, dividends policy and major corporate
policies on key areas of operation, the release of quarterly, half yearly and full year resuits and
interested person transactions of a material nature

Code Guidaline
46

Code Guideline

Code Guideline
15
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The Board also ensures that incoming new Directors are familiarised with the Group's businesses
and corporate governance practices upon their appointment to facilitate the effective discharge of
their duties.

A formal letter is provided to each Director upon his appointment, setting out the Director's duties
and obligations.

To assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities, the Board has established the Audit
Committee (the "AC"), Remuneration Committee (the *RC"), Nominating Committee (the *NC")
and Management Committee (the ‘MC") (collectively, the *Board Committees’) These Board
Committees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, which are
reviewed on a regular basis by the Board. The Board also constantly reviews the effectiveness of
each Board Committee

The Board meets on a regular basis and as and when necessary to address any specific significant
matters that may arise. Ad-hoc meetings will be convened to deliberate on urgent substantive
matters when necessary. Attendance by means of telephone and conference via audio-visual
communications at Board meetings is allowed under the Company's Articles of Association.

Management Committee

The MC has the responsibility of assisting our Board in coordinating, supervising and managing the
operations of the Group As at the date of this Report, the MC comprises the following members:-
Mr Zang Lizhong (Chairman and Executive Director)

Ms Zang Xiufen  (Nominee of Zang Ligen)

Ms Shi Hui {Manager, Finance Department)

The MC has adopted its own terms of reference that describe the responsibilites of its members
The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the financiai year ended 31

December 2010 ("FY2010") and the attendance of Directors during these meetings is set out as
follows:

Nar.ie Board AC RC NC
No. of No. ot No, of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of

RATE GOVERNANCE REPORT Lo

Code Guideline
16

Code Guideline
17

Code Guideline
13

Code Guideline
14

Code Guideline
1.4

MC
No. of No. of

ings meetings i

gs meetings

held attended held held held attended heid attended

Mr Zang Ligen 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
Mr Zang Lizhong 4 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA 1 1
Mr Zang Liguo 4 2 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
Mr Zhao Qinghva 4 1 4 1 1 1 1 1 NA NA
Mr Ong Tiew Siam 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 NA NA
Mr Chua Hung Meng 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 NA NA
Principle 2: There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which

Is able to exercise objective judgement on corporate affalrs Independently,

In particular, from Management. No individual or small group of individuals

hould be all d to domi the Board's declslon making.
The Board comprises three (3) Executive Directors and three (3) Independent Non-Executive Code Guideline
Directors 2.1
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. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

There is presently a good balance between the Executive and Non-Executive Directors and a
strong and independent element on the Board. The Board, through the delegation of its authority
to the NC, has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the
relevant background, experience and knowledge in business, legal, finance and management skills
critical to the Group's business to enable the Board to make sound and well-considered decisions.

The NC considers an Independent Director as a Director who has no relationship with the Code Guideline
Company, its related companies or its officers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to 43
interfere, with the exercise of the Director's independent judgment of the conduct of the Group's

affairs and is not a substantial shareholder, or a partner in (with a stake of five per cent (5%) or

more) or as executive officer of, any for-profit business organisation to which the Company made or

from which the Company has received significant payments (aggregated over any financial year in

excess of $$200,000) in the current or immediately preceding financial year.

As a result of the NC's review of the independence of each Director for FY2010, the NC is of
the view that the Independent Directors are independent of the Company's Management as
contemplated by the Code, and further, that no individual or small group of individuals dominate the
Board's decision making process.

As a group, the Directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and  Code Guideline
expenence. Each Director has been appointed on the strength of his calibre, experience and 24
potential to contnbute to the Company and its businesses. The Directors bring valuable insights

from different perspectives vital to the strategic interests of the Company. The Board and NC

have stnved to ensure that members possess the background, experience, knowledge and skills

necessary to promote the Company's business and governance process, so as to enable the

Board to make balanced and well-considered decisions. The Board and the NC are of the view that

its Directors as a group possess the necessary competencies necessary to lead and govermn the

Company eflectively,

Although all the Directors have an equal responsibility for the Group's operations, the role of Codo Guideline
the independent Non-Executive Directors is particularly important in ensuring that the strategies 25
proposed by Management are constructively challenged, fully discussed and examined, and take

account of the tong term interests, not only of the shareholders, but also of employees, customers,

suppliers and the many communities in which the Group conducts business. The Non-Executive

Directors help to develop proposals on strategy. The Non-Executive Directors also review the

performance of Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

performance

Principle 3: There should be a clear divislon of responsibilities at the top of the company
- the working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s
business - which wtll ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no
one Individual represents a conslderab tion of power.

There is a clear division of responsibilities at the top management with clearly defined lines of
responsibility between the Board and executive functions of the Management of the Company’s
business. The Board sets broad business guidelines, approves financial objectives and business
strategies and monitors the standards of executive management performance on a periodic basis

There 1s a distinct separation of responsibilities between the Executive Chairman and Chief  Code Guidelines
Executive Officer (the "CEO") to ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability 31and32
and greater capacity of the Board for independent decision-making. Mr Zang Ligen, the Executive

Chairman, is consuited on the Group's strategic direction and formulation of policies. The daily

operation of the Group 1s led by the CEO, Mr Zhang Jianliang. He is assisted by a team of

experienced and qualified executive officers of the Group.
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The Executive Chairman's primary function is to manage the business of the Board and the Board
Committees and to promote harmonious relations with the shareholders. The Executive Chairman's
role with regard to the Board proceedings is as follows:

1. schedule meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering
with the flow of the Group's operations;

2 prepare meeting agenda;

3 exercise control over quality, quantity and imeliness of the flow of information between
Management and the Board;

4. assist in ensuning compliance with the Group's guidelines on corporate governance; and

5. monitor communications and relations between the Company and its shareholders, between
the Board and Management, and between Executive and Non-Executive Directors and
independent and non-independent Directors, with a view to encouraging constructive relations
and dialogue amongst them.

Principle 4: There should be a formal and
dlrectors to the Board.

P process for the i of new

Nominating Committee

The NC comprises the following Independent Directors:

Mr Zhao Qinghua (Chairman)
Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Mr Chua Hung Meng

The NC meets at least once annually. The Chairman of the NC is neither a substantial shareholder
of the Company nor directly associated with a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The NC has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance with the Code that describe the
responsibilities of its members. Amongst them, the NC is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on all board appointments.

The primary function of the NC is to determine the criteria for identifying candidates and to review
nominations for the appointment of Directors to the Board, to consider how the Board's performance
may be evaluated and to propose objective performance critenia for the Board's approval. Its duties
and functions are outiined as follows:

1 to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new Executive and Non-
Executive Directors, including making recommendations on the composition of the Board
generally and the balance between Executive and Non-Executive Directors appointed to the
Board;

2. to regularly review the Board structure, size and composition and make recommendations to
the Board with regards to any adjustments that are deemed necessary,

3 to be responsible for assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the
Board, determining whether or not such nominee has the requisite qualifications and whether
or not he/she is independent. This includes disclosure on the search and nomination process;

4. to make plans for succession, in particular for the Executive Chairman and the CEO;

22 11 XZ (73 2= §f2 //ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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S. to determine, on an annual basis, if a Director is independent. If the NC determines that a
Director, who has one (1) or mare of the relationships mentioned under the Code is in fact
independent, the Company should disclose in full, the nature of the Director’s relationship
and bear responsibility for explaining why he should be considered independent. Conversely,
the NC has the discretion to determine that a Director is non-independent even if the
circumstances set forth in Guideline 2.1 of the Code do not apply to him;

6. to make recommendations to the Board for the continuation {or not) in services of any Director
who has reached the age of 70 years;

7. to recommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election having
regard to the Director's contribution and performance (e.g. attendance, preparedness,
participation and candour) including, if applicable, as an Independent Director,

8.  to decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/
her duties as a Director of the Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board
representations;

8. the NC shall recommend to the Board internal guidelines to address the competing time
commitments faced by Oirectors who serve on multiple boards;

10. to be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole via a peformance
evaluation conducted based on performance critenia set by the NC and approved by the Board
and for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board,
and

11. the Chairman of the NC should act on the results of the performance evaluation, and where
appropriate, propose new members be appointed to the Board or seek the resignation of
Directors, in consultation with the NC

The NC reviews the size of the Board on an annual basis, and considers the present Board size as
appropriate for the current scope and nature of the Group's operations,

Under the Company's Articles of Association, at least one third of the Company’s Directors are
required to retire from office at every Annual Genera! Meeting of the Company. Every Director must
retire from office at least once every three (3) years and are eligible for re-election.

in its search, nomination and selection process for new Directors, the NC identifies the key
attributes that an incoming Director should have, based on a matrix of the attributes of the existing
Board and the requirements of the Group. After endorsement by the Board of the key attributes,
the NC taps on the resources of Directors’ personal contacts and recommendations of potential
candidates, and goes through a shortlisting process. If candidates identified from this process
are not suitable, executive recruitment agencies are appointed to assist in the search process.
Interviews are set up with potential candidates for NC members to assess them, before a decision
is reached.

The Chairman of the Board will give feedback to the NC on the appointment of new Directors or
retirement or resignation of existing Directors, following the outcome of an annual performance
evaluation of individual Directors, and the NC will take into consideration his views in this regard

The NC is also responsible for determining annually, the independence of Directors. In doing so,
the NC takes into account the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2 1 of the Code and any other
salient factors. Following its annual review, the NC has endorsed the independent status of Mr Ong
Tiew Siam, Mr Chua Hung Meng and Mr Zhao Qinghua.

Code Guideline
23

Code Guideline
42
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The NC is satisfied that sufficient ime and attention are being given by the Directors to the affairs
of the Group, notwithstanding that some of the Directors have multiple board representations,
and there is presently no need to implement intemal guidelines to address their competing time
commitments. This matter is reviewed on an annua! basis by the NC.

Principle 5: There should be a format assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a

whole and the contr by each dl to the effecti of the Board.

The Board has implemented a process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and for assessing the contribution by each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board.
For the year under review, the NC has evaluated and discussed the results of individual Directors’
assessment of the Board's performance and effectiveness as a whole and carried out a review of
the independence of Directors

Princlple 6: in order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with
complete, adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an

on-going basls.

The Board has separate and independent access to senior management of the Company, the
Company Secretary, the intemal auditors and the external auditors at all times. Requests for
information from the Board are dealt with promptly by Management. The Board i1s informed of all
material events and transactions as and when they occur. Directors are given Board papers in
advance of meetings for them to be adequately prepared for meetings and senior management are,
where necessary, in attendance at the Board meetings. The Company Secretary attends all Board,
AC, RC and NC meetings and prepares the minutes of these meetings. The Company Secretary
also assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures are foliowed in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association so that the Board functions effectively as well as ensures that the
relevant rules and regulations applicabie to the Company are complied with.

Each Director has the nght to seek independent legal and other professional advice, where
necessary, in order to fulfill their duties and responsibilities as Directors. Any expense incurred in
this aspect shall be borne by the Group.

The Board receives from the Management regular updates and financial information which present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company's performance, position and prospects.
The Chief Financial Officer circulates monthly reports to the AC which includes the profit and
loss statement, balance sheet and cash flow statement of the Group, transactions between the
Group and any interested person (namely, the Directors of the Company or any of the Controlling
Shareholders or their Associates) and latest corporate developments.

Under the Anticles of Association of the Company, the decision to appoint or remove the Company
Secretary can only be taken by the Board as a whole.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Princlple 7: There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of Individual

directors. No director should be Invoived in declding his own remuneration.

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on
executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and senior
management.
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Remuneration Committee

The RC comprises the following Independent Directors

Mr Chua Hung Meng (Chairman)
Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Mr Zhao Qinghua

The pnncipal responsibilities of the RC are:

1 recommending to the Board for endorsement, a framework of computation of Directors’ fees
of the Board, as well as remuneration of Executve Directors, CEO and senior management.
For Executive Directors, CEO and such senior management, the framework covers all aspects
of executive remuneration (including but not limited to directors' fees, salaries, allowances,
bonuses, options and benefits in kind); and

2 recommending the specific remuneration packages for each Director, CEO and senior
management.

The RC meets at least once annually. The RC has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance
with the Code that describes the responsibilities of its members.

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of his remuneration
package.

Principle 8. The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate

the directors needed to run the pany sfully but panies should
avold paying more than Is necessary for this purpose. A significant proportion
of executive directors’ remt tion should be str 50 as to link rewards

to corporate and indlvidual performance.

Principle 9. Each company should provide clear discl e of its ation policy,
level and mix of remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration
in the company's annual report. It should provide disclosure In relation to
its remuneration policles to enable investors to understand the link between
remt tion pald to di s and key executives, and performance.

In structuring a compensation framework for Executive Directors and key executives, the RC seeks
to link a proportion of the relevant executive's compensation to the Group's performance. The
RC's recommendations are made in consultation with the Charman of the Board and submitted for
endorsement by the entire Board.

An approprate and attractive level of remuneration has been set to attract, retain and motivate
Directors and staff. The remuneration package is made up of both fixed and vanable components.
The variable component is determined based on the performance of the individual employee as well
as the Group's performance. Annual increments and adjustments to remuneration are reviewed
and approved taking into account the results of the annual review made by the Executive Directors
and the various heads of department. All Non-Executive Directors are paid directors’ fees that are
subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meetings

The service contracts for Executive Directors are for fixed appointment periods which are not
excessively long and they do not contain onerous removal clauses. Notice periods are generally
six (6) months or less in service contracts for Executive Directors and in the terms of employment
of senior management. The RC is responsible for reviewing the compensation commitments, if any,
that the Directors’ contracts of service entail in the event of early termination.

RATE GOVERNANCE REPORT e,
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DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION

Code Guidelines

9.1,92and 94
Director
Salary Bonus Benefits hFees Total
(%) (%) {%) (%) (%)

Directors
Below $$250.000
2ang Ligen 31.83 68.17 - - 100
Zang Lizhong 38.61 61.39 - - 100
Zang Liguo 100 - - - 100
Ong Tiew Siam - - - 100 100
Chua Hung Meng - - - 100 100
Zhao Qinghua - - - 100 100
Key Executives
Below $$250.000
Zhang Jianliang 21.80 78.20 - - 100
Zhang Jinli 100 - - - 100
Liu Baoxing 100 - - - 100
Ji Guofu 100 - - - 100
Wei Jijian 100 - - - 100
I dlate Family Members of Di s or CEO

There are no immediate family members of Directors or CEQ in empioyment with the Group and  Code Guideline
93

whose remuneration exceeds S$150,000 during FY2010
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{C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principte 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the

company's performance, position and prospects.

The Board is responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's
performance, position, prospects, operations and financial position and updates shareholders
through the quarterly, half yearly and full year results announcements as well as timely
announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations.

Principle 11: The Board should an Audit C {“AC") with written terms of

reference, which clearly set out its authority and duties.

Audit Committee
The AC comprises the following Independent Directors

Mr Ong Tiew Siam {Chairman)
Mr Zhao Qinghua !
Mr Chua Hung Meng

The AC has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance with the Code that describes the
responsibilities of its members.

The AC held four (4) meetings during FY2010. These meetings were attended by the Chief
Financial Officer. The CEO, intemal auditors and external auditors were also present at the relevant
Junctures during these meetings. The AC has also met the extemnal auditors without the presence of
the Management during the financial year )

The Board is of the view that the AC members are appropriately qualified in that they have sufficient
accounting or related financial management expertise and experiences to discharge the AC's
function.

The AC has written terms of reference endorsed by the Board, setting out their duties and
responsibilities. The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any matter within its terms of
reference and has full access to, and co-operation of Management, with full discretion to invite
any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. It has reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly. Duning the meetings of the AC held during the financial year, the
Committee performed its functions and responsibiliies as set out in its terms of reference, which
include the following:

1 reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence
and objectivity of the external auditors;

2 reviewing the nature and extent of the external auditors’ non-audit services to the Group,
seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money:

Code Guideline
101

Code Guidelines
11.1and 11.8

Code Guideline

Code Guidelina
12

Code Guidelino
1.3

Codo Guidelines
114,116,
11.8 and 12.4.
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3 reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgments so as to ensure the integrity
of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the
Group's financial performance,

4. reviewing the adequacy of the Group's intemal financial controls, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management policies and systems (hereinafter referred to collectively as
‘internal controls®);

5 reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function at least
annually, including the adequacy of internal audit resources and its appropriate standing
within the Group, as well as the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;

6 making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and remova! of the
external auditors, and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors; ’

7. reviewing the extemal auditors' audit plan, audit report and the evaluaton of the system of
intemal accounting controls with the external auditors, as well as the assistance given by
Management to the external auditors,

8 reviewing the quarterly, half-yearly and full year financial statements of the Group, prior to their
submission to the Board,

9 reviewing the co-operation given by the Management to the auditors;
10. reviewing and approving interested person transactons,;
11, reviewing any potential conflict of interests;

12. reviewing regularly all hedging policies, all types of instruments used for hedging and foreign
exchange policies and practices of the Group; and

13. to generally undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by law or the
Listing Manual (the “Listing Manual®) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited
(the *SGX-ST"), and by such amendments made thereto from time to tme,

Apart from the duties listed above, the AC shail commission and review the findings of interna!
investigations in to matters where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal
controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a
matenal impact on our Company's operating results and/or financial position

Management has put in place, and the AC has endorsed, arrangements by which staft of the Group
may, in confidence, raise concems about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or
other matters. The objective for such arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action

The AC is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and recommends
to the Board the nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment. The AC has conducted an
annual review of all non-audit services provided by the auditors and is satisfied that the nature and
extent of such services do not affect the independence of the external auditors.

Pursuant to Rule 716 of the Listing Manual, the Board and the AC are satisfied that the appointment
of different auditors for the subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of
the audit of the Company. The details of the auditors are outlined in Notes 12 & 13 to the financial
statements

28 /1 Y4 (9 &= G // ANNUAL REPORT 2010

Code Guideline

"7

Code Guidolines

11.4(a) and

16

oyt

v’"
Y
\

4l A A B e




RATE GOVERNANCE REPORT -

Principle 12: The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system
of Internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the
company’'s assets.

Principle 13: The company should establish an Intemal audit function that is Independent of
the activities it audits.

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management practices  Code Guideline
1o good corporate governance. The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group's systems 121

of intemal controls and risk management, and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of those

systems on an annual basis. It shou!d be noted, however, that such systems are designed to

manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. In addition, it

should be noted that any system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against

matenal misstatement of loss, and include the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper

accounting records, the reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legislation,

regulation and best practice, and the identification and containment of business nisk.

The Company has appointed Messrs UHY Lee Seng Chan & Co as the internal auditor of the  Code Guidelines
Company and has implemented internal reviews, to ensure that the system of internat controls 1312and 132
maintained by the Company is sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's

assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposal, transactions are properly

authorised and proper financial records are being maintained The internal auditors are required to

adopt the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the Institute cf Internal

Auditors.

The internal auditor has a direct and primary reporting tine to the AC and assists the Board in  Codo Guideline
monitoring and managing risks and internal controfs of the Group. The AC approves the intemal 131
audit plan and ensures the adequacy of internal audit resources during the first AC meeting each

year.

The AC is satisfied that the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate Code Guideline
standing within the Company. 133

The AC and the Board have reviewed the Company's risk assessment based on the reports of the ~ Code Guidolines

internal auditor and external auditors and are assured that adequate internal controls, including 121 and 12.2
financial, operational and compliance contro! and risk management, are in place

(D) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14: Companles should engage in regular, effective and fair communication
with shareholders.
Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at

Annual General Meetings and allow shareholders the opportunity to
communicate thelr views on var matters affecting the pany.

The Company recognises the importance of providing the Board with a continual flow of relevant  Code Guidefines
information on an accurate and timely basis so that it can discharge its duties effectively The 14.1and 142
Company also believes in timely, fair and adequate disclosure of relevant information to

shareholders and investors so that they will be apprised of developments that may have a material

impact on the Company's securities, The Company does not practice selective disclosure. All

information of the Company is published through the SGXNET and where appropriate, through

media releases. The Company is open to meetings with investors and analysts, and in conducting

such meetings, the Company is mindful of the need to ensure fair disclosure. Information is also

available on the Company’s website at www lzwheel.com.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

All shareholders of the Company receive the Annual Report and notice of Annual General Meeting.  Code Guidelines
At general meetings of shareholders, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views 15.1 and 15.3
and ask Directors or Management questions regarding the Company’s affairs. The Chairmen of

the AC, RC, NC and MC will normally be present at the Annual General Meetings to answer any

questions relating to the work of these Committees. The external auditors are also present at the

Annual General Meetings to assist the Directors in answering questions from shareholders.

The Group believes in encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings. A shareholder ~ Code Guideline
who is entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person or in absentia through the appointment 15.1

of one (1) or two (2) proxies (who can either be named individuals nominated by the shareholder to

attend the meeting or the Chairman of the meeting as the shareholder may select).

Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting will be accompanied by  Code Guideline
a full explanation of the effects of a proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for 152
substantially separate issues at the meeting

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted its own internal Code of Conduct to provide guidance to all Directors ~ Rulo 1207(18) of
and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries with regard to dealings in the Company’s securities  the Listing Manual
in compliance with the Rule 1207(18) of the Listing Manual. The Code of Conduct relates to, inter

alia, insider trading prohibitions under the Securities and Future Act, Cap 289, the disclosure

requirements of the SGX-ST and prohibitions on Directors and employees from dealing in the

Company's securities during the two (2) weeks immediately preceding, and up to the time of the

announcement of, the Company's results for each of the first three quarters of its financial year and

during the one (1) month preceding, and up to the time of announcement of, the Company's resuits

for the full financial year.

Oirectors and all officers are also expected to observe insider-trading laws at all times even when
dealing with securities within the permitted trading period

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contract, not being a contract entered into in the ordinary course of business, was  Rulo 1207(8) of
entered into by the Company during FY2010: the Listing Manual

A redemption agreement (the "Agreement”) dated 10 February 2010 entered into between
the Company, Lehman Brothers Commercial Corporation Asia Limited {In Liquidation) (‘the
Bondholder"), the joint and several liquidators of the Bondholder, the Company's Controlling
Shareholder, Li Zhong Investment Ltd., and the Company's Executive Chairman, Mr Zang Ligen, for
the full redemption (“the Redemption®) of convertible bonds (the "CB") which bear interest at the rate
of three per cent. (3%) per annum

The CB will be redeemed using the internal funds of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, in consideration for the surrender of the CB by the
Bondholder, the Company shall:

(1) pay the Bondholder USD15,000,000 (the *Fixed Amount®) no later than the date falling three

{3) months after the date of the Agreement or such date as may be agreed between the
Bondholder and the Company, and
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(2) if, at any time from the date of the Agreement to the date failing the second anniversary of the
Agreement:

{a) the volume-weighted average price of a share in the Company reaches for the first

time S$0.60 or above but less than $30.80 for 20 consecutive trading days, pay the .

Bondholder an additional USD1,500,000;

b) after the payment described in paragraph (a) above, if the volume-weighted average
price of a share in the Company reaches for the first time S$0.80 or above for 20
consecutive trading days, pay the Bondholder an additional USD1,500,000; or

(€) as an alternative to the payment described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, If the
volume-weighted average price of a share in the Company reaches or rises for the first
time to S80.80 or above from less than S30.60 for 20 consecutive trading days, pay the
Bondholder a single payment of USD3,000,000,

Provided that the aggregate additional consideration payable by the Company to the
Bondholder shall not at any time exceed USD3,000,000. The Company shall promptly give
notice to the Bondholder of the date of any additional amount described in paragraphs (a) to
(c) above becoming payable and pay to such amount to the Bandhalder on the business day
falling 60 days after such date

The Company's obligation under the Agreement is guaranteed by Li Zhong Investment Ltd. and Mr.
Zang Ligen on a joint and several basis.

In consideration for the surrender of the CB by the Bondholder, the Company’s Controlling
Shareholder, Li Zhong Investment Ltd., has agreed to charge 50,000,000 shares in the Company
held by it in favour of the Bondholder (the *Share Charge”)

Upon confirmation by the Bondholder of receipt of the Fixed Amount and the creation and perfection
of the Share Charge by Li Zhong Investment Ltd. in favour of the Bondholder, the Bondholder
will surrender all such right, titte and interest (if any) the Bondholder may have in the CB to the
Company (including any accrued but unpaid interest and premium) and return the bond certificate in
respect of the CB to the Company.

The Board, having considered the terms and the ratonale for the Redemption, is of the view that the
Redemption is in the interest of the Company and its shareholders.

As at the date of this annual report, all the net proceeds from the issuance of CB had been fully
utilised and invested in the production facilities at Tianjin Binhai New Area in accordance with the
purpose of the issue of CB.

Save as disclosed above, there are no material contracts (including loans) of the Company or
its subsidiaries involving the interests of the Executive Chairman and CEO or any Directors or
controlling shareholders subsisted at the end of the financial year or had been entered into since the
end of the previous financia! year.
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INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

A shareholders’ mandate (the "Sharehoiders’ Mandate™) to authorise the Company to enter into
transactions with specific categories of interested persons in respect of recurrent transactions of
revenue or trading nature or those necessary for the day-to-day operations of the Company was
obtained on 23 August 2005 The Shareholders’ Mandate has been renewed annually and was last
renewed during the Annual General Meeting of the Company held on 30 April 2010.

The Shareholders’ Mandate was expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held on 29 April 2011 and the Board has proposed that
the Shareholder's Mandate be renewed during the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 29
April 2011 to take effect until the conclusion of the next following Annual General Meeting of the
Company.

The aggregate value of interested person transactions entered into for the financial year from 1
January 2010 to 31 December 2010 1s as follows: -

Rule 1207(16) of
the Listing Manual

Aggregate value of
all interested person Aggregate vaiue
transactions during the of all interested
financlal year under review person transactions
(excluding transactions conducted under the
less than $$100,000 and Sharehokders’ Mandate
transactions conducted pursuant to
under the Shareholders’ Rule 920 (excluding
Mandate pursuant to transactions less than
Name of Rule 920) $$100,000)
Interested Person (RMB'000) {RMB'000)
Hebel Nonferrous Metals Group Co., Ltd.
- Lease of properties and equipment - 2,635
- Purchase of aluminum alloy ingots - 42,962
- Supply of molten aluminum alloy - 269,502
- Purchase of auxiliary raw materials - 3.304
- Payment of staff social insurance - 757
premiums
- Sale of scraps - 7,850
QIinhuangdao Development Zone Meilu Alloy Co., Ltd.
- Lease agreement - 1,191
- Supply of molten aluminum alloy - 140,538
- Processing and recycling of rejects and - 6,292
scraps
- Supply of water and electricity - 6,175
Tianjin Lizhong Wheel Co., Ltd. .
- Supply of molten aluminum alloy - 350,036
- Processing and recycling of rejects - 15,773

and scraps
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The risk factors relating to the Group and risks relating to the PRC were disciosed under *Risk
Factors® (pages 31 to 39 of the Company's prospectus dated 10 October 2005).

The Group regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas
of significant business risks as well as taking appropriate measures to control and mitigate these
nsks. The Group reviews all significant control policies and procedures and highlights ail significant
matters to the AC and the Board. The financial risk management objectives and policies are
outlined in the financial statements.

TREASURY SHARES

There are no treasury shares held by the Company as at the end of the financial year ended 31
December 2010.
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NIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended

December 31, 2010.

1 DIRECTORS

The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:

Zang Ligen

Zang Lizhong
Zang Liguo

Zhao Qinghua
Ong Tiew Siam
Chua Hung Meng

2  ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS
BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any
arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures in the company or any other body corporate.

3 DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share capital
and debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings
kept by the company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows:

Shareholdings registered Shareholdings In which directors
in names of directors are deemed to have Iinterests
N ofdi s and p At beginning Atend At beginning Atend
in which interests are heid of year of year of year of year
The company
(Ordinary shares)
Zang Ligen - 711,000 - -
Zang Liguo - - 150,956,250 150,956,250
Zhao Qinghua 1,250,250 1,250,250 - -
Holding company
- Lizhong Investment Ltd
(Ordinary shares)
Zang Ligen 1,130 1,130 - -
Zang Lizhong 1,130 1,130 - -
Zang Liguo 2,330 2,330 - -
Subsidiary company
- New Thai Wheel Manufacturing Ltd
{Ordinary shares)
Zang Lizhong - 10.000 - -
Zang Liguo - 10,000 - -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

By wirtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Mr Zang Liguo is deemed to have an interest in the
subsidiarnies held by the company.

The directors’ interests in the shares of the company and related comporations at January 21, 2011 were the same at
December 31, 2010.

DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become enttied to receive a benefit which i1s
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by
the company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company

in which he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries. bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the
financial statements

SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Options to take up urissued shares

Ouring the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the
group were granted.

(b) Options exercised

Dunng the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by
virtue of the exercise of an aption to take up unissued shares

(c) Urussued shares under option
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the
group under option.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three non-executive and independent directors.

Ong Tiew Siam (Chairman)

Zhao Qinghua

Chua Hung Meng

The financial statements, accounting policies and system of internal accounting controls are the responsibility of the
Board of Directors acting through the Audit Committee

During the financial year, the Audit Committee has met four imes and has reviewed the following, where relevant,
with the executive directors, and the intemal and extemal auditors when appropriate, of the company

(a) the audit plan and results of the internal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group's systems of
internal accounting controls;

(b) the extemal auditors’ audit plan;

(9] the group's financial and operating results and accounting policies;

36 // X1 (0 &= §E // ANNUAL REPORT 2010

- ‘..g“":é%};ﬁ =

G;é_xqga_:;,:,,; Lo o




. DIRECYORS’ REPORT

(a) the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company and the
consolidated financial statements of the group before submission to the Board of Directors and external
auditors’ report on those financial statements;

(e) the quarterly, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results
and financial position of the group;

U] the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the extemal auditors;

(9} interested person transactions; and

(h) the re-appointment of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of management and has been given the resources
required for it to discharge its function properly. It has also full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to
attend its meetings. The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-
appointment as external auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the company.

7  AUDITORS

The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Ong Tiew Siam

Zang Ligen

Apnl 4, 2011
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS

in the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position
and statement of changes in equity of the company as set out on pages 40 to 84 are drawn up so as to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2010, and of the results, changes in
equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the finandial year then ended and at the date
of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
fall due

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Ong Tiew Siam

Zang Ligen

Apnil 4, 2011
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INDEPENDENTY AUDITORS' REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD.

Report on the Financlal Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. (the “company”) and its subsidianes
(the *group”) which comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company as at December 31, 2010,
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the group and the
statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other exptanatory notes, as set out on pages 40 to 84

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50 (the “Act") and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for
devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets
are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are propery authorised and that they
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to
maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibllity

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation of financial statements that give a true and farr view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropnate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control An audit also includes evaluating the approprateness of accountng
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Oplnion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement
of changes in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company
as at December 31, 2010 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the
company for the year ended on that date

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company have been properly kept in
accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

April 4, 2011
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

EE{_, ABER 31,2010

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and bank balances

Trade receivables

Other recewables and prepayments
Amount due from subsidiaries
Denvative financial instruments
Inventories

Total current assets

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidianies
Investment in associate
Amount due from subsidianes
Prepaid lease payments

Prepayment for construction-in-progress

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Total noncumrent assets

Total assets

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Note

12
13
14

15
16

AT !
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
116,763 75,492 363 507
715,073 435,927 - -
35814 34,350 - -
- - - 38,610
38 - - -
175,675 153,699 - -
1,043,363 699.468 363 39,117
- - 439,522 339,315
22,593 22,184 - -
- - - 149,010
63,660 65,087 - -
8,342 577 - -
456,643 449,294 - -
6,610 6,916 - —
557,848 544,058 439,522 488,325
1,601,211 1,243,526 439,885 527 442
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JECEMEER 31,2010

Group Company
Note 2010 2009 2010 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabllities

Short-term loans 17 330,500 141,500 - -
Current portion of long-term loans 17 - 95,796 - -
Amount due to subsidiaries 18 - - - 85,651
Trade payables 19 589,124 289,503 - -
Other payables 20 50,735 46,659 1,263 5,389
Denvative financial instruments 21 5733 2,198 5,733 2,198
Income tax payable 2624 2337 - -
Convertible loan notes 22 - 180,607 - 180,607
Deferred income 23 347 347 - -
Dwidend payable to non-controlling interests of

a subsidiary 4913 859 - -
Total current liabilities 983,976 759,806 6,996 273,845

Non-current liabilities

Defered income 23 2775 312 - -
Long-term loan 17 5.000 - - -
Deferred tax liability 24 4,548 4794 - -
Total non-cumrent liabilities 12,323 7,916 — -

Capital, reserves and non-controlling interest

Share capital 26 140,500 140,500 140,500 140,500
Capital reserve 32 38,780 32,544 - -
Translation reserve (150) - - -
Retained eamings 402,652 283,071 292,389 113,097
Equity attnbutable to owners of the company 581,782 456,115 432,889 253,597
Non-controlling interests 23,130 19,689 — -
Totat equity 604,912 475,804 432,889 253,597
Total Nablilitles and equity 1,601,211 1,243.526 439.885 527,442

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

YE  :NDED OECEMBER 31,2010

Group
Note 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue 27 1,610,037 1,001,328
Cost of sales (1,406,962) (851,417)
Gross profit 203,075 149,911
Other operating income 28 80,561 7.016
Distribution and selling costs (25,643) (25,732)
Administrative expenses (93,372) (58,021)
Other operating expenses (3,477) (3.517)
Share of profit (loss) of an associate . 13 197 27)
Finance costs 29 (17,622) (17.057)
Profit before tax 143718 52,573
Income tax 30 (12,373) {5,500)
Profit for the year 31 131,346 47,073
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (150) -
Total comprehensive income for the year 131,196 47,073
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the company 125,817 43,320
Non-controlling interests 5529 3,753
131,346 47,073
Total comprehensive income for the year attnbutable to
Owners of the company 125,667 43,320
Non-controlling interests 5,529 3,753
131,196 47,073
Eamings per share (in RMB cents):
Basic 33 5353 18.43
Diluted 33 53.53 18.11

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATE

#;,‘R ENDED DECEMBER 31,2010

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD.

Operating activities

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for:
Share of (profit) loss of associate
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Interest income
Finance costs
Allowance for doubtful debts
Inventories written off
Amortsation of intangible assets
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Prepaid lease payments released to the profit or loss
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (gain) of convertibte loan notes
Fair value gain on derivative instruments
Gain on redemption of convertible loan notes
Net realised gain from the setiement of derivative

financial instrument

Fair value (gain) loss on financial denvatives

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Trade receivables
Other receivables and prepayments
Inventories
Trade payables
Other payables (Note A)
Cash generated from operations

Interest received
Income taxes paid
Net cash from operating activites

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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) STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group
2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB'000
143719 52,573
(197) 27
48,019 43219
(1.302) (1.277)
17,622 17,057
63 -
1,118 1.375
306 305

(70) 203
1,427 1,425

- 205

(38) -
{75,014) -
(337) (2,967)
(467) 2,000
134,849 114,145
(279,209) (185,976)
(1,370) 12,230
(23,654) (28,570)
299621 141,652
(2,205) (4,985)
128,032 55,496
1,302 1277
(12,332) (322)
117,002 56,451




CONSOLIDATE

YEAR ENOED DECEMBER 31,2010

Investing activities
Sale of patent to an associate
Praceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment (Note A)
Property, plant and equipment purchased and paid (Note A)

Net cash used in investing activities

Financing activities
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests
Repayments of borrowings

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000

- 3,469

676 197
(54,330) {67,097)
(53,654) (63,431)

- (511)
(481,448) (250,464)

New bank loans raised 475,500 209,594
Interest paid (18,062) (18,479)
Pledged cash placed with banks (1,624) (4,307}
Receipt of contribution from non-controlling interests 1,966 -
Net cash used in financing activities (23,668) {64,167)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 39,680 (71.147)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 62,102 133.249
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currency (33) -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year {Note 7) 101,749 62,102

Note A:

In 2010, total additions of property, plant and equipment was RMB55,846,000 (2009 : RMBS58,025,000), inctuding interest
of RMB Nit (2009 . RMB11,046,000) capitalised as costs of construction and an amount of RMB12,727,000 (2009 :
RMB3,446,000) remained unpaid as at end of the reporting period The group had also prepaid RMB8,342,000 (2009 :

RMB577,000) construction-in-progress at the end of the reporting penod

In 2010, plant and equipment with net book value amounting to RMB478,000 (2009 : RMB533,000) was sold for
RMB548,000 (2009 : RMB325,000). Of this amount, RMB Nil (2009 : RMB128,000) has not been received as at the end

of the reporting period

See accompanying nates to financial statements.
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MOTES T

L__EMBER 31,2010

1 GENERAL

The company (Registration No. 200407196C) i1s incorporated in Singapore with its registered office at
1 Robinson Road #17-00 AIA Tower, Singapore 048542 and its principal place of business at No. 948 Qiyi Dong
Road, Baoding, Hebei 071000, The People’s Republic of China. The company is listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST"). The finandial statements are expressed in Renminbi (*RMB")

The pnncipal activity of the company is that of investment holding.

The principal activites of the subsidiaries and associate are disclosed in Notes 12 and 13 to the finandial statements
respectively,

The consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in
equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2010 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
April 4, 2011

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (*FRS")

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current financial year, the group has adopted all the new
and revised FRSs and interpretations of FRS ("INT FRS") that are relevant to its operatons and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs resuited
in certain changes to the group's and company's accounting policies but has no material effect on the amounts
reported for the current or prior years.

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS
that are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective

- FRS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures
- Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (issued in June 2010)
Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards

FRS 24 (Revised) is effective for annual penods beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The revised Standard
clarifies the definition of a related party and consequently additional parties may be identfied as related to the
reporting entity. In addition, the revised Standard provides partial exemption for government-related entities, in
relation to the disclosure of transactions, outstanding balances and commitments. Where such exemptions apply,
the reporting entity has to make additional disclosures, induding the nature of the govemment's relationship with
the reporting entity and information on significant transactions or group of transactions involved. In the period of
initial adoption, the changes to related party disclosures, if any, will be applied retrospectively with restatement of the
comparative information

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS in future
periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company in the period of
their intial adoption.

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
company and entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the company (its subsidiaries). Controi is
achieved when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities
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The results of subsidianies acquired or disposed of duning the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidianes to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidaton.

Non-controlling interests in subsidianes are identified separately from the group’s equity therein. The interest of
non-controlling shareholders may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquistion-by-acquisiton basis. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at inttial recognition plus the non-controlling
interests’ share of subsequent changes In equity. Total comprehensive income is attnbuted to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to owners of the company.

When the group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilites of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interests. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would
be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when controi is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogniton and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
intial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity,

In the company's financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associates are carried at cost less any
impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - Acquisitons of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of
assets given, liabilites incurred by the group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the
group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or 10ss as incurred

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values
are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below).
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify
as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
setlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement, or FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropnate, with the
comresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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Where a business combination is achieved In stages, the group’s previously held interests in the acquired entity
are remeasured 1o fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the group attains control) and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to proftt or loss, where such
treatment would be appropnate if that interest were disposed of.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilites and contingent liabilites that meet the conditions for recognttion under
the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively,

. liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the group of an acquiree's share-based

payment awards are measured in accordance with FRS 102 Share-based Payment; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete
Those provisiona! amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the group obtains complete
information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date — and is subject to a maximum of
one year from acquisition date.

The accounting policy for iniial measurement of non-controlling interests 1s described above

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT - Financial assets and financial habilities are recognised on the group’s statement of
financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Eftective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where
appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instuments other
than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss®

Financlal assets

Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment i1s
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market
concemed, and are iniially measured at farr value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified
as at farr value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

Other financial assets in the group and company are classified into the following specified categones: financial
assets “at fair value through profit or loss® and “loans and receivables™ The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as
at FVTPL.

Afinancial asset is classified as held for trading if
. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

. itis a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a
recent actual pattem of short-term profit-taking; or

. itis a dervative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset heid for rading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise: or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or finandal liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group's documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that
basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 permits the entre
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised
in the profit or loss. The net gain or 10ss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on
the financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an actve market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effectve interest method,
except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of imparment at
each end of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one of more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset's
camrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate

The carrying amount of the financia asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recovenes of amounts
previously written off are credited against the allowance account Changes in the camying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or 10ss.
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if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurnng after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recogmised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets

The group derecognises a financal asset only when the contractual nghts to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the financial asset and substantiaily all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to contro!
the transferred asset, the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

Financlal liabilitles and equity Instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabiliies and equity instruments issued by the group are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of
its liabilites. Equity mstruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct Issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initally measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective
yield basis except for short-term payables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial

Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
settlement or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the group's
accounting policy for borowing costs

Finangial liabilities at fair value through proftt or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability 1s either held for trading or it i1s designated
as at FVTPL.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future, or

. it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. itis a denivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument,
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A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if.

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that
would otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is
managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group's
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided
intemally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded denvatives, and FRS 39 permits the entrre
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL

Financial liabilties at fair value through profit or loss are initally measured at fair value and subsequently stated at
fair value, with any resuftant gain or loss recognised in profit or toss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

Convertible loan notes

Convertible bonds are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an embedded
denvative component. The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities
and derivative financial instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date
of issue, the fair value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar
non-convertible instrument This amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished upon
conversion or at the instument's maturity date. The embedded derivative components are recorded at fair value at
the date of the issue and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss immediately.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to aluminum prices,
including aluminum futures contracts

The group does not use derivative finandal instruments for speculative purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered, and
are.subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately uniess the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the iming of the recogniton in proftt or loss depends on the nature of the hedging relationship

The fair value of hedging derivatives is classified as a non-cumrent asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of hedging relationship is more than 12 months and as a current asset or current liability if the remaining
maturty of the hedging relationship is less than 12 months,

Derivatives not designated into an effective hedge relationship are classified as a current asset or a current liability.
Embedded derivatives

Denvatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when

their nisks and charactenstics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the profit or loss
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LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Consideration
paid for land use rights are recorded as prepaid lease payments and are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of relevant land use right acquired.

Rentals payable under operatng leases are charged to the proftt or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed.

INVENTORIES - Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct
materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incumred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling pnce less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be incurred
in marketng, selling and distnbution.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Buildings and plant and machinery in the course of construction (*construction-in-progress®) for production, rental or
administrative purposes, or for purpose not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction-in-progress, over their estimated
useful lives and taking into account their residual value of 5%, except for computer software which has no residual
value, using the straight-line method, on the following bases per annum;

Buildings - 10 to 20 years
Plant and machinery - 10 years
Computer software - 3years

Motor vehicles - 5 years -
Fumiture and fittings - 5 years

Depreciation is not provided on construction-n-progress

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

The gain or loss arnsing on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately include expenditure on trademarks and brand names and are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Trademarks are amortised on a straight-ine
basis over their esimated useful lives of 19 years. Brand names are amortised on a straightdine basis over their
estimated useful lives of 30 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of
each annual reporting penod, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis.
Such assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy below.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an intemal
project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it,

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to

use or sell the intangible asset, and
. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for intemally-generated intangibie assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure 1s charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets acquired separately.

IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting
penod, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating untt to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for imparment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset

If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the

camying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the profit or loss

ASSOCIATES - An associate 1s an entity over which the group has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity
method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted
for under FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontnued Operations. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are caried in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the group's share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of
individual iInvestments. Losses of an associate tn excess of the group’s interest in that associate (which includes any
long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the group’s net investment in the associate) are nat recognised,
unless the group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilittes of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill The
goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the
investment. Any excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identfiable assets, liabiities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss

Where a group entity transacts with an assaciate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
group's interest in the relevant associate

PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a resuft
of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to seftie the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable i1s recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
group will comply with the conditions attached to them and the grants will be received Government grants whose
pnmary condition is that the group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are presented
as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related assets and recognised as income over the usefut lives of the
assets by way of a reduced depreciation charge

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs
for which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpase of giving immediate financial support to the
group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances
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Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied
O the group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
. the group retains neither continuing managenal involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably,
. itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity, and
. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable

Dividend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established

Financial guarantee income

Income from providing financial guarantee is recognised in profit or loss over the guarantee period on a straight line
basis.

BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarly take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, unt! such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income eamed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incured.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit pians are charged as an
expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments
to defined contribution plans where the group's obligations under the plans are equivalent to those ansing in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting penod.

INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxabie proftt differs from profit as reported in the
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the
company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period

XZ [ Z= G // ANNUAL REPORT 2010 // 55

Wy




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

K._.EMER 31,2010

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilites in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilites are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it s probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference anises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
proftt

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associate, except where the group is able to contro! the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settied or the
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. Defemed tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the group
intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to
items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly to equity), in
which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity respectively) or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a
business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the

acquirer's interest in the net fair value of the acquiree's identifiable assets, liabilites and contingent liabilities over
cost

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group
entity are measured and presented in Renminbi (*RMB"), which is the currency of the pnmary economic environment
in which each entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated financial statements of the group and
the statement of financial position of the company are presented in RMB, which is the functional currency of the
company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements

In preparing the financial statements of the individua! entities, transactions in cutrencies other than the entity's
functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At each end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign cumrencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retransiated

Exchange differences arising on the settiement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are
induded in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in the profit or loss for the period except for differences ansing on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in
other comprehensive income
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Exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, are included in the cost ot
those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign curency borrowings.

Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency nisks are described in
the hedge accounting policies above

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group's foreign
operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Renminbi using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Income and expense items (inctuding comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as other comprehensive
income and transferred to the group's translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entiies (including
monetary items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in foreign currency translation reserve.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments anising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabiliies of the foreign operation and translated at the ciosing rate.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks and time
deposits less pledged cash placed with bank that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant sk of changes in value

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the appiication of the group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabiliies that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical expenence and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual resuits may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements In applying the entity’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that there i1s no critical judgement involved that has a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements apart from those involving estmations which are dealt with below.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

reporting period that have a significant nisk of causing a matenal adjustment to the camying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.
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Allowance for doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for doubtful debts of the group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and aging analysis
of accounts and on management's judgement. A considerable amount of judgement Is required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current credit worthiness and the past collection history
of each customer. Allowance for doubtful debts as at December 31, 2010 are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9 to the
financial statements.

Allowance for inventories obsolescence

The policy for allowance for inventories obsolescence of the group is based on the aging analysis of inventories
and on management's judgement on the saleabdity of the inventories. The cammying amount for inventories as at
December 31, 2010 is disclosed in Note 11

Impaiment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

As described in Note 2, at each end of the reporting period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, including construction-in-progress, and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. As at December 31, 2010, management is of the opinion that there did not exist any
indication of impairment, and accordingly no impairment is required for property, ptant and equipment and intangible
assets. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, including construction-in-progress, and intangible
assets are disclosed in Notes 15 and 16 respectively.

Useful lives and residual values of property, ptant and equipment

As described in Note 2, the group reviews the estimated usefu! lives and the residual values of the property, plant
and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. During the financial year, management determined that
the estimated useful lives and residual values of the property, plant and equipment are appropriate and no revision is
required

Fair value of denvative financial instuments
The group is required to assess the fair values of the derivative financial instruments which involve the input of

certain vaniables and accordingly, require significant estimates and assumptions Details of the derivative financial
intruments are provided in Note 21 to the financial statements

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

(a) Categorles of fi ial instr

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

Financlal assets

Loans and receivables (including cash and
bank balances) 857,987 539,192 363 188,127
Derivative financial asset 38 - = -

Financial llabliities
Amortised cost 979,115 753,950 1,262 271,647
Derivative financial liabilities 5,733 2,198 5733 2,198
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(b)

F

1al risk licles and objecth

Y P

The group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the Board of
Directors meet periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the group’s exposure to market
risk, including principally changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. Generally, the group
employs a conservative strategy regarding its risk management

The group does not hold or issue denvative financial insttuments for speculative purposes.

There has been no change to the group's exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated

below.

U]

()

Price risk management

The group is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of aluminium it requires for the production of the
group’s products and purchases its raw materials at market prices. The group currently does not
significantly hedge against price risk arising from the purchase of aluminium.

Foreign currency risk management

The group’s foreign currency exposures arose mainly from the exchange rate movements of the
Singapore doltars, Japanese yen, Euro and the United States dollars against Renminbi

At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of significant foreign curency denominated monetary
assets and monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective group entites’
functional currencies are as follows:

Group Company
Liabilities Liabilities
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Assets Assets

Singapore dollars 1,152 821 3.992 1,830 1,152 821 299 499
Japanese yen - - 9127 - - - - -
Euro x - 4,460 4869 - - - -
Untted States dollars 1,256 277,240 88554 18382 - 268,818 55 149010

Foreign currency sensitivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Renminbi
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate representing management's
assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translaton at the
period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external
loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the group where the denomination of the loan is
in a curency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower.
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If the Renminbi strengthens by 10% against the relevant foreign currency, profit or loss will increase
(decrease) by:

Singap dollars J yen Euro US dollars
impact impact impact impact
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'C00

Group
Proft or loss (284) (101) 913) - (444) (487) (8730) 25.886

Company
Profit or loss 86 32 - - - - 6) 11981

If the Renminbi weakens by 10% against the relevant foreign currency, the above will have a vice-
versa effect

Interest rate risk management

The group is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing
liabiliies and assets The group's interest rate exposure is related primarily to the time deposits and
loans as disclosed in Notes 7 and 17 to the financial statements. The group borrows at both fxed
and floating interest rates to manage interest rate risk

interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for
bank borrowings at the end of the reporting penod and the stiputated change taking place at the
beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the financial year in the case of bank
borrowings that bear interest at floating rates. A range of 25 to 75 basis point increase or decrease
is used when reporting interest rate nsk intemnally to key management personne! and represents
management's assessment of the possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates have been higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the group's
profit for the current year would decrease or increase accordingly This is mainly attributable to
the group's exposure to interest rates on its floating rate borrowings which is not hedged. The
following analysis shows the group’s sensitivity to interest rate exposure:

Increase in interest rate basis points by:

Decrease in group’s profits

2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
25 basis points . 468 373
50 basis points 935 746
75 basis points . 1,403 1119
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A decrease in interest rate basis points will have the same vice-versa effect.

The company's profit and loss are not affected by the changes in interest rates as the interest-
beanng instruments carry fixed interest and are measured as amortised cost. The group's time
deposits cary fixed interest rates and are not affected by changes in interest rates,

Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resuiting
in financial foss to the group. The group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy
counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the
risk of financial loss from defaults.

The group’s principal financial assets are cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables

The group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts in the
statement of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for
impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, is
evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.

As at December 31, 2010, approximately 26% (2009 : 41%) of the group’s trade receivables is
concentrated in one customer, which is the non-controlling interest of two subsidianes.

Further detalls of credit nsks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9
respectively.

Cash and bank balances are held with creditworthy financial institutions.

The group's and the company's maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the
financial assets. In 2009, the company's maximum exposure to credit risk was the carrying amount
of the financial assets, including forced setiement under the financial guarantee contracts (Note
20), if there was a default

Liquidity risk management

The group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to
finance their activities

Liquidity and Interest rate risk analysls
Non-denvative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the remaining contractual matunty for non-denvative financial liabilities
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earfiest date on which the group and company can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash
flows attributable to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the
carrying amount of the financial liability on the statement of financial pesiton.

7 @ &= §i2//ANNUAL REPORT 2010 // 61




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

«...EMBER 31,2010

205

Welghted
average On
effective demand Within After
Interest orwithin  2to5 §
rate 1 year years years  Ad) Total
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Group
2010
Non-interest beanng - 643615 - - - 643615
Fixed interest rate instruments 540% 152944 - - (4,444) 148,500
Variable interest rate instuments  5.54% 185,546 5,540 - (4,086) 187,000
982,105 5,540 - (8,530} 979,115
2009
Non-nterest bearing - 336,047 - - - 336,047
Fixed interest rate instruments 4.65% 89,533 - - (1,533) 88,000
Variabte interest rate instuments 4 88% 153,229 - - (3.933) 149,296
Convertible loan 9.30% 189,239 - - (8,632) 180,607
768,048 - - (14,098) 753,950
Welghted
average On
effective demand  Within After
Interest orwithin 2to5 5
rate 1 year years years  Adj Total
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Compan
2010
Non-interest bearing - 1,262 - - - 1,262
2009
Non-interest bearing - 3.942 - - - 3942
Interest bearing 4.59% 87,775 - - {2.124) 85651
Financial guarantee contract 0.5% 1,447 - - - 1,447
Convertible loan notes 930% _ 189.239 - - (8,632) 180,607
282,403 - - (10,766) 271,647

tn 2009, the maximum amount that the company could be forced to

settle under the financial

guarantee contract in note 37, if the full guaranteed amount was claimed by the counterarty to the
guarantee, was RMB224,937,000. The earliest period that the guarantee could be called was as
and when the guarantee was claimed by the counterparty. There is no financial guarantee contract
as at the end of the current reporting period.
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Non-denvative financial assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-denvative financial assets. The tables
below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets
including interest that will be eamed on those assets except where the group and the company
anticipates hhat the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the
possible future cash flows attributable to the instrument included In the matunty analysis which are
not induded in the carrying amount of the financial asset on the statement of financial position

Welghted
average on
effective demand Within After
Interest orwithin  2to 5 5
rate 1 year years years Adjustment  Total
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'0C00 RMB'000 RMB'000
Group
2010
Non-interest bearing - 857987 = - - 857,987
2009
Non-interest bearing - 513192 - - - 513,192
Fixed interest rate instruments  1.17% 26,304 - — (304) 26,000
539,496 - - (304) 539,192
Company
2010
Non-interest beanng - 363 - = = 363
2009
Non-interest bearing - 38,610 - 184255 (35247) 187,618
Fixed interest rate instruments  0.24% 509 ~ — - 509
39,119 -~ 184255 (35247) 188127

The liquidity risk analysis refating to the derivatives of the group and of the company are disclosed
in Notes 21 and 22 of the financial statements

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and
payables and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively shont-
term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and
liabilites are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilites are determined as follows’

3 the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions
and traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

. the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions and
dealer quotes for similar instruments; and
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. the fair value of the denvative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such
prices are not availabte, discounted cash flow model is used, based on applicable yield curve
of the duration of the instruments for non-optional denvatives, and option pricing models for
optional derivatives.

The group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that refiect the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

(a) Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1),

{b) Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) ( Levei 2); and

(¢) Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs) (Level 3)

The group has denvatives financial assets and liabilities that fall under Level 2 as disclosed in Note
21

(c) Capital risk policies and objecti

The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going
concem while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 17 and
equity attributable to owners of the company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained eamings
The group does not have any extemnally imposed capita! requirements.

The group’s Board of Directors ("Board®) reviews the capital structure on a quarterly basis. As part of
this review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on decisions of the Board, the group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The group's overall strategy remains unchanged from 2009.

5 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

The company is a subsidiary of Lizhong Investment Ltd, incorporated in British Virgin Islands, which is also the
company's ultimate holding company. Related companies in these financtal statements refer to members of the
ultimate holding company's group of companies.

Some of the transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the
basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the company, have been
eliminated on consolidation

Ounng the financial year ended December 31, 2009 and 2010, there were no other transactions with other related
companies apart from the above.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or directors. Parties are considered to
be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financia and operating decisions

Some of the transactions and arangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined
between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and are
repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Significant related party transactions, all of which were entered into with companies in which certain directors of the
company have financial interests, other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, are as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’0060 RMB'000
Sales of goods (7.950) (852)
Purchases of goods and services 834,785 599,540
Rental expense 3,827 3,827

During the year, group entities entered into the following trading transactions with other related parties’

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Sales of goods to an associate (2,842) -
Purchases of goods from an associate 230,395 -
Sales of goods to non-controlling interests (593,842) (424,277)
Purchases of goods from non-controlling interests 508 1,483

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year were as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Short-term benefits 7,334 3,032
Post-employment benefits 45 37
7.379 3,069

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the Remuneration Committee of the company
having regard to the perfformance of the individuals and market trends.
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7  CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Cash at banks 101,198 35,361 337 422
Cash on hand 551 741 26 . 85
Fixed deposits - 26,000 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 101,749 62,102 363 507
Ptedged cash placed with banks 15014 13,390 — —
Cash and bank balances 116,763 75,492 363 507

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an onginal maturity of
three months or less The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values

As at December 31, 2010, included in the banks banks is an interest bearing balance amounting to RMB3,664,000
which bears interest at a fixed rate of 0.18%

In 2009, fixed deposits bear average interest rate of 1.17% per annum and have a tenure of approximately 7 days.

Cash amounting to RMB15.014,000 (2009 : RMB13,390,000) has been pledged to banks as security for bills
payable (Note 19) and letter of credit facilities provided to the group.

The group's and company's cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective entities are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Singapore dollars 3,992 1,830 299 499
Japanese yen 1,311 - - -
Euro 1,231 12 - -
United States dollars 44,232 8.230 55 -
8  TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group
2010 2008

RMB’000 RMB'000
Amounts receivable from the sale of goods:

Third parties 242,579 134,201
Bills receivables 286.196 122,686
Associate company (Note 6 and 13) 1,477 -
Non-controlling interests (Note 6) 184,945 179,101
715,197 435,988
Allowance for doubtful debts - third parties (124) (61)
715,073 435927
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The average credit period on sales of goods is 90 days (2009 : 90 days). No interest is charged on the trade
receivables from the date of the invoice. The group has provided fully for all receivables over 1 year because
historical expenence is such that receivables that are past due beyond 1 year are generally not recoverable. Trade
receivables between 91 days and 365 days are provided for based on estimated imecoverable amounts from the
sale of goods, determined by reference to past default experience

Before accepting any new customer, the group uses a scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed annually.

Included in the group's trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of RMB31,988,000
(2009 : RMB44,740,000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group
has not made any allowance for the above balances as the management i1s of the view that these receivables are
recoverable. The group does not hold any coliateral over these balances, and the average age of these receivables
(excluding bills receivables) are 130 days (2009 116 days).

Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired:

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000
91 to 180 days 31,892 44715
180 days to 1 year 96 25
31,988 44740
Group
2010 2009

RMB’'000 RMB'000
Movement in the allowance for doubtfu! debts

Balance at beginning of year 61 61
Increase in aliowance to profit or loss 63 -
Balance at end of year 124 61

The group’s trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as
follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Japanese yen 7,816 -
Euro 3,229 4,857
United States dollars 43,839 9777
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OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
Advances to suppliers 6,279 4,830
Deposits for aluminium futures trading 6,098 21,780
Prepaid lease payments (Note a) 65,053 66,325
Prepayment for construction-n-progress 8,342 577
Prepayments 1.991 509
Value added tax recoverable 17,216 2,648
Others 2,837 3,345
107,816 100,014
Less: Non-current porgon of prepaid lease payments
(shown under non-current assets) {63,660) (65,087)
Less. Non-current portion of prepayment for construction
-in-progress (shown under non-current assets) (8.342) (577)
35,814 34,350
Note:
@) The prepaid lease payments are made for land use rights on which the group's buildings are situated or construction is

in progress

The group’s other receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as

follows:

United States dollars

AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Dividend income receivable from subsidiaries (Note 12)

Recoverable from a subsidiary (Note 12)
Others

The non-trade amount due from subsidiaries, ali denominated in RMB, were unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand. The amounts were fully repaid in 2010.
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2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
483 375

Company

2010 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
- 7,433
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- 38,610




- NOQTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

_ECEMBER 31,2010

11 INVENTORIES

Group
2010 2009
RMB'060 RMB'000
Raw materials 42,803 33,023
Work-in-progress 10,492 15,780
Finished goods 122,380 104,896
175675 153,698

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense includes RMB1,118,000 (2009 : RMB1,375,000) in respect of
write-downs of inventories to net realisable value

12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company’
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’'000
Ungquoted equity shares, at cost 404,650 304.443
Deemed investment arising from interest-free loan granted to a subsidiary
(Note 14) 44,178 44,178
Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees provided to a bank for a
subsidiary (Note 20) 2,668 2,668
Deemed distribution arising from interest-free loan obtained from a subsidiary
(Note 18) (11,974) (11,974)
439,522 339,315
Details of all the }:ompany's subsidiaries at December 31, 2010 are as follows:
Proportion of
Subsidlaries/iCountry of registration and ownership interest and
operations voting power held Principal activities
2010 2009
% %
Baoding Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd 100 100 Manufacture and sale of aluminium alloy
People's Republic of China wheels and its related fittings.
Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel Co., Ltd 90 90 Manufacture and sale of aluminium
People's Republic of China " alloy wheels and its related fittings
and production of non-ferrous metals,
compaosite matenals and alloyed metals.
Tianjin Lizhong Wheel Limited 100 100 Manufacture and sale of aluminium
People's Republic of China alloy wheels and its related fittings

and production of non-ferrous metals,
composite matenals and alloyed metals
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Proportion of
Subsldiares/Country of reglstration and ownership interest and
operations voting power held  Princlpal activities
2010 2009
% %
Tianjin Dicastal Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd 80 80 Manufacture and sale of aluminium
People's Republic of China M alloy wheels and its related fittings
and production of non-ferrous metals,
composite materials and alioyed metals
Tianjin Nano Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 51 51 Manufacture and sale of related fittings of
People’s Republic of China aluminium alloy wheels.
Clear View Limited 100 100 Provision of group treasury functions.
British Virgin Islands @
New Thai Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd 99.97 - Manufacture and sale of aluminium alloy
Thailand % wheels and its related fittings. Dormant in

2010.

m Audited by an overseas practice of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for consolidation purposes.

@ Not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation. Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP
Singapore for consolidation purposes.

ey Shares are 15% heid by Lizhong Whee! Group Ltd. and 65% held by Tianjin Lizhong Wheel Limited.
“ Shares are held by Tianjin Lizhong Whee! Limited
) Not audited as newly incorporated during the year. Shares are held by Baoding Lizhong Wheel

Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

13 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 22,501 22,501
Share of post-acquisition profit (loss), net of dividend receved 92 (317)

22,593 22,184

PR LA — S B
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Details of the associate at December 31, 2010 are as follows:

Proportion of
A late/Country of reg ownership [nterest and
and operations . voting power held  Principal activities
2010 2009
Y% %
Inner Mongolia Lizhong Huomei Wheel 29 29 Manufacture and sale of atuminium alloy

Manufacturing Co., Ltd
People’s Republic of China @

m Audited by Tong Liao Xin Da CPA firm.

wheels and its related fittings.

@ Shares are 13% (2009 : 13%) held by Tianjin Lizhong Whee! Limited and 16% (2009 : 16%) held by Clear

View Limited

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associate are set out below

Total assets

Total liabilites

Net assets

Group's share of associate's net assets
Revenue

Profit (Loss) for the year

Share of associate’s profit (loss) for the year

Elimination of profit or loss arnsing on ransactions with group's entities to

the extent of 29%
Amortisation of deferred income (Note 23)
Group's share of associate’s profit (loss) for the year

14 AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Nominal value
Less: Future finance charges

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
. 370721 265,157
(292,814) (188,661)
77,907 76,496
22,593 22,184
234,17 -
1,411 (93)
409 27)
(559) -
347 -
197 (27)
Company
2010 2009
RMB’'000 RMB’000
- 184,255
- (35,245)
- 149,010

17 [ &= G /1 ANNUAL REPORT 2010 // 71

L T U

Eiamion I3 RG0S




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEL-MEER 31,2010

Future finance charges is represented by

Company
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000

Excess of nominal value over the fair value of intercompany loan at loan inception

(Note 12) - 44,178
Notiona! interest iIncome deemed eamed using amortised cost method - {8,933)
Total — 35,245

The loan agreement between the company and its subsidiary was interest-free, unsecured and with full repayment

on August 31, 2013, The loan was denominated in United States dollars and was fully repaid during the financial
year.

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Plantand Computer Motor and Construction-
B Ings_machinery vehicles fittings  in-progress Total
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
Group
Cost
At January 1, 2009 54,302 375458 3,630 11,931 5,163 99,888 550,372
Additions 389 3,365 95 194 443 53,539 58,025
Reclassifications 30,574 39,559 - - 164 (70,297) -
Disposals - (680) {25) (453) (131) - (1,289)
At December 31, 2009 85265 417,702 3,700 11,672 5,639 83,130 607,108
Additions 55 31,775 12 1,158 1.753 21,093 55,846
Reclassifications 12,338 5,729 - 94 648 (18,809) -
Disposals - (1,133) - (585) _(237) - {1,955)
At December 31, 2010 97,658 454,073 3712 12,339 7.803 85414 660,990
Accumulated depreciation:
At January 1, 2009 10,578 96,338 1,810 4,110 2,515 - 115,351
Depreciation for the year 3,279 36,632 400 1,961 947 - 43219
Disposals - (390) (24) (225) (117) - (756)
At December 31, 2009 13,857 132,580 2,186 5846 3345 - 157,814
Depreciation for the year 4602 39,739 259 1,912 1,507 - 48,019
Disposals - (852) - (410) (215) - (1,477)
At December 31, 2010 18.459  171.467 2.445 7.348 4637 - 204356

Carrying amount

At December 31, 2010 79199 282606 1,267 4.991 3.166 85414 456,643
At December 31, 2009 71,408 285122 1514 5,826 2294 83130 445204
Note:

In 2009, construction-in-progress has been determined after charging net borrowing and related costs of
RMB11,046,000. The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
was 10.2%

During the year, no borrowing and related costs were capitalised as the construction was substantially completed
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16 INTANG!BLE ASSETS

Trademarks Brand name Total
RMB'000 RMB’000 RME'000
Group
Cost:
At January 1, 2009, December 31, 2009
and December 31, 2010 2,000 6,000 8,000

Accumulated amortisation:

At January 1, 2009 561 218 779
Amortisation for the year 105 200 305
At December 31, 2009 666 418 1,084
Amortisation for the year 105 201 306
At December 31, 2010 771 619 1,380

Carmrying amount:

At December 31, 2010 1,229 5,381 6,610
At December 31, 2009 1,334 5,582 6,916

The intangible assets included above have finte useful lives, over which the assets are amortised. Trademarks
are amortsed over their estimated usefu! lives, which is 19 years. The remaining amortisation perod for these
trademarks is approximately 12 years. Brand names are amortised over their estmated useful lives, which is 30
years. The remaining amortisation period for the brand names is approximately 26 years

The amortisation expense has been included in the line item “administrative expenses" in profit or loss.
17 LOANS
Group

2010 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000

Short-term loans
Short-term bank loans 330,500 141,500

Long-term loans

Long-term bank loans - 90,786
Long-term loan from a non-controlling shareholder 5,000 5,000

5.000 95,796
Amount due for setiement after twelve months {5,000) -
Amount due for setiement within twelve months - 95,796

i) Short-term bank loans amounting to RMB148,500,000 (2009 : RMB88,000,000) are unsecured, bear fixed
interest at rates ranging from 5.31% to 5.58% (2009 : 3.43% to 5.31%) per annum and are repayable
within the next twelve months.
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i) Short-term bank toans amounting to RMB182,000,000 (2009 : RMBS53,500,000) are unsecured, bear
interest at rates fixed by the central bank in People's Republic of China ("PRC™) which are refreshed
periodically by the central bank and are repayable within the next twelve months. The interest rates ranged
from 5.31% to 6.10% (2009 : 4.59% to 5.40%) per annum.

iii} Loan from a non-controlling shareholder was renewed during the year, bearing interest at 5.4% (2009 :
5.4%) per annum and is unsecured and repayable on November 21, 2013 (2009 : November 21, 2010).
The interest rate is determined at every annual period based on the then prevailing market interest rates.

iv) In 2009, long-term bank loan amounting to RMB90,796,000 was guaranteed by the company, bore interest
at 1.5% plus LIBOR and was denominated in United States dollars. Repayments commenced on July 15,
2008 and continued until July 15, 2010. The first four installments were based on 10% of the loan amount,
each payable on a half-yearly basis and the remaining balance was repayable on July 15, 2010. The loan
was fully repaid during the financial year.

v) Unless otherwise disclosed above, all loans are denominated in Renminbi

vi) The management is of the opinion that the carrying amounts of these loans approximate their fair values.

18 AMOUNT DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Nominal value - 88,653
Less: Future finance charges - (3,002)
- 85,651
Less' Amount due for setiement within twelve months
(shown under current liabilites) - (85,651)
Future finance charges is represented by
Excess of nominal value over the fair value of intercompany
loan at loan inception {Note 12) - 11,974
Notional interest expense deemed distnbuted using amortised
cost method - (8,972)
Total - 3,002

The loan between the company and its subsidiary was interest-free, unsecured, and repayable in
five instalments with full repayment on July 15, 2010. The first four instaiments were based on 10% of the
loan amount, payable on a half-yearly basis and the balance was repayable on July 15, 2010. The loan was
denominated in United States dollars and was fully repaid during the financial year.
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19

20

TRADE PAYABLES

Amount payable for trade purchases from:
Extemal parties
Bills payables
Associate company (Note 6 and Note 13)
Related parties (Note 6)

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB’000
116,187 74,868
35,048 32,601
206,968 -
230,921 182,034

289,503

589,124

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 80 days (2009 : 60 to 90 days). No interest i1s charged
on the trade payables. The group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that ail payables are

within the credit imeframe.

Bills payables are secured by pledged cash placed with banks (Note 7)

The group’s trade payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as

follows:
Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000
Euro 22 -
OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Accrued expenses 24,054 22,350 1,263 3.491
Retirement benefit obligations (Note 25) - 87 - -
Advances/Deposits from customers (Note a) 1,157 974 - -
Deposits from suppliers (Note a) 5,657 7,643 - -
Value added tax payable - 2478 - -
Other taxes payable 494 321 - 451
Financial guarantee contracts (Note b) - - - 1,447
Payables relating to construction-in-progress 12,727 3.446 - -
Others 6,646 9,360 - -
50,735 46,659 1,263 5,389
Note:
(a) The advances/deposits from customers and suppliers and security and tender deposits are unsecured,
interest free and repayable on demand.
{b) In 2009, the company was a party to a financial guarantee contract where the company has provided

a financial guarantee to a bank in respect of credit facilities provided to a subsidiary (Note 12). Loans

obtained under the facilties were fully repaid dunng the year.
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The group and company's other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective
entties are as follows:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
Singapore doltars 1,152 821 1,152 821
United States dollars 1,256 5,837 - 2,560
21 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
Derivative financial asset
- Forward aluminium contracts (Note a) 38 = - =

Derivative financial liabilites:
- Arising from convertble loan notes

{Note 22 and b) - (2,198) - (2,198)
- Arsing from redemption of convertible loan notes

(Note ¢) (5.733) = (5.733) -
Total (5,733} (2,198) (5,733) {2,198)
Note:

{a) The derivative financial asset of RMB38,000 represented the fair value of the forward contract for aluminum
purchases recognised in the proftt or loss. At the end of the repomng period, the notional value of
outstanding forward contract to which the group is committed amounted to RMB1,628,000.

(b) The dernivative financial liabilities of RMB2,198,000 represented the embedded denvative components
of the convertible loan notes (Note 22) and was revalued at the end of the reporting period in 2009 by
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited (*Vigers®), independent valuers not connected with the group, using
binominal model to approximate the fair value of the embedded dervatives

Pursuant to the revaluation, the group recognised a loss of RMB2,000,000 relating to the change in fair
value of the embedded derivatives in the profit or loss in 2009, included as part of other operating expenses
in the profit or loss.

During the year, the derivative financial liabilities were settled as part of the redemption of the convertible
loan notes (Note 22)

(c) The derivative financial liability arises in conjunction with the redemption of the convertible toan notes (Note
22) during the year and i1s revalued by \A%ers using binominal model. Based on the valuation performed
by Vigers, the fair value of the derivative financial instrument at date of the redemption of the convertible
loan notes and at the end of the reporting period amounted to approximately RMB 6,200,000 and RMB
5,733,000 respectively.

Pursuant to the above valuation, the group recognises a gain of RMB467,000 which is included as part of
other operating income in the profit or loss.

{d) Taking into consideration the revaluation reports issued by Vigers, management believes that the camying
value of the derivative financial instruments in connection with the convertible loan notes approximate its
fair value as at the end of the reporting period

(e) The fair value of the derivative financial assets and liabilities falls under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy
as specified under FRS 107 and is measured based on inputs other than quoted prices.
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22

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

Group and Company

2010 2009

RMB’000 RMB'000
Convertible loan notes 182,805 171,788
Embedded denvative components (Note 21b) (2,198) (2,198)
Liability component 180,607 169,590
Exchange rate realignment - 205
Interest charged - 16,038
Interest paid - (5,226)
Repayments in accordance with the Redemption Agreement (102,952) -

Release of embedded denvatives on Redemption 2,198 -
Waiver of accrued interest on Redemption 2,560 -
Consuttancy expense on Redemption (1,199) -

Derivative financial liability ansing on inception of the Redemption Agreement
(Note 21c) (6.200) -

Gain on the Redemption (Note 28) (75,014) -
Liability component at end of the year - 180,607

The company issued US$25,000,000 convertible loan notes on August 29, 2007. The notes were convertible
into Singapore dollars ordinary shares of the company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and
their setttement date at the option of the holder. On February 10, 2010, the company entered into a redemption
agreement (the "Redemption Agreement’) with the bondholders, the joint and several liquidators of the
bondholders, the ultimate holding company (Note 5) and Mr Zang Ligen, a director of the company, for the full
redemption of the convertible loan notes (“the Redemption®).

Pursuant to the terms of the Redemption Agreement, in consideration for the surrender of the convertible loan
notes by the bondholders, the company shall

1) pay the bondholders US$15,000,000 no later than the date falling three months after the date of the
Agreement or such date as may be agreed between the Bondholder and the company; and

2) if, at any ime from the date of the Redemption Agreement to the date falling the second anniversary of the
Redemption Agreement’

(a) the volume-weighted average price of a share in the company reaches for the first ime S$0.60
or above but less than $$0.80 for 20 consecutive trading days. pay the bondholders an additional
US$1,500,000,

(b) after the payment described in paragraph (a) above, if the volume-weighted average price of a
share in the company reaches for the first tme $$0.80 or above for 20 consecutive trading days,
pay the bondholders an additional US$1,500,000

The company's obligation under the Redemption Agreement is guaranteed by the ultimate holding company and
a director on a joint and several bases. The ultimate holding company has agreed to charge 50,000,000 shares
in the company held by it in favour of the bondholders to secure the company's obligation under the Redemption
Agreement. Accordingly, a charge on the 50,000,000 was created on April 15, 2010, and remains under charge as
at the end of the reporting period
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In 20089, interest charged was calculated by applying an effectve interest rate of 9.30% per annum to the liability
component. In accordance with the Redemption Agreement, no further interest was charged during the current
financial year and accrued interest amounting to RMB2,560,000 at December 31, 2009 was also waived

Taking into consideration the revaluation report issued by Vigers, management believes that the carrying value of
the liability component of the convertible loan notes as at December 31, 2009 approximate its fair value

23 DEFERRED INCOME

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Deferred income 3122 3,469
Current portion (347) (347)
Non-current portion 2775 3,122

PR LA — TR

The deferred income relates to the group's share of the unrealised profit from the sale of patents on moulds to an
associate (Note 13). The deferred income will be amortised over the remaining usefu! Iife of the patent against the
results of the associate in the profit or loss.

24 DEFERRED TAX

The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and the movements thereon, during
the current and pnor reporting penods:

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Deferred tax liability at beginning of year (4,794) (2,288)
Utilised 2,961 -
Charged to profit and loss (2,715) (2,508)
Deferred tax liability at end of year (4,548) (4,794)

Subject to the agreement by the tax authorities, at end of December 31, 2009, the group had unutlised tax losses
of RMB4,442,000 available for offset against future profits. In 2009, no deferred tax asset was recognised in
respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. During the current financial year, the tax
losses were fully utilized. There was no unutilized tax losses at December 31, 2010.

Pursuant to the new income tax laws in the People's Republic of China, profits earned from January 1, 2008
when distributed to the company n future will be subjected to a withholding tax rate of 5%. The group utilised
RMB2,961,000 in 2010 for withholding taxes paid on profits distributed to the company.

25 RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

In 2009, contributions of RMB87,000 due in respect of that financial year had not been paid over to the state-
managed retirement benefit plans (Note 20). The amounts were paid in 2010.
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26 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
Number of ordinary shares RMB'000 RMB’000
Issued and paid up:
Atbeginning and end of financial year 235,025 550 235,025 550 140,500 140,500

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and camry a right to dividends as and

when declared by the company.

27 REVENUE
Sale of goods
28 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Govemment grant income
Interest income

Fair value gain on embedded derivative arising
from the redemption of convertible loan notes (Note 21¢)

Gain on redemption of convertible
loan notes, net of related income and costs (Note 22)

Others

Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
1,610,037 1,001,328
Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
3,428 5,733
1,302 1,277
467 -
75,014 -
350 6
80,561 7,016
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29 FINANCE COSTS
Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Interest expense on;
Convertible loan notes (Note 22) - 16,038
Bank toans 15,506 11,573
Bills payable 1.841 218
Loans from non-controlling interest 275 274
Total borrowing costs 17,622 28,103
Less: Amount capitalised as costs of construction (Note 15) - {11,046)
17,622 17.057
30 INCOME TAX
Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000
On profit for the year
- Current tax 13,133 2,992
- Overprovision of current tax in prior year (3.475) -
- Deferred tax arising on 5% withholding tax on
undistributed PRC earnings (Note 24) 2,715 2,508
12,373 5,500

—_— e

Domestic income tax of the company is calculated at 17% (2009 : 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the
year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant junsdictions as explained
below.

In accordance with the tax legislations applicable to foreign investment enterprises (*FIE®), the enterprises are
entited to exemptions from PRC income tax for two years commencing from their first profit-making year of
operation and thereafter, entitled to a 50% relief from PRC enterprise income tax for the next three years. The
following group companies are entitled to these tax benefits:

a) Tianjin Lizhong Wheel Co, Ltd obtained the FIE licence in 2008 and is exempted from income tax
commencing from the financial year ended December 31, 2008. The prevailing tax rate applicable to the
FIE is 11% (2009 : 10%); and

b) Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel Co., Ltd ("Dicamry”) obtained the FIE licence in September 2005 and is
exempted from income tax commencing from the financial year ended December 31, 2005. As
Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheei Co., Ltd Is established in the economic zones of PRC, it is entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 18% for the year ended December 31, 2009. The tax benefits expired in 2010.

During the year, Baoding Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd and Dicamry attained the status of advance !

technology enterprises ("ATE"), and are entitled to a reduced PRC enterprise income tax rate of 15% for the year
ended December 31, 2010. |
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The tax for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:

PUBLIC

s

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
Income tax expense at PRC statutory rate of 25% (2009 : 25%) 35,930 13,143
(Non-taxable) Non-deductible items, net (16,120) 1,750
Overprovision of current tax n prior year (3.475) -
Utlisation of tax losses previously not recognised (1,110) -
5% Withholding tax on undistnbuted PRC eamings 2715 2,508
Tax incentives (5,567) {11,901)
12,373 5,500
31 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after chargling (crediting):
Group
2010 2009
RMB’000 RMB'000
Directors’ remuneration:
Directors of the company 562 539
Directors of the subsidiaries 3,648 1,491
Total directors' remuneration 4210 2.030
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remunerabon)
Defined contribution plans 8,757 9,674
Others 114,412 71,444
Total employee benefits expense 123,169 §1.118
Research costs 41,533 11,723
Net realised gain from the settlement of derivative financial instuments (Note) (337} (2,967)
Fair value gain on denivative financial instruments (Note) (38) -
Fair value loss on embedded option of convertible loan notes - 2,000
Foreign currency exchange adjustment loss, net 3.181 1,002
Inventories written off 1,118 1,375
(Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (70) 203
Cost of inventories recognised as expense 1,406,962 738,030
Non-audit fees
Paid to auditors of the company 63 18

Note:

The group utilised aluminum futures contracts to hedge against the aluminum prices. The instruments purchased
were primarily denominated in the currencies of the group's principal markets. The group did not designate any
derivative as hedging instrument.

In 2009, there was no outstanding aluminum futures contract for the group. At the end of the current reporting
period, the group is committed to an outstanding forward contract as disclosed in Note 21(a)
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32 CAPITAL RESERVE

Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China ("PRC*) and the Articies of
Association of the subsidiaries, the subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after taxation as
reported in the PRC statutory financial statements to statutory reserve fund at an amount subject to the approval
of the board of directors. The statutory reserve fund may be used to make up losses incurred and, with approval
from relevant government authority, to increase capital for expansion of production

33 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the
company is based on the following data:

Group
2010 2009

Earnings (RMB'000)
Earnings for the purposes of basic eamings. per share

(profit for the year attributable to owners of the company) 125,817 43,320
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

inherent on convertible loan notes - 5857

Eamings for the purpose of diluted eamings per share 125817 49177
Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purpose of basic eamings per share 235,025,550 235,025,550
Effect of dilutive patentrah ordinary shares:

Convertible loan notes — 36,519,139

* Weighted average number of ordinary shares for

the purpose of diluted eamings per share 235,025,550 271,544 689
Basic eamings per share (in RMB cents) ' 53.53 18.43
Diluted earnings per share (in RMB cents) 53.53 18.11

34 CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS
Group
2010 2009

RMB'000 RMB'000

Commitments for acquitiion of property, plant and equipment
authonsed but notcortzacted for 29,677 38,309
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35

36

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

Group

2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’'000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases
recognised as an expense in the year 9,566 6.452

At the end of the reporting period, the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating
leases, which fall due as follows:

Group
2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB’000

Future minimum lease payments payabte:

Within one year 2,170 3,751
In the second to fifth year inclusive 4,797 6,575
After five years : 2,623 2,885

9,590 1321

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office premises. Leases are
negotiated for either an average of one to ten years or twenty years.

SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The application of FRS 108 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operation decision maker ("CODM®), which is
the Board of Directors, in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance. The CODM's
basis of organisation on the group is by its operating legal activities.

All entities under the group are involved in the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels with similar production
processes and target customers. In addition, there is no difference in the methods used to distribute the
inventories and the nature of the regulatory environment among all entities under the group. Accordingly,
the CODM considers that all existing products manufactured and held by the group has similar economic
charactenistic and therefore, no further analysis for segment reporting is presented

Geographical information

The group's activities are primarily based in People's Republic of China (*PRC"). Other Asian locations comprise
mainly Japan and Korea.
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The group's revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current assets
excluding investments in associates, finance lease receivables and “other*® financial assets) by geographical
location are detailed below:

Revenue from

extemal customers

2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000
PRC 1,189,381 788,551
Cther Asian locations 174,656 71,835
Europe 236,933 135,327
America 4,957 4,526
Others 4,10 1,089
Total 1,610,037 1,001,328

The group's non-current assets are all located in PRC.
f . .
Included in revenues arising from sales to PRC of RMB1,189,381,000 (2009 - RMB788,551,000) are revenues
of approximately RMB593,842,000 (2009 : RMB424,277,000) which arose from sales to the group's largest
customer, which is the non-controlling shareholder of two subsidiaries.
37 CONTINGENT LIABILITES
As at end of reporting period, the company and the group has the following contingent liabilites:
Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Corporate guarantees for credit faciliies
given to a subsidiary - - - 90,796
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Class of equity securittes Number of equity securities Voting Rights
Ordinary 235,025,550 One vote per share
There are no treasury shares held in the issued capital of the Company.
STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Number of
Size of Shareholding Shareholders % Number of Shares %
1-999 2 023 900 0.00
1,000 - 10,000 541 6162 3,092,000 1.31
10,001 - 1,000,000 317 36.10 25,518,275 10.86
1,000,001 and above 18 2.05 206,414,375 87.83
878 100.00 235,025,550 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
{As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %
Li Zhong Investment Ltd 100,856,250 42.96 50,000,000 2127
Zang Liguo - - 150,956,2502 64.23

Notes:

(V)] Charged to a financial institution to secure the Company's obligation for the redemption of convertible bonds issued by the
Company which bear interest at the rate of 3% per annum and which are due in 2012

) Zang Liguo holds 23.3% sharcholdings in the issued and paid-up share capital of Li Zhong Investment Ltd. Accordingly, he is
deemed interested in the 150,956,250 shares held by Li Zhong Investment Ltd. in the Company.
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STAYTISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS +1 18 MARCH 2011

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %

1 Li Zhong Investment Ltd 100,956,250 42.96
2. UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 51,834,000 22.05
3. HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 13,524,000 575
4 Low Geok Lin Judith 8,996,000 3.83
5. Kim Eng Securities Pte. Ltd. 4,818,000 2.05
6 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 4,036,000 172
7 Zhang Jian Liang 3,950,500 1.68
8. DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 3,367,000 1.43
9. BNP Parbas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 3,086,000 1.31
10.  Zang Xiu Fen . 2,183,250 0.83
" Quek Huiling Joanne 1,562,000 066
12 LiLin He 1,310,125 0.56
13 Zhao Qinghua 1,250,250 0.53
14. Kan Mun Gneen 1,229,000 0.52
15 Hong Leong Finance Nominees Pte Ltd 1,206,000 0.51
16. Bank of Singapore Nominees Pte Ltd 1,069,000 0.45
17 Lee Seak Sung @ Lee Seak Song 1,036,000 0.44
18 Choy Wee Chiap 1,001,000 043
19. Tan Sheau Yen Helen 1,000,000 043
20. OCBC Securities Private Limited 989,000 0.42
Tota: 208,403,375 88.66

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’'S HANDS

34.94% of the Company's shares are held in the hands of the public. Accordingly, the Company has complied with Rule
723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST
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.NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE 1S HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. (‘the Company®) will
be held at at Meeting Room 207, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles
Boulevard Suntec City, Singapore 039593 on Friday, 29 Apnil 2011 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31

December 2010 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon (Resolution 1)
2 To declare a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of RMB5.0 cents (equivalent to approximately 0.971 Singapore

cents) per share for the financial year ended 31 December 2010 (2009: nil}. (Resolution 2)
3. To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 89 of the Articles of Association of

the Company:-

Mr Zang Liguo (Resolution 3a)

Mr Zhao Qinghua {Resolution 3b)

Mr Zhao Qinghua wili, upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Nominating
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee and will be considered
independent.

4. To approve the payment of Directors' Fees of RMB562,162 (equivalent to $$109,408) for the year ended 31
December 2010 (2009: RMB 538,789 (equivalent to $$110,575)) (Resolution 4)

5. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the
Company to fix their remuneration (Resolution §)

6 To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annua! General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any
modifications’

7 Authority to Issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual (the “Listing
Manual®) of the Singapore Exchange Secunities Trading Limited (the *SGX-ST°), the Directors of the Company be
authorised and empowered to

(a) (i) issue shares in the Company (*shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or
(i) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments®) that might or would require

shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to)
options, warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into shares,

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the
Directors of the Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit, and

{b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in

pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was
in force,
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provided that:

o the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made
or granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty
per centum (50%) of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in
accordance with sub-paragraph {2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be 1ssued cther
than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of
the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below);

2) (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the
aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the total number of issued
shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding
treasury shares) at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a) new shares anising from the conversion or exercise of the Instruments or any convertible securities;

b) new shares arising from exercising share optons or vesting of share awards which are outstanding
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were
granted in compliance with Part VIl of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual; and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of
the Listing Manual for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST)
and the Articles of Association of the Company, and

4) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier.

{See Explanatory Note (i)) (Resolution 6)

R | of Shareholders' Mandate for | d Person Transactions

That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual:

(a) approval be given for the renewal of the mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated
companies or any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested
Person Transactions as set out in the on pages 3 to 7 of the Company's Letter to Shareholders dated 13
April 2011 (the "Letter”) with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons described in the Letter,
provided that such transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the
review procedures of the Company for such Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Letter (the
“Shareholders’ Mandate);

(b) the Shareholders' Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue
in force untit the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier; and

c) authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts and things (including
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient
to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate as they may think fit

[See Explanatory Note (ii)] (Resolution 7)
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By Order of the Board

Ng Peishi Loseana
Secretary

Singapore, 13 Apnl 2011

Explanatory Notes:

(i) The Ordinary Resolution € in fem 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion
of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the carlier,
to issue shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a
number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of issued shares in the captal of the Company, of which up to 20% may
be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be calcutated
based on the total number of issued shares in the capral of the Company {excluding treasury shares) at the time this Ordinary
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share
options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this Ordinary Resolution is passed and
any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares

(i)  The Ordinary Resolution 7 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions as described in
the Letter and recurring in the year and will empower the Directors of the C to do all acts r y to give effect to the
Shareholders’ Mandate. This authority will, uniess previously revoked or vaned by the Company in a general meeting, expire at
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the eardier.

Notes:

1 A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitied to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his/her
stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 50 Raffles Place, #32-01
i Land Tower, Si ¢ 048623 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for hokling the Meeting.
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LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD. IRPORTANT:

20040 For nvestors who have used thes CPF monses 1o buy Lizhong vwheel

mpary Reg's".ahon No. 7196C Group Ltd s shares. this Report 8 orwarded to Twm at the request of

.«corporated In The Republic of Singapore) the CPF Approved Nommeaes and la sent sololy FOR INFORMATION
ony

2 This Proxy Form @ not valki for use by CPF nvestors and shall be
ineflective for a8l Intents and PUTPOSeY ¢ LIS Of purporied to be uUsed

PROXY FORM by them

(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form) 3 CPF Investors who wish {0 attend the Meeting a9 an observer must
submit ther (equUests thiough ther CPF Approved Nominees wihin the
time tame specified If they 8130 wish 10 voie, they must SubME thetr
VOUNg INSrLCtoNns © the CPF Approved Nominees within The tme frame
specfied to enabie Tem 10 vo® on thex benal!

IWe

of.
being a member/members of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. {the *Company"), hereby appoint.

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

| No. of Shares %

Address

and/or (delete as appropnate)

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares %

Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/
proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting (the *Meeting”) of the Company to be held
on Friday, 29 Aprii 2011 at 10:00 a.m. and at any adjournment thereof. |A\We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or
against the Resolutions proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given or
In the event of any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjoumment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or
abstain from voting at hisiher discretion. The authority herein includes the right to demand or to join in demanding a poll
and to vote on a poll.

(Please indicate your vote “For" or “Against” with a tick {V] within the box provided.)

No.| Resolutions relating to: For Against
1 Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2010
2 Approva!l of one-tier tax exempt dividend of RMB5.0 cents (equivalent to

approximately 0 971 Singapore cents) per share in respect of the financial year
ended 31 December 2010

3a Re-election of Mr Zang Liguo as a Director
3b Re-election of Mr Zhao Qinghua as a Director
4 Approval of Directors’ Fees amounting to RMB562,162 (equivalent to

$$109,408)
5 Re-appointment of Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors
6 Authority to issue new shares
7 Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
Dated this day of. 2011 Total number of shares in g:azs

| (a) COP Register
(b) Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)
or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder

I
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Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you
have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares If you have Shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you
should insent the aggregate number of Shares entered against your nome in the Dep y Reg and reg d in your
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxics shall be deemed to
relate to all the Shares held by you

2 A member of the Company entitied to attend and vote at a meeting of the Comyasy s entitied to appoint one or two proxies to
attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3 Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless hefshe specifies the proportion of his/her
g (exp as a p ge of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. Completion and retum of this instrument appointing a proxy shaJi not lude a ber from g and voting at the
Meeting. Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed tn- be revoked if 3 member attends the meeting in person, and
in such evert, the Company reserves the nght to refuse to admt amy parson of persons appointed under the instrument of proxy
to the Meeting.

S. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposikact aff e Whare registrar of the Company at 50 Raffles Place. #32-
01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not less than 48 fours before the time appointed for the Meeting

6 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attomey duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy of proxics is executed by a poration, it must be sted ether under its
seal or under the hand of an officer orantrermy; duly auvrorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxses is executed
by an attomey on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the
instrument.

7. A corporation which is a member may authonse by resolution of its directors or other goveming body such person as it thinks fit
to act as ite representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore

General;

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperty completed or
illegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, 18 not shown to have Shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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CORPORATE PROFILE

Strategically located in the Pan Bohai Sea region - an important automobile manufacturing base in the PRC, China
Wheel, listed on the main board of SGX, is a specialist in the design, manufacture and sale of aluminum alloy wheels,
with manutacturing facilities in Qinhuangdao and Baoding cities. China Wheel is committed to research and develop-
ment of new models of wheels, as well as improvement in product quality, production process, and optimization of
material utilization to improve cost efficiency. China Wheel meets strict international quality standards such as QS8000,
ISO/TS16949, TUV (Germany), SFI (USA) and VIA (Japan). China Wheel manufactures and sells more than 300
models ranging from 12 to 24 inches in diameter, many of which are designs patented by China Wheel. These are sold
via a multi-channe! sales strategy that includes OEM sales to local automobile manufacturers and established wheel
manufacturers, Retail sales to consumers through its nation-wide network of 40 distributors covering major provinces in
the PRC and Expart sales to international wheel distributors in USA, Europe, Japan and South Korea. With world-wide
demand for automobile wheels in the OEM and retail markets at no less than 330 miilion wheels per year, China Wheel
is set to benefit fram this significant demand.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | am pleased to present to
you the annual report of Lizhong Wheel Group for the financial
yeor ended 31 December 2009.

Rising to the challenge

Hoving started writing my previous Chairman Statement amidst
one of the worst financial crisis In a generation, it gives me great
pride to say that the Group has risen to the chollenge and has
come out even stronger this past year.

Our three pronged strategic approoch of:
1. Improving utilization rate while Implementing cost atting

measures;

2. Focusing on domestic Original Equipment Monufodurer
{*OEM") and ofter sales markets;

3. Emphasizing on R&D to produce lighter yet affordable wheels
with greater tuel efficiency, without compromising on safety;

has provided an ideol foil ogainst the adverse economic conditions,

allowing the Group to further strengthen its market leading

position.

Aided by PRC Government meosures to stimulate outomofive
demand in the first quarter of 2009, we have also seen sales of
passenger cars reach 10.0 million units in 2009. This phenomenal
growth has resulted in China edipsing the United States to become

the number 1 automotive market in tha world.

Buoyed by the improving economic outlook and the success of our
strotegic measures, we hove manoged to push sales pass the |

billion RMB mark; o mojor milestone in the Group’s history.

The Year In Review

Owur turnover increcsed by 9.2% from RMB91 6.6 million in FY2008
to RMB1,001.3 million, as we recorded double digit growth in our
OEM and retall segments. Gross proflt margins are also gradually
returning to pre-crisis lavels, as we continved to experience
improving utillzotion rotes and o lower average akuminum price of
RfRMB13,765 per tonne over the course of the year. Gross margins
improved to 15.0% in 2009 versus 14.1% in 2008.

Through this and stringent cost control measures we were able to
arrest the severe profit deterioration experlenced In the Arst half
of 2009, 10 post a net profit of RMB43.3 million for the whole year.
Of this, o substontial 87.5% was recorded only in the second half
of 2009, a clear outlook.

1o the improving bus!
Investing in the future

Following our benefkial move upstream into the manufacture ot
moulds in 2008, we hove continved to invest in new technologies
and processes thot will ensure the long term sustainobility of
Lizhong Wheel.

This post year, we have made inroads in two new process
technologles namely, flow forming and low-pressure bllateral
casting. With the incorporation of these new processes we will be
able to offer lighter, stronger ond .cverull better quality products
to our customers, bringing our ronge of volue added services to

onother level.

To dote, we are oble 1o offer over 1,000 different models of
aluminum alloy wheels to our customers, providing a diverse product

set for oll their needs.




Positioned for growth

Sensing the Improving consumer sentiments ocross the globe, we have clso restarted our production copocity expansion plans.

in November 2009, we began production at our inner Mongolia plant with an Initial output of 1 mlllon wheels per year. With its stoble
production and Increasing orders, we plon to add a capocity of another 500,000 wheels by year end to bring its total copacity to 1.5

million wheels per year.

The expansion work at our Tianjin Plant Phase il project is also on tradk to bagin in 2010 ond we expect to add another 1.0 million

copadty line by the end of May. This will bring the copacity of our Tionjin plont to 3.0 million wheels.

The addition of these two facilities along with our existing base in Qinhuangdao and Baoding, will boost our total production capacity to
8.1 million wheets from the current 6.6 million wheels per annum by the end of 2010. Depending on market conditions, we look to further
increase copacity to 9.8 million wheels by 2011.

Meeting challenges head on

According to figures released by the China Assoclation of Automobile Manufacturers, total vehide sales soared by 84% from a year

earller to 2.87 million units in the fist 2 months of 2010. Despite the robust sales figures from China’s domestic automotive market,

chollenges still remain for the Group. In porticular, the ongoing ingy on the ch ing of all alloy wheels by the European Union
could have some impact on the Group's export sales.
Although the findings of the Europ ¢ will ondy be din ber 2010, we have alrecdy started to imptement

measures to mitigate its potemial impact. These include the opening up of new markets, the strengthening of relationships with existing

customers and forming new partnerships.

On the geographic expansion front, we have alreody expanded our footprint into Australio and hove established partnerships with o

maijor outomaker there. Encouraged by this devel we will inue 10 strengthen our market presence in major automotive markets

like Jopan, Korea and the United States.

We will also look towards diversifying our customer base. This year sow the addition of a few new cutomotive brands to our staple of
customers, the good mix of international ond domestic brands should help us spread out our exposure towards any one market. Having

signed the necessary contractual agreements, we have already started shipping to these new S

Dividend

Given the opportunities availoble for growth ond the Group's expansion plans, the Board of Lizhong has decided 1o refrain from issuing
dividends for FY2009. We believe the ultimate benefit from our Invesiments in capacity expansion, will start to flow In shortly and hope

to reward shareholders for their support when it comes to fruition.
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Appraciafion

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my utmost appreciation to our customers, directors and business ossociates for your pport
and bellef through these challenging fimes. | would also like to thank the management ond stoff for your dedication and commitment.
Without your professiondlism, loyalty and understanding family members, Lizhong would not be able to achleve what It has done so far.

Last but not least, | would like to extend my thanks to our shareholders, | apprectate the confidence and loyalty you have shown towards
Lizhong Wheet. | look forward to meeting you at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 30th April 2010.

Yours falthfully

Zang Lligen

Executive Chairman
4™ April 2010
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OPERATION’S REVIEW

The following discussion is based upon, and shouid be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements
of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. {"Lizhong Wheel® or *the Group"), including the notes thereto.

Except as otherwise noted, financial and statistical information presented in this report for Lizhong Wheel is on a consolidated
basis

Operating Results

Revenue Year ended Year ended Change
31 Dec 2009 31 Dec 2008 +1(-}
RMB’ Milllon % RMB' Million % %
OEM 6535 653 5739 62.6 138
Retatt 1185 18 845 9.2 40.2
Export 2128 21.2 253.1 276 -159
Others 16.5 17 50 06 2300
Totat 1.001.3 100.0 916.5 100.0 92

The Group's decision to focus on the more China centric Original Equipment Manufacturer ("OEM") and Retail segments
of its business rather than the depressed export market has borne fruit this past year. Boosted by higher revenue from the
OEM segment of approximately RMB79.6 million and the Retail segment of approximately RMB34.0 million, the Group was
able push ils total revenue past the1 billion RMB mark for the first time ever.

Revenue increased by RMB84 8 million from RMB916.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2008 to RMB1,001.3
million for this year. Adding to the healthy growth from the OEM and retail segments was the Group's others segment,
which saw an increase in revenue of RMB11.5 million. The increase was able to offset the approximately RMB40.3 million
decrease in revenue from the export business segment.

Depreciation and amortization increased by RMB8.4 million in 2009 as a result of additional property, plant, and equipment
from the Group's new Tianjin plant.

In line with the higher revenue, gross profitincreased by 15.9% from RMB129.3 million in 2008 to RMB148.9 million in 2008
Gross profit margin also improved by 0.9 percentage points to 15.0%, due to the non-recurrence of a loss on aluminum
futures of RMB10.8 millton incurred in 2008 and the better apportion of fixed costs from an improvement in the utilization
rate of production facilities

Other operating income decreased by RMB20.1 million and other operating expenses increased by RMB2.9 million in
2009. This was largely due to the change of fair value on embedded derivatives and a foreign exchange loss arising from
the depreciation of RMB against US dollars. The foreign exchange loss was largely due to the revaluation of US dollar
liabilities.




Distribution costs rose by RMB7.0 million to RMB25.7 million, mainly due to the increase in credit insurance premium,
agency fee and delivery expenses resulting from the higher sales Administrative expenses increased by RMBO.7 million to
RMBS58.0 million, as the Group incurred higher research and development expenses of RMB2.6 million and social insurance
premiums of RMB1.1 million. The increase was partially offset by the decrease in other miscellaneous expenses.

Finance costs increased by approximately RMBO.5 million to RMB17.1 million in 2009 as compared with RMB16.6 miilion
in 2008. Of this approximatety RMB11.0 million of net borrowing costs was capitalized as part of the cost of the asset in
accordance with the FRS 23 accounting standard, instead of being recognized as finance costs in 2009

Income tax expense amounted to RMB 5.5 million in 2009
Allin, profit attributable to equity holders of the Group amounted to RMB43.3 million.
Financial Position

Property, plant and equipment increased by approximately RMB14.3 million to RMB449 3 million as at 31 December 2008
as compared with RMB435.0 million as at 31 December 2008. This was largely due to the acquisition of machinery and
production equipment of RMB45.3 million and the capitalization of finance costs of RMB10.7 million, partally offset by
depreciation of RMB43.2 million

Prepayment for construction in progress decreased by RMB4.9 million as part of prepayment was transferred to property,
plant, and equipment. This was due 1o further progress made on its new Tianjin ptant

Inventories increased by approximately RMB27.2 million to RMB153.7 million as at 31 December 2009 as compared to
RMB126.5 million as at 31 December 2008. The increase was mainly due to an increase in finished goods.

Trade receivables increased by RMB186.0 million to RMB435.9 million as at 31 December 2009, mainly due to the higher
sales recorded in the fourth quarter. Improvement in customer sentiment resulted in the Group recording 35.4% of its total
sales in the fourth quarter.

Other receivables decreased by RMB15.6 million to RMB34 4 million. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease in value-
added tax refund of RMB10.9 million.

Trade payables increased by approximately RMB141.6 million to RMB289 5 million as at 31 December 2009 as compared
to RMB147.9 million as at 31 December 2008, mainly due to higher aluminum prices and more material purchases in the
fourth quarter of 2009 to meet increasing customer orders.

The Group's convertible bonds have been reclassified from non-current liabilities to current liabilities due to its redemption
by the Group. Proceeds of US$24 4 million raised from the issue of the convertible bonds have been fully invested in Tianjin
plant at the end of December 2009 On 10th February 2010, the Group entered into an agreement with the Bondholder for
the full redemption of its outstanding convertible bonds for US$15.0 million.
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Liquidity and Capitai Resources

The Group's business continues to demonstrate its steady cash generating capabilities, as it continued to record strong
net cash from operating activities of RMB56.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to RMB&3.4 million and was mainly for the purchase of new equipment.
Net cash used in financing actvities of RMB64.2 million was mainly due to the repayment of borrowings.

Overall, the Group's cash and cash equivalents remains at a healthy RMB62.1 million as at 31 December 2009.
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Revenue

RMB'000
120,000 -
100,000 1
80,000 A 760,370
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20,000 1
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Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company

RMB’000

120,000 -

100,000 -

7,
80,000 4 8,345

58,966
60,000 4
43,320

40,000 4
20,000 4

P

2005 2006 2008 2009

Actual
RMB’000 : FY2005 FY2006 FY2007 FY2008 FY2009
Revenue 492,635 760,370 905,422 916,569  1001,328
Profit Before Income Tax 61,288 73.801 105,678 62,951 52,573
Profit Attibutable to Equity Holders of the Company 58,956 78,345 104,843 53,385 43,320
Total Assets 510,332 692,556 1,051,098 1,106,448 1,243,526
Total Liabilities 280,070 400,508 658,084 677,717 767,722
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company 225,578 287,941 376,332 412,795 456,115
Cash and Cash Equivalents ’ 47,482 84,657 154,863 133,249 62,102
Earnings Per Share (RMB cents) 30.15 33.33 44.61 2271 18.43
Net Operating Cash Flow 33,643 64,933 24 967 122,362 56,451




BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

Mr Zang Ligen
Executive Chairman

Mr Zang Ligen, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive Chairman and is responsible for the overall management
of our Group He has approximately 22 years of relevant experience in the manutfacture and processing of aluminium alloy
and more than nine years of relevant experience in the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels.

Mr Zang Ligen, together with our other Executive Directors, established Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing
Co., Ltd in 1984 (now known as Hebei Lizhong), a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of
aluminium alioy. In 1995, Mr Zang, together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding Wheel to undertake
the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels and was its chairman from 1995 to 2000 and from 2004 to date. in 1996, he
was appointed deputy chairman of Baoding tongda Aluminium Co., Ltd, a company pnncipally engaged in manufacture and
processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as its deputy chairman to date. In 1997, he became chairman of Hebei Lizhong
and remains as its chairman to date. In 2001, he was appointed chairman of Chongging Lizhong, a company principally
engaged in the sale of aluminium alloy wheels, and Meilu Alloy, a company principally engaged in the manufacture and
processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as their chairman to date. In 2002, he was appointed chairman of Qinhuangdao
Dicamry and remains as its chairman to date. In 2003, he was appointed chairman of Guangzhou Lizhong Jishan Alloy Co.,
Ltd, a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy, and remains as its chairman to
date. He has held several notable positions such as deputy to the 10th People's Congress of Hebei Province (since 2003),
deputy head of China Non-ferrous Metals Industry Association, Recycled Metals Division (since 2002), and committee
member of Hebei Provincial Township Enterprise Association (1996-2001)

Mr Zang was awarded a certificate for being the main contributor in relation to the A356 aluminium, silicon, magnesium and
titanium alloy products of high purity in 1999 by Hebei Provincial Science and Technology Committee and a certificate to
recognise him as outstanding factory head of Township Enterprise in Hebei Province in 1999

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 11




@«

Mr Zang Lizhong
Executive Director

Mr Zang
Executive Director

Liguo

Mr Zang Lizhong, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive
Director and assists our Executive Chairman in the management,
supervision and co-ordination of the business of the Group. Mr Zang
Lizhong, together with our other Executive Directors, established
Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing Co., Ltd in 1984 (now
known as Hebel Lizhong), a company principally engaged in the
manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy. In 1995. Mr Zang,
together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding
Wheel to undertake the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels and
was appointed its deputy general manager. where he was responsible
for production and technological development. In 1997 he became
deputy chairman of Hebei Lizhong and remains as its deputy
chairman to date. From 2000 to 2004, he was appointed chairman of
Baoding Wheel. Mr Zang Lizhong was appointed visiting professor of
Baoding Junior College of Finance in 2004. He was appointed deputy
president of the 2nd Standing Committee of the Federation of Industry
and Commerce of the North District of Baoding (General Chamber of
Commerce) in 2003.

Mr Zang Liguo, one of the founders of our Group, is our Executive
Director and assists our Executive Chairman in the management,
supervision and coordination of the business of the Group.

Mr Zang Liguo. together with our other Executive Directors, established
Qingyuan County Joint Supply and Marketing Co., Ltd in 1984 (now
known as Hebei Lizhong), a company principaily engaged in the
manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy. In 1995, Mr Zang,
together with our other Executive Directors, established Baoding
Wheel to undertake the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels
From 1996 to 1997, he was appointed as deputy general manager of
Baoding Longda Aluminium Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged
in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy. In 1998, he
was appointed charrman of Sitong Aluminium, a company principally
engaged in the processing of scap aluminum alloy into reusable
aluminium alloy ingots In 2001, he was appointed deputy chairman
cum general manager of Pioneer, a company principally engaged
in the provision of electroplating services. and remains its deputy
chairman to date.




Mr Zhao Qinghua
Independent Director

Mr Zhao Qinghua is our Independent Director .

He was a teacher at the Faculty of Economics Management of Hebei Geological College (now known as Economic University
of Shijiazhuang) from 1978 to 1984 and at Baoding Junior College of Finance from 1984 to 1988. From 1989 to 1995, he
was an economics adviser to Baoding Nonferrous Metals Processing Factory (now known as Hebei Lizhong) and Baoding
Lizhong Nonferrous Metals Co., Ltd. He was concurrently a lawyer of Baoding City Economics Law Firm and Baoding City
Jintang Law Firm from 1988 to 1991 and from 1991 to 1994 respectively. From 1996 to 1997, he was appointed general
manager of Baoding Longda Aluminium Co., Ltd, a company principally engaged in the manufacture and processing of
aluminium alloy. From 1898 to 2002, he was appointed general manager of Hebei Lizhong, a company principally engaged
in the manufacture and processing of aluminium alloy.

Currently, he is an associate professor of Baoding Junior College of Finance. He holds a Diploma in Economics Management
(Geology) from Hebei Geology College. He also holds a Diploma in Accountancy from the Renmin University of China. He
is concurrently the research fellow of China Township Enterprise Research Institute He also holds various positions such as
committee member of the Chinese People's Political Consuitative Conference of Hebei Provincial Committee, deputy head
of the Taiwan, Hong Kong, Macau Compatroits Commission of Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference Baoding,
committee member of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Baoding and member of Jiu San Society
Baoding Municipal Committee.
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Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Independent Director

Mr Chua Hung Meng
Independent Director

Mr Ong Tiew Siam 1s our Independent Director.

He obtained his Bachelor of Commerce (Accountancy/ Honours) from
the Nanyang University in Singapore in 1974 He is presently a fellow
member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants, Singapore and
Australia, and a member of Singapore Institute of Directors. Mr Ong
has wide and varied business experience in different industries. Mr Ong
started his career with Arthur Andersen as an audit assistant in 1978. After
he left Arthur Andersen, he joined Singapore Automotive Engineering Pte
Ltd as a finance officer From 1982 to 1983, he was the finance manager
of Acmil S E.Asia Pte Ltd (a subsidiary of ACI International Ltd, which
was then listed on the Australian Stock Exchange). He joined Tat Hong
Holdings Ltd in 1883 as the finance and administration manager and was
appointed group financial controller and company secretary in 1997 and
executive director in 1999. He has resigned as executive director with
effect from 1 January 2010 and remained as non-executive director of
the company.

Mr Ong is also the independent director of several listed companies.

Mr Chua Hung Meng is our Independent Director.

In the early part of his banking career, Mr Chua worked in various
domestic and international banks including Industrial and Commercial
Bank, Singapore, AMRO Bank (Singapore Branch), Credit Suisse
(Singapore Branch). He was Head of Placement in London Forfaiting
Asia Pacific Ltd in Hong Kong from 1995 to 1997 From 1997 to 1999, he
was Head of Piacement in SouthQuay Global Markets Ltd in Hong Kong
and from 1999 to 2001, he held a number of positions at Vickers Ballas
& Co Pte Ltd. Mr Chua currently holds a senior position with a Singapore
branch of a European Bank, a position he has held since 2002

He attained his Bachelor of Business Administration from the National
University of Singapore in 1981, and received a Masters for Professional
Accounting from The University of Southern Queensland in 2003




KEY

Mr Zhang Jianliang
Group Chief Executive Officer

Mr Zhang Jianliang is CEQ of the Group He is responsible
for assisting the Board to formulate and implement the
business strategies of the Group, and oversees the day-
to-day operations of our Group. From 1987 to 1988, he
was a technical officer of CITIC Bohal Aluminium Co. Ltd
From 1988 to 1995, he was the head of machining and
sales department of Dicastal Wheel He was seconded by
Dicastal Wheel to Baoding Wheel from 1995 to 1999. He
was the general manager of Baoding Wheel from 1995 to
2001 and from 2004 to date. He is concurrently the general
manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry from 2002 to date. He
is currently also a professor of Baoding Junior College
of Finance and a technology consultant of GIMA GmbH
(located in Goeppingen, Germany) He holds a Bachelor
Degree in Mechanical Engineering from the Faculty of
Machinery from Beijing Institute of Chemical Technology
(now known as Beijing University of Chemical Technology).

Mr Zhang Jinli
Group Chief Financial Officer

Mr Zhang Jinli is Chief Financial Officer of the Group. He
is responsible for the financial management of our Group.
From 1991 to 1996. he was a product design personnel
of Baoding Transformer Factory (now known as Tianwei
Baobian Co., Ltd) where he was responsible for product
design and development. From 1999 to 2000, he was an
auditor with Shenzhen Zhonghua Accounting Firm, where
he was responsible for the audit of listed companies in
the PRC. From 2000 to 2004, he was an investment
manager of Guangdong Hualong Group Company Limited
He holds a bachelor degree in etectric machinery studies
and a Bachelor Degree in Technological Economics from
Tianjin University and obtained a Masters in Management
from Renmin University of China. He is currently a non-
practicisingmember of the PRC Certified PublicAccountants’
Association and a fellow member of the Association of
Charted Certified Accountants
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Mr Wei Jijian

Vice-President

Mr Wei Jijian is Vice-President of the Group, and he also
serves as standing Deputy General Manager of Baoding
Wheel, having been with our Group since February 2003.
He is in charge of production management in Baoding
Wheel. From 1970 to 1996, he was a production worker
and was subsequently promoted to head one of the
production workshops of Tianjin Car Engine Factory. From
1996 to 2002, he was in charge of casting operations of
Tianjin Fengtian Car Engines Co. Ltd. From 2003 to 2004,
he was the production manager and assistant to the general
manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry. He was appointed the
deputy general manager of Baoding Wheel in 2004, He
holds a Diploma in Business Management from School of
Communist Party of China (CPC) Tianjin Committee

Mr Ji Guofu
Deputy General Manager of R&D and Quality Control

Mr Ji Guofu is Deputy General Manager of Baoding Whee!
and Qinhuangdao Dicamry, and has been with our Group
since 1998. He is in charge of R&D and Quality Controt
and responsible for our Group’s technology systems,
development of new products and quality control. Prior to
joining our Group, he served as a technician of Nanchang
Hongdu Machinery Factory from 1986 to 1992. From 1992
to 1998, he was the head of Xiamen City Chengdong
Machinery Factory. He was appointed as deputy general
manager and chief engineer of Baoding Wheel in 1998.
He obtained a Diploma in Machine-8uilding Technology
and Equipment from Nanchang Airplane Manufacturing
Company Polytechnic Institute in 1390

Mr Liu Baoxing

Deputy General Manager of Procurement and Sales

Mr Liu Baoxing is Deputy General Manager of Baoding
Wheel and has been with our Group since 1996. He is
responsible for the procurement and sales of our Group
From 1991 to 1996, he was a sales personne! of Hebei
Province Qingyuan County Foreign Trade Integrated
Processing Factory where he was responsible for sales.
In 1996, he joined Baoding Wheel as a sales executive,
and has since held various positions of deputy sales
manager, sales manager, assistant to general manager and
deputy general manager. He holds a Diploma in Industrial
Economics (Management of Rural Enterprises) from the
Department of Economics of Hebei University

Mr Song Zhao Yi

General Manager

Mr Song Zhao Yi is General Manager of Tianjin Dicastal
and has been with our Group since April 2006. From 1992
to 1995, he was an engineer with the Manufacture & Repair
Branch Factory of Fushun Aluminum Plant. From 1985
to 2005, he joined Fushun Shunhua Aluminium Wheet
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. and rose through the ranks to the
position of general manager. From 2005 to 2006, he was
the general manager of CAM Automotive Manufacturing
(Fushun) Co., Lid. In 2007, he was appointed General
Manager of Tianjin Dicastal. He obtained his professional
training in the areas of casting techniques and equipment
at the Jinzhou Institute of Technology
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Mr Liu Bin

General Manager

Mr Liu Bin is General Manager of Inner Mongolia Lizhong
Huomei and has been with our Group since March 2004
Prior to joining our Group, he served as an engineer and
subsequently manager of Shenyang Aerospace Xinguang
Power Machine Corporation from 1992 to 1996. From
1997 to 2004, he held the position of section leader
and subsequently supervisor of Shenyang Aerospace
Mitsubishi Co. In 2007, he was appointed General Manager
of Inner Mongolia Lizhong Huomei. He graduated from the
Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology in 1992 and
has a Master's in Business Administration from Central
State Unwversity in the United States

Mr Tian Baoji

Deputy General Manager

Mr Tian Baoji is Deputy General Manager of Tianjin Lizhong
Wheel and has been with our Group since 1995. From 1990
to 1994, he worked at the Baoding Machine Tool Plant. From
1995 to 2002, he was the supervisor of the plant at Baoding
Lizhong. From 2002 to March 2005, he was appotnted as the
assistant to the general manager and head of operations in
Qinhuangdao Dicamry Heand was later promoted to deputy
general manager of Tianjin Lizhong Wheel in November
2007. He holds a degree in Economics from the Hebei
University of Technology and professional certifications as
an assistant engineer.

Mr Cao Weize

General Manager

Mr Cao Weize is General Manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry
and has been with our Group since March 2005. From 1988
to 1990. he held the position of journalist at the Baoding
Radio Station in the Hebei province. From 1990 to 2001,
he served as a clerk, and various judiciary positions in the
Intermediate People’s Court in Baoding city. In the period of
1997 to 2000, he studied law at Renmin University of China.
From July 2001 to March 2005, he served as the Secretary
of the Board at Hebe! Lizhong. From March 2005 to October
2007, he held the position of operations manager within
Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd and subsequently appointed to
be the deputy general manager of Qinhuangdao Dicamry In
November 2007. He holds a degree in Master of Law from
the Renmin University of China.

Mr Zhao Qishan

Deputy General Manager

Mr Zhao Qishan is Deputy General Manager of Tianjin
Dicastal and has been with the company since 2001. From
1996 to 2000, he was a production worker at Hebe: Lizhong
and was subsequently promoted to the head of the facility.
Between June 2000 and February 2001, he was the head
of production at Baoding Longda Aluminium Ltd. From 2001
to 2007 he held various positions including head of casting,
heat treatment, production and deputy head of quality
control From 2007, he has been serving in the position
of deputy general manager of Tianjin Dicastal. He holds
professional certifications as an assistant engineer.
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Mr Bai Jiuli
Deputy General Manager

Mr Bai Jiuli is Deputy General Manager of Inner Mongolia
Lizhong Huomei, and is responsible for overseeing
production and quality control. He joined the Group in 2007.
From 1982 to 1999, he worked for the Huolin River Mining
Bureau, holding various positions as technician, engineer,
section leader, senior engineer and director. From 1999 to
2001, he served as the manager for the assembly facility in
Inner Mongolia Huomei Group. From 2001 to 2007, he held
the position of assistant general manager of logistics

and technical safety at the Shenzhen Gong Suda logistics
Municipal Corporation. In October 2007, he was appointed
as the deputy general manager of Inner Mongolia Lizhong
Huomei. He holds a diploma in automotive studies and
engineering from the Anhui College.

Mr Wang Xianbin

Deputy General Manager

Mr Wang Xianbin is Deputy General Manager of Tianjin
Nano Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd.. From July
1985 to March 2000, he worked as a technician in Hebei
Tianye Automobite Group Co., Ltd. From March 2000 to
October 2008, he had been with Baoding Lizhong Wheel
Manufacturing Co., Ltd, and served as head of production
department. In November 2008, he was appointed as the
current position, in charge of the overall management He
attained Bachelor degree of machine manufacturing in
Hebei University of Electromechanics.

Mr Duan Wentan

Deputy General Manager

Mr Duan Wentan is Deputy General Manager of Inner
Mongolia Lizhong Huomei, and is responsible for
procurement and sales, having been with our Group since
1995 From 1982 to 1987, he was running his personal
business. From 1987 to 1984, he worked at Zhongli
Eiderdown Facility. From 1994 to 1995, he worked at the
Baoding aluminium alloy plant. From 1985 to 2007, he was
appointed the head of the heat treatment workshop and
subsequently the head of the procurement department. He
holds professional certifications as an assistant engineer

Mr Hou Junfeng
Deputy General Manager

Mr Hou Junfeng i1s the Deputy General Manager of Inner
Mongolia Lizhong Huomei and has been with our Group
since November 2007. Prior to joining our Group, he served
as a technician and subsequently engineer and technology
section leader of Tongliao Forging Machine Tool Plant from
August 1983 to May 1934. From June 1994 to August 2007,
he sucessively held the position of Deputy Chief Engineer in
Tongliao Tongshun Aluminium Co , Ltd, the Chief Engineer of
the aluminium plant of Zhengzhou Faxiang Aluminium Co.,
Ltd and the branch factory manager and branch secretary
in Zhongdian Huomei-Hongjun Aluminium Co.. Ltd. Then,
he joined Huomei Group and was appointed as the Deputy
General Manager of Inner Mongolia Lizhong Huomei Wheel
Manufacturing Co., Ltd in November 2007. He graduated
from Jilin University of Technology in 1983.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board") of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. (the "Company” or “Lizhong Wheel")
is committed to high standards of corporate governance by complying with the benchmark set by the
Code of Corporate Governance 2005 (the "Code™)

This report outlines Lizhong Wheel's corporate govemance framework in place with specific reference
to the revised Code issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST")

In July 2005, the Singapore Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance issued a revised Code
of Corporate Governance (the “2005 Code") that superseded and replaced the Code of Corporate
Governance that was issued in March 2001 (the “2005 Code”) Companies are required to disclose their
corporate governance practices and explain deviations from the 2005 Code in their annual reports for
annual general meetings held from 1 January 2008 onwards. The Board has adhered to the principles
and guidelines set out in the 2005 Code as set out In this report

(A) BOARD MATTERS

Prnnciple 1. Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company
The Board is collectively responsible for the success of the company The Board works
with Management to achieve this, and Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board of Directors as at the date of this Report comprises -

Date of Appointment  Date of last re-election CG Guideline
46
Mr Zang Ligen {Executive Chairman) 10 June 2004 30 April 2009
Mr Zang Lizhong {Executive Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2007
Mr Zang Liguo {Executive Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2008
Mr Zhao Qinghua (Independent Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2008
Mr Ong Tiew Siam  (Independent Director) 30 May 2005 30 April 2009
Mr Chua Hung (Independent Director) 24 August 2005 30 April 2007

Meng
The detail profiles of the directors are set out on pages 11 to 14 of this Annual Report
The Board's role is to:

1 provide entrepreneunal leadership, set strategic aims, and ensure that the necessary financial and  CG Guideline
human resources are in ptace for the Group to meet its objectives; 11

2. establish a framework of prudent and effective controls which enables risk to be assessed and
managed;

3. review Management performance: and

4. setthe Group's values and standards, and ensure that obligations to shareholders and others are
understood and met

The Board regularly reviews the business plans and the financial performance of the Group The
Board has overall responsibility for putting in place a framework of good corporate governance in
the Group, including the processes for financial reporting and compliance All Board members bring
their independent judgement. diversified knowledge and experience to bear on issues of strategy,
performance. resources and standards of conduct.
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The Board has identified a number of areas for which the Board has direct responsibility for decision- CG

making The Board's approval is required in matters such as major funding proposals, investméntand  Guidelines
divestment proposals, major acquisiton and disposal, corporate or financial restructuning, mergers and .15, 1.6 and
acquisitions, share issuance, dividends policy and major corporate policies on key areas of operation, 1.7

the release of quarterly, half yearly and fuli year results and interested person transactions of a material

nature

The Board also ensures that incoming new Directors are familiarized with the Group's businesses and
corporate governance practices upon their appointment to facilitate the effective discharge of their
duties.

A formal letter is provided to each director upon his appointment. setting out the director’s duties and
obligations

To assist the Board in the discharge of its responsibilities, the Board has established Audit Committee  CG Guideline
(AC). Remuneration Committee (RC). Nominating Committee (NC) and Management Committee (MC) 13
These Commuittees function within clearly defined terms of reference and operating procedures, which

are reviewed on a regular basis by the Board The Board also constantly reviews the effectiveness of

each Committee

The Board meets on a regular basis and as and when necessary to address any specific significant CG Guideline
matters that may anse. Ad hoc meetings will be convened to deliberate on urgent substantive matters 14
when necessary Attendance by means of telephone and conference via audio-visual communications

at Board meetings 1s allowed under the Company's Article of Association

Management Committee (MC)

The MC has the responsibilities in assisting our Board n coordinating, supervising and managing the
operations of the Group. As at the date of this Report. the MC comprises the following members -

Mr Zang Lizhong (Chairman and Executive Director)
Ms Zang Xiufen {(Nominee of Zang Ligen)
Ms Shi Hui (Manager, Finance Department)

The MC has adopted its own terms of reference that describes the responsibilittes of the members.

The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the financial year 31 December 2009  CG Guideline

and the attendance of directors during these meetings 1s set out as follows 14
Remuneration N
Name Board Audit Committee Committes c . e,

No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of No. of

held attended held attended held attended held attended held attended

Mr Zang 4 4 NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA
tigen
Mr Zang 4 4 NA N.A NA NA NA NA 1 1
Lizhong
Mr Zang 4 0 NA N.A NA N.A NA N A NA NA
Liguo
Mr Zhao 4 3 4 3 1 1 1 1 NA NA
Qinghua !
Mr Ong Tiew 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 NA N.A
Siam
Mr Chua 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 NA NA
Hung Meng
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Principle 2. There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise
objective judgement on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management
No individual or smalil group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board's
decision making

The Board comprises three executive directors and three independent non-executive directors Principle 2,
CG

There is presently a good balance between the executive and non-executive Directors and a strong and Guidelines

independent element on the Board. The Board, through the delegation of its authority to the Nominating 21and4.3

Committee ("NC"). has used its best efforts to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess

the relevant background, expenience and knowledge in business, legal, finance and management skill

critical to the Group's business to enable the Board to make sound and well-considered decisions

The NC considers an “independent” Director as one who has no relationship with the Company, its
related companies or its officers that could interfere or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the
exercise of the Director’s independent judgment of the conduct of the Group's affairs and I1s not a
substantial shareholder, or a partner in (with 5% or more stake) or as executive officer of, any for-profit
business organization to which the Company made or form which the Company received significant
payments (aggregated over any financial year in excess of $$200,000) in the current or immediate past
financial year.

As a result of the NC's review of the independence of each Director for financial year 2009, the NC is of
the view that the independent Directors are independent of the Company's management as contemplated
by the Code, and further, that no individual or small group of individuals dominate the Board's decision
making process

As a group. the directors bring with them a broad range of industry knowledge, expertise and experience  CG Guideline
Each director has been appointed on the strength of his calibre, expenence and potential to contribute to 24

the Company and its businesses The directors bring valuable insights from different perspectives vital to

the strategic interests of the Company. The Board and NC have strived to ensure that members possess

the background, expenence, knowledge and skills necessary to promote Lizhong Wheel's business

and governance process, so as to enable the Board to make balanced and well-considered decisions.

The Board and the NC is of the view that its directors as a group possess the necessary competencies

necessary to lead and govern the Company effectively

Although all the directors have an equal responsibility for the Group's operations, the role of these CG Guideline
independent non-executive directors 1s particularly important in ensuring that the strategies proposed 25

by Management are constructively challenged. fully discussed and examined, and take account of the

long term interests, not only of the shareholders. but also of employees. customers, suppliers and the

many communities n which the Group conducts business The non-executive directors help to develop

proposals on strategy. The non-executive directors also review the performance of Management in

meeting agreed goals and objectives. and monitor the reporting of performance

Principle 3:  There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company - the
working of the Board and the executive responsibility of the company’s business - which
will ensure a balance of power and authority, such that no one individual represents a
considerable concentration of power,

There is a clear division of responsibiliies at the top management with clearly defined lines of CG
responsibility between the Board and executive functions of the management of Lizhong Wheel's Guidelines
business. The Board sets broad business guidelines. approves financial objectives and business 3.1and 3.2
strategies and monitors the standards of executive management performance on a periodic basis
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There is a distinctive separation of responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief Executve Officer
{"CEO") to ensure an appropnate balance of power. increased accountability and greater capacity of
the Board for independent decision-making. Zang Ligen, the Executive Chairman, is consulted on the
Group’s strategic direction and formulation of policies. The daily operation of the Groups is lead by the
CEO, Zhang Jianliang. He is assisted by a team of experienced and qualified executive officers of the
Group. -

The Chairman’s primary function is to manage the business of the Board and the Board committees, and
to promote harmonious relations with the shareholders. The Chairman's role with regard to the Board
proceedings is as follows

1. Schedules meetings that enable the Board to perform its duties responsibly while not interfering
with the flow of the Group's operations.

2. Prepares meeting agenda;

3. Exercises control over quality, quantity and timeliness of the flow of information between

management and the Board,

Assists in ensuring compliance with the Group's guidelines on corporate governance; and

5. Monitors communications and relations between the Company and its shareholders, between the
Board and Management, and between executive and non-executive directors and independent and
non-independent directors, with a view to encouraging constructive relations and dialogue amongst
them

IS

Pnnciple 4 There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors
to the Board

Nominating Committee

The Nominating Committee ("NC") comprises the following independent directors:

Mr Zhao Qinghua {Chairman}
Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Mr Chua Hung Meng

The NC meets at least once annually during the last financial year ended 31 December 2008. The
Chairman of the NC is neither a substantial shareholder of the Company nor directly associated with a
substantial shareholder of the Company.

The NC has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance with the Code that describes the
responsibilities of the members. Amongst them, the NC is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on all board appointments

The primary function of the NC is to determine the criteria for identifying candidates and to review
nominations for the appointment of Directors to the Board, to consider how the Board's performance
may be evaluated and to propose objective performance criteria for the Board's approval. Its duties and
functions are outlined as follows

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new executive and non-executive
Directors, including making recommendations on the composition of the Board generally and the
balance between executive and non-executive Directors appointed to the Board;

CcG
Guidelines
31and 3.2

CG Guideline
32

CG Guideline
4.1

CG Guideline
4.1

CG Guideline
41

CG Guideline
4.2
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2. to regularly review the Board structure. size and composition and make recommendations to the
Board with regards to any adjustments that are deemed necessary.

3. to be responsible for assessing nominees or candidates for appointment or election to the Board,
determining whether or not such nominee has the requisite qualifications and whether or not he/she
is independent. A description of the process for the selection and appointment of new Directors to
the Board shall be disclosed in the annual report. This should include disclosure on the search and
nomination process;

4. to make plans for succession. in particular for the Chairman and Chief Executive;

5 to determine. on an annual basis, if a Director is independent If the NC determines that a Director.
who has one or more of the relationships mentioned under the Code 1s in fact independent, the
Company should disclose in full. the nature of the Director’s relationship and bear responsibility for
explaining why he should be considered independent. Conversely, the NC has the discretion to
determine that 3 Director is non-independent even if the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2 1 of
the Codq do not apply to him.

6 to make recommendations to the Board for the continuation {or not) in services of any Director who
has reached the age of seventy (70) years;

7 torecommend Directors who are retiring by rotation to be put forward for re-election having regard
to the Director's contribution and performance (eg. attendance, preparedness, paricipation and
candour) including, if applicable, as an independent Director,

8. to decide whether or not a Director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his/her duties
as a Director of the Company, particularly when he/she has multiple board representations,

9. the NCshallrecommend tothe Board internal guidelines to address the competing time commitments
faced by Directors who serve on multiple boards;

10 to be responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole via a performance
evaluation conducted based on performance criteria set by the NC and approved by the Board and
for assessing the contribution of each individual Director to the effectiveness of the Board: and

11. the Chairman of the NC should act on the results of the performance evaluation, and where
appropriate, propose new members be appointed to the Board or seek the resignation of Directors,
in consultation with the NC

The NC reviews the size of the Board on an annual basis, and constders the present Board size as  CG Guideline
appropriate for the current scope and nature of the Group's operations. 23

Under the Company's Articles of Association, at least one third of the Company’s Directors are required  CG Guideline
to retire from office at every annual general meeting of the Company. Every Director must retire from 45
office at least once every three years and are eligible for re-election

In its search, nomination and selection process for new directors, the NC identifies the key attributes
that an incoming director should have, based on a matrix of the attnbutes of the existing Board and
the requirements of the Group After endorsement by the Board of the key attributes, the NC taps on
the resources of directors’ personal contacts and recommendations of potential candidates, and goes
through a shortlisting process If candidates identified from this process are not suitable, executive
recrutment agencies are appomnted to assist in the search process. Interviews are set up with potential
candidates for NC members to assess them, before a decision is reached
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The Chairman of the Board will give feedback to the NC on the appointment of new directors or retirement
or resignation of existing directars, following the outcome of an annual performance evaluation of
individual directors, and the NC will take into consideration his views in this regard.

The NC is also responsible for determining annually, the independence of directors. In doing so, the NC
takes into account the circumstances set forth in Guideline 2.1 of the 2005 Code and any other salient
factors. Following its annual review. the NC has endorsed the following independence status of Mr Ong
Tiew Siam, Mr Chua Hung Meng and Mr Zhao Qinghua

The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention are being given by the directors to the affairs of
the Group, notwithstanding that some of the directors have multiple board representations. and there 1s
presently no need to implement interna! guidelines to address their competing time commitments. This
matter is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC

Principle 5 There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and
the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board

The Board has implemented a process for assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and for
assessing the contribution by each individual director to the effectiveness of the Board. For the year
under review. the NC has evaluated and discussed the results of individuat directors’ assessment of
the Board's performance and effectiveness as a whole and carried out a review of the independence of
Directors

Principle 6 In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete,
adequate and timely information prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis

The Board has separate and independent access to senior management of the Company. the Company
Secretary, the internal auditors and the external auditors at all times. Requests for information from
the Board are dealt with promptly by management The Board i1s informed of all material events and
transactions as and when they occur Directors are given Board papers in advance of meetings for them
to be adequately prepared for meetings and senior management are, where necessary, in attendance
at the Board meetings. The Company Secretary attends all Board meetings and meetings of the Audit,
Nominating and Remuneration Committees. The Company Secretary administers, attends and prepares
minutes of Board and Board Committee meetings. and assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and reviewed in accordance with the Company'’s Articles of Association so that
the Board functions effectively and the relevant rules and regulations applicable to the Company are
complied with.

Each director has the nght to seek independent legal and other professional advice, where necessary,
in order to fulfill their duties and responsibilities as directors. Any expense incurred in this aspect shall
be borne by the Group

The Board receives from the Management regular updates and financial information which present a
balanced and understandable assessment of the company's performance, position and prospects. The
Chief Financial Officer circulates monthly reports to the AC which includes the profit and loss statement,
balance sheet and cash flow statement of the Group, transactions between the Group and any interested
person (namely, the Directors of the Company or any of the Controlling Shareholders or their Associates)
and latest corporate developments

Under the Articles of Association of the Company, the decision to appoint or remove the Company
Secretary can only be taken by the Board as a whole.

CG Guideline
54
CG Guideline
43
CG Guideline
44
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(8) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7. There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive
remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director
should be involved in deciding his own remuneration

The Remuneration Committee 1s responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for
developing policy on executive remuneration, and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual
directors and senior management

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee ("RC”) comprises the following independent directors

Mr Chua Hung Meng (Chairman)
Mr Ong Tiew Siam
Mr Zhao Qinghua

The principal responsibilities of the RC are

1 recommending to the Board for endorsement, a framework of computation of directors’ fees
of the Board. as well as remuneration of executive directors, CEO and senior management
For executive directors. CEO and such senior management, the framework covers all aspects
of executive remuneration (including but not limited to directors’ fees. salaries, allowances
bonuses, options and benefits in kind). and

2 recommending the specific remuneration packages for each drrector, CEOQ and senior
management

The RC meets at least once annually during the last financial year ended 31 December 2009 The RC
has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance with the Code that describes the responsibiiities
of the members

Each member of the RC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions In respect of his remuneration
package

Principle 8 The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors
needed to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than 1s
necessary for this purpose A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration
should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance

Principle 9 Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy. level and mix of
remuneration. and the procedure for setting remuneration in the company’s annual report
It would provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors
to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and
performance.

In structuring a compensation framework for executive Directors and key executives. the RC seeks to
link a proportion of executive compensation to the Group's performance The RC'’s recommendation
are made in consultation with the Chairman of the Board and submitted for endorsement by the entire
Board

Principle 7

CG Guideline
71

CG Gudeline
72

CG Guideline
8.1

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 27



L Y

An appropriate and attractive leve! of remuneration has been set to attract, retain and motivate Directors  CG Guideline
and staff. The remuneration package 1s made up of both fixed and variable components. The vanable 82
component is determined based on the performance of the individual employee as well as the Group's

performance. Annual increments and adjustments to remuneration are reviewed and approved taking

into account the results of the annual review made by the Executive Directors and the various heads

of department  All Non-Executive Directors are paid Directors’ fees that are subject to shareholders’

approval at the Annual General Meetings

The service contracts for executive directors are for fixed appointment periods which are not excessively  Guideline 8.3
long and they do not contain onerous removal clauses. Notice periods are generally six months or less  Commentary
in service contracts for executive directors and in the terms of employment of senior management The 86

RC 1s responsible for reviewing the compensation commitments, if any, that the directors’ contracts of

service entail in the event of early termination

DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION Principle 9,
Guidelnes
91.9.2and
9.4
Directors Salary % Bonus % Benefits % Director Fees % Total %
Below $250,000
Zang Ligen 95 69 431
Zang Lizhong 97 12 288
2Zang Liguo 100
Key Executives Salary % Bonus % Benefits % Director Fees % Total %
Below $250.000
Zhang Jianliang 9379 621
Zhang Jinli 100
Liu Baoxing 100
Ji Guofu 100
We Jijian 100
| diate Family bers of Directors or CEO CG Guideline
93

There are no immediate family members of Directors or CEO in employment with the Group and whose
remuneration exceeds $$150,000 during FY2009

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10 The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The Board 1s responsible for providing a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group's CG Guideline
performance, position, prospects, operations and financial position and updates shareholders through 10.1

the quarterly, half yearly and full year results announcements as well as timely announcements of other

matters as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations
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Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC") with written terms of reference,
which clearly set out its authority and duties.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee ("AC") comprises the following independent directors CcG
Guidelines
11.8and 111

Mr Ong Tiew Siam  (Chairman)
Mr Zhao Qinghua
Mr Chua Hung Meng

The AC has adopted its own terms of reference in compliance with the Code that describes the
responsibilities of the members

The AC held four meetings during the financial year. These meetings were attended by the Chief CG Guideline
Financial Officer. The CEO, Internal Auditors and External auditors were also present at the relevant 15
junctures during these meetings. The AC has also met the external auditors, without the presence of the

management during the financial year.

The Board is of the view that the AC members are appropnately qualified in that they have sufficient  CG Guideline

accounting or related financial management expertise and experiences to discharge the AC's function 1.2
The AC has written Terms of Reference endorsed by the Board, setting out their duties and responsibilities Principle
The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any matter within its Terms of Reference and has full 11 and CG
access to, and co-operation of Management, with full discretion to invite any director or executive officer  Guideline 11.3
to attend its meetings. it has reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly. CG-
Dunng the meetings of the AC held during the financial year, the Committee performed its functions and Guidelines
responsibilities as set out in its Terms of Reference, which include the following 114,116,
11.8and 12.1

1 reviewing the scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness, and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditors;

2 reviewing the nature and extent of the external auditars’ non-audit services to the Group. seeking
to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money,

3. reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements so as to ensure the integrity
of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group's
financial performance,

4. reviewing the adequacy of the Group's internal financial controls, operational and compliance
controls, and sk management policies and systems (hereinafter referred to collectively as “internal
controls”);

5. reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s internat audit function at least annually,
including the adequacy of internal audit resources and its appropriate standing within the Group,
as well as the scope and results of the internal audit procedures,

6  making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditors. and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditors;

7 reviewing the external auditors’ audit plan, audit report and the evaluation of the system of internal
accounting controls with the externat auditors, as well as the assistance given by Management to
the external auditors;

8 reviewing the quartery, half-yearly and full year financial statements of the Group, pror to their
submission to the Board;
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9. reviewing the co-operation given by our management to our auditors;

10. reviewing and approving interested person transactions;

11, reviewing any potential conflict of interests;

12 reviewing regularly all hedging policies. all types of instruments used for hedging and foreign
exchange policies and practices of the Group; and

13 to generally undertake such other functions and duties as may be required by law or the Listing
Manual, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time

Apart from the duties listed above, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal
investigations in to matters where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity. or failure of internal
controls or infringement of any Singapore law, rule or regulation which has or is likely to have a material
impact on our Company's operating results and/or financial position.

Management has put in place, and the AC has endorsed, arrangements by which staff of the Group
may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters The objective for such arrangement is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and
for appropriate follow-up action

The AC 1s satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and recommends to
the Board the nomination of the external auditors for re-appointment. The AC has conducted an annual
review of all non-audit services provided by the auditors and is satisfied that the nature and extent of
such services do not affect the independence of the external auditors.

Pursuantto Listing Rule 716, the Board and the AC are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors
for the subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and effectiveness ot the audit of the Company.
The details of the auditors are outlined in Notes 12 & 13 to the financial statements

Pringiple 12 The Board should ensure that the Management maintains a sound system of internal
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the company’s assets.

Principle 13: The company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the
activities it audits

The Board recognises the importance of sound internal controls and risk management practices to
good corporate governance The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group's systems of
internal controls and rnisk management, and for reviewing the adequacy and integrity of those systems
on an annual basis. It should be noted, however, that such systems are designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the nsk of failure to achieve business objectives. In addition. it should be noted that
any system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
of loss. and include the safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper accounting records, the
reliability of financial information, compliance with appropriate legisiation, regulation and best practce,
and the identification and containment of business risk.

The Company has appointed Messrs UHY Lee Seng Chan & Co an internal auditor and has implemented
internal reviews, to ensure that the system of internal controls maintained by the Company is sufficient
to provide reasonable assurance that the Company's assets are safeguarded against loss from
unauthorised use or disposal. transactions are properly authorised and proper financial records are
being maintained

The Internal Auditor has a directand primary reporting line to the AC and assists the Board in monitoring
and managing risks and internal controls of the Group. The AC approves the internal audit plan and
ensures the adequacy of internal audit resources during the first AC meetings each year.

CG Guideline
117

CcG
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11 6and
11 4(a)

CG Guideline
121

Principle 11
and 13
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The AC is satisfied that the intemnal audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate standing  CG Guideline

within the Company. 133

The AC and the Board have reviewed the Company's risk assessment based on the reports of the CcG
internal auditor and external auditors and are assured that adequate internal controls, including financial, Guidelines
operational and compliance control and risk management. are in place. 12.1and 122
D) COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Principle 14 Companies should engage in regular, effective and farr communication with

shareholders

Principte 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at Annual General
Meetings and allow shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on
various matters affecting the company,

Lizhong Wheel recognizes the importance of providing the Board with a continual flow of relevant CG
information on an accurate and timely basis so that it can discharge its duties effectivety. The Company Guidelines
also believes in timely. fair and adequate disclosure of relevant information to shareholders and investors 14 1 and 14.2
so that they will be appnsed of developments that may have a matenal impact on the Company's

securities. Lizhong Wheel does not practice selective disclosure. All information of the Company 1s

published through the SGXNet and where appropriate, through media releases. The Company is open

to meetings with investors and analysts, and in conducting such meetings, the Company is mindful of

the need to ensure fair disclosure. Information is also availabte on the Company’s website www 1zwhee!

com

All shareholders of the Company receive the annual report and notice of Annual General Meeting CG
("AGM") At general meetings of shareholders, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their Guidelines
views and ask Directors or management questions regarding the Company’s affairs. The Chairmen of 15.1 and 15.3
the Audit, Remuneration, Nominating and Management Committees will normally be present at AGM to

answer any questions relating to the work of these Committees. The external auditors are also present

at the AGM to assist the Directors in answering questions from shareholders.

The Group believes in encouraging shareholder participation at general meetings. A shareholder whois  CG Guideline
entitled to attend and vote may either vote in person or in absentia through the appointment of one or 151

two proxies {(who can either be named individuals nominated by the shareholder to attend the meeting

or the Chairman of the meeting as the shareholder may select)

Each item of special business included in the notice of the meeting will be accompanied by a full CG Guideline
explanation of the effects of a proposed resolution Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially 152
separate issues at the meeting

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES

The Company has adopted its own internal Code of Conduct to provide guidance to all directors and SGX 1207
officers of the Company and its subsidiaries with regard to dealings in the Company's securtties in (18)
compliance with the rute 1207 (18) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

Directors and all officers are also expected to observe insider-rading laws at all times even when dealing
with securities within the permitted trading period.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

The following contract, not being contract entered into in the ordinary course of business, have been
entered into by the Company and its subsidiaries during the period up to the date of this Report:-

The Company has entered into a Redemption Agreement (the “Agreement’) with Lehman Brothers
Commercial Corporation Asia Limited (In Liquidation) ("the Bondholder’), the joint and several liquidators
of the Bondholder, Lt Zhong Investment Ltd. and Mr Zang Ligen for the full redemption of 3 0 per cent
per annum Convertible Bonds (*CB") ['the Redemption’]

The CB wilt be redeemed using the internal fund of the Company.

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement. in consideration for the surrender of the CB by the Bondholder,
the Company shall

{1 pay the Bondholder USD15.000.000 (the “Fix Amount™) no later than the date falling three
months after the date of the Agreement or such date as may be agreed between the Bondholder
and the Company; and

2) if. at any time from the date of the Agreement to the date failing the second anniversary of the
Agreement

(a) the volume-weighted average price of a share in the Company reaches for the first
time SGDO 60 or above but less than SGDO0.80 for 20 consecutive trading days. pay
the Bondholder an additional USD1.500,000;

{b} after the payment described in paragraph (a} above, if the volume-weighted average
price of a share in the Company reaches for the first ime SGDO 80 or above for 20
consecutive trading days. pay the Bondholder an additional USD1.500.000, or

(c) as an alternative to the payment described in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, if the
volume-weighted average price of a share in the Company reaches or rises for the
first ime to SGDG.80 or above from less than SGDO0.60 for 20 consecutive trading
days. pay the Bondholder a single payment of USD3,000.000,

provided the aggregate additional consideration payable by the Company to the Bondholder
shall not at any time exceed USD3.000.000 The Company shall promptly give notice to the
Bondholder of the date of any additional amount described in paragraphs (a) to (c) above
become payable and pay to such amount to the Bondholder on the business day faling 60
days after such date

The Company's obligation under the Agreement 1s guaranteed by the Shareholder and Mr. Zang Ligen
on a joint and several basis.

The Shareholder has agreed to charge 50,000,000 shares in the Company held by it in favour of the
Bondholder to secure the Company's obligation under the Agreement

Upon confirmation by the Bondholder of receipt of the Fixed Amount and the creation and perfection
of the share charge by the Shareholder in favour of the Bondholder. the Bondholder will surrender all
such right, title and interest (if any) the Bondholder may have in the CB to the Company (including any
accrued but unpaid interest and premium) and return the bond certificate in respect of the CB to the
Company.
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The Board. having considered the terms and the rationale for the Redemption, is of the view that the
Redemption is in the interest of the Company and its shareholders

As at the date of this announcement. all the net proceeds from the issuance of CB had been fully utilised
and invested in Tianjin plant in accordance with the purpose of the 1ssue of CB.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

The shareholders’ mandate obtained on 23 August 2005 for the Company to enter into categories of
interested person transactions with the interested persons (*IPTs") in respect of recurrent transactions
of revenue or trading nature or those necessary for the day-to-day operations of the Company was
renewed during the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 30 April 2009.

The shareholders’ mandate was expressed to take effect until the conclusion of the 2010 AGM and the
board of directors of Lizhong Wheel has proposed that the shareholder's mandate be renewed during
the Annual Generat Meeting of the Company on 30 April 2010 to take effect until the conclusion of the
next following Annual General Meeting of the Company.

The aggregate value of interested person transactions entered into for the financial year from 1 January
2009 to 31 December 2009 is as foliows: -

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions during

the financlal year under review
(excluding transactions less
than $100,000 and transactions
conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to
Rule 920 (excluding transactions

Name of Rule 920) less than $100,000)
Interested Person {RMB'000) (RMB'000)
Hebe:r Lizhong
- Lease of properties and

equipment - 2635
- Purchase of aluminum alloy

ingots - 20.539
- Supply of molten aluminum alloy - 253,126
- Purchase of auxiliary raw

matenials - 3.833
- Payment of staff social insurance

premiums - 698
- Sale of scraps - 554
Meilu Alloy
- Lease agreement - 1,191
- Supply of molten aluminum alloy - 895.646

- Processing and recycling of
rejects and scraps - 4.349
- Supply of water and electricity

- 4,702
Tianjin Lizhong
- Supply of molten aluminum
alloy - 206,713
- Processing and recycling of
rejects and scraps - 10,573
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The risks factors relating to the Group and risks relating to the PRC were disclosed under “Risk Factors’
(pages 31 to 39 of the Prospectus dated 10 October 2005).

The Group regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of
significant business risks as well as taking appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks
The Group reviews all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters
to the AC and the Board. The financial nsk management objectives and policies are outlined in the
financial statements
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended December 31, 2009

1 DIRECTORS
The directors of the company in office at the date of this report are

Zang Ligen

Zang Lizhong
Zang Liguo

Zhao Qinghua
Ong Tiew Siam
Chua Hung Meng

2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF

SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose
object is to enable the directors of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures

in the company or any other body corporate

3 DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The directors of the company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the ‘share capital and
debentures of the company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the

company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as follows.

Shareholdings in which

Shareholdings registered in directors are deemed to have
names of directors interests

Names of directors and in which At beg I} At end At beginning At end
are held of year of year of year of year
The company
{Ordinary shares)
Zang Lizhong - - 150.956.250 150.956.250
Zang Liguo - . 150.956.250 150.956.250
Zhao Qinghua 1.250.250 1.250.250
Holding company
- Lizhong investment Ltd
{Ordinary shares)
Zang Ligen 1,130 1.130 2210 2210
Zang Lizhong . 1130 1.130 2.200 2,200
Zang Liguo 2,330 2.330 1,000 1.000

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act. Mr Zang Lizhong and Mr Zang Liguo are deemed to have an

interest In the subsidianes held by the company.

The directors’ interests in the shares of the company and related corporations at January 21, 2010 were the same at

December 31. 2009
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DIRECTORS' RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the beginning of the financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by the
company or a retated corporation with the director ar with a frm of which he 1s a member, or with a company in which
he has a substantial financial interest except for salanes, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the finandal
statements
SHARE OPTIONS
(a) Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group
were granted
(b}  Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the company or any corporation in the group issued by virtue
of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares

(¢} Unissued shares under option

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the company or any corporation in the group
under option

AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises three non-executive and independent directors
Ong Tiew Siam (Chairman)

Zhao Qinghua

Chua Hung Meng

The financial statements, accounting policies and system of internal accounting controls are the responsibility of the
Board of Directors acting through the Audit Commuttee.

During the financial year, the Audit Committee has met four times and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with
the executive directors. and the intemal and extemal auditors when appropriate, of the company

(a)  the audit plan and results of the intemal auditors’ examination and evaluation of the group’s systems of internal
accounting controls;

(b} the extemal auditors’ audit plan:

{c) the group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;

(d) the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the company and the consolidated
financial statements of the group before submission to the Board of Directors and external auditors' report on

those financial statements,

(e)  the quartery, half-yearly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and
financial position of the group.
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f) the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the extemal auditors.
(@) interested person transactions: and
{h)  the re-appointment of the external audrtors.
The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of management and has been given the resources
required for it to discharge its function properly It has also full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to

attend its meetings. The extemal and intemal auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-
appointment as external auditors at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the company

7 AUDITORS

The auditors. Delottte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Cng Tlé& Siam

Zang Ligen

March 26, 2010

Lizheiey Wingest Cronp
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial positton and
statement of changes in equity of the company as set out on pages 42 to 87 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at December 31, 2009, and of the results, changes in equity and cash
fiows of the group and changes in equity of the company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement,
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Ong Tiew Siam

Zang Ligen

March 26, 2010
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd. (the “company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "group”) which comprise the statements of financial position of the group and the company as at December 31, 2009,
the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the group and the
statement of changes in equity of the company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 42 to 87

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management 1s responsible for the preparation and farr presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act. Cap 50 (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards. This
responsibility includes. devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safequarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly
authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and ioss account and
balance sheet and to maintain accountability of assets; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies. and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of matenal
misstatement of the financial statements. whether due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion
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Opinion
In our opinion,

a) the consolidated financial statements of the group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes
in equity of the company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and of the company as at
December 31, 2009 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the group and changes in equity of the
company for the year ended on that date, and

b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the company have been properly kept in accordance
with the provisions of the Act

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore

March 26, 2010
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION December 31, 2009

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and bank balances

Trade receivables

Other receivables and
prepayments

Amount due from subsidiaries

Invertones

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Investment in subsidianes

Investment in associate

Amount due from subsidiaries

Prepaid lease payments

Prepayment for construction
-in-progress

Property. plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabllitles
Short-lerm loans
Current portion of
long-term loans
Amount due to subsidianes
Trade payables
Other payables
Denvative financial liabilities
Income tax payable
Convertible loan notes
Deferred income
Dwidend payable to minority
shareholder of a subsidiary
Total current liabilities

Non-current llabilities
Defemed income
Long-term loans

Amount due to subsidiaries
Convertible loan notes
Defesed tax liability

Total non-current liabilities

Capltal, reserves and minofity
interests
Share capital
Capital reserve
Retained eamings
Equity allributable lo
owners of the company
Minorty interests
Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes to financial statements

Note

10
1"

12
13
14

15
16

18
19
20
21
22

23
24

24
18
19
23
17

26
32

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMEB’000 RMB'000
75.492 142332 507 22.077
435.927 249.951 - -
34350 49.970 - -
. - 38.610 29.354
153.699 126.504 - -
699.468 568.757 39,117 51,431
- - 339.315 339.315
22.184 22,211 - -
. - 149.010 142,684
65.087 67,750 - -
577 5488
449.294 435,021 -
6916 7.221 -
544 058 537,691 488,325 481,999
1,243 526 1,106,448 527442 533 430
141,500 101.500
95,796 80,926 - -
- . 85.651 25.926
289,503 147,851 - -
46.659 67.283 5.389 6.013
2.198 10.908 2,198 198
2337 262 - -
180.607 - 180.607
347 -
859 1370 - -
759.806 410.101 273.845 32,137
3122 - -
- 95.740 - -
- - 82.119
- 169.590 169.590
4,794 2,286 - -
7.916 267616 251,709
140,500 140,500 140.500 140.500
32.544 26.792 - -
283.071 245.503 113.097 103.084
456.115 412,795 253.597 249,584
19.689 15,936 - -
475804 428,731 253,697 249,584
1,243,526 1,106,448 527,442 533430
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended December 31, 2009
Group
Note 2009 2008
+ RMB'000 RMB'000
Revenue 27 1.001.328 316.569
Cos! of sales (851.417) (787.231)
Gross profit 149911 129,338
Other operating income 28 7.016 27,128
Distribution and selling cosls (25.732) (18.736)
Administrative expenses (58.021) {57.236)
Other operating expenses (3517) (613)
Shate of loss of associate 13 27) (290)
Finance costs . 29 (17.057) (16.640)
Profit before tax 52,573 62.951
Income tax 30 (5.500) (11.710)
Profit for the year k3l 47,073 51.241
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Tolal comprehensive income for the year 47,073 51.241
Profit for the year and other comprehcnsive income attributable to
Owners of the company 43320 53.385 !
Minorily interests 3753 (2.144)
47,073 51.241
Earnings per share (in RMB cents):
Basic 33 18.43 2271
Dituted 33 18.11 19.66

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2009

Operating actlvities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for
Share of losses of associate
Depreciation of property. plant and equipment
Interest income
Finance casts
Allowance for doubttul debts
Inventories written off
Amortsation of intangible assets
Loss on disposal of property. ptanl and equipment
Prepaid lease payments released to the profit or loss
Unrealised foreign exchange loss (gain) of convertible toan notes
Farr value loss on derivative instruments
Net realised {gain) loss from the settlement of denvative
financial instrument
Fair value loss (gain) on embedded option of conventible loan notes

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

Trade receivables

Other receivables and prepayments
Inveniories

Trade payables

Other payables (Note A)

Cash generated from operations

Interest received
Income tax recovered
income taxes pakd

Net cash from operating activities

Investing activities

Sale of patent 1o an associate

Prepaid lease payments

Proceeds from disposal of property. plant and equipment (Nole A)
Net cash realised from disposal of an associate

Investment in associate

Property. plant and equipment purchased and paid (Note A)

Net cash used in investing activities

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
525673 62,951
27 290
43219 34,846
(1.277) (862)
17.057 16.640
. 50
1375 762
308 306
203 81
1425 1,409
205 (11.051)
. 10.711
(2.967) 7.441
2,000 (9.447)
114,145 114,127
(185976) 85,132
19,230 (43.813)
(28.570) (53.118)
141,652 (15.867)
(4.985) 31.964
55.496 118.425
1277 862
2545 5.663
(2.867) (2.578)
56.451 122,362
3.469 .
. (1.571)
197 100
. 129
. (22.501)
(67.097) (127.434)
(63.431) (151.277)
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Group

2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB’000
Financling activitles
Dividends paid - (16.922)
Oividend paid to minority shareholders 511 -
Repayments of borrowings (250,464} (114.625)
New bank loans raised 209.594 158,940
Interest paid (18.479) {26.866)
Pledged cash placed wilh banks (4.307) 5376
Receipt of investment from minority shareholders - 1.398
Net cash from financing activities (64,167) 7.301
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (71.147) (21.614)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 133.249 154.863
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 7) 62.102 133,249

Note A:

In 2008, total additions of property. plant and equipment was RMB58,025,000 (2008. RMB107,005,000). including interest
of RMB11,046,000 (2008: RMB18,323.000) capitalised as costs of construction and an amount of RMB3,446,000 (2008
RMB17.429.000) remaning unpaid as at end of the reporting period The group had also prepaid RMB577,000 (2008: RMB
5.488,000) construction-in-progress at the end of the year.

In 2009, plant and equipment with net book value amounting to RMBS533,000 was sold for RMB325,000. Of this amount,
RMB128.000 has not been received at December 31, 2009

See accompanying notes to financial statements

6 QY ZO=5eEE@

Lezbxoney Wihese § foreup




NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENT
Year ended December 31, 2009

1

GENERAL

The company (Registration No. 200407186C) is incorporated in Singapore with its registered office at
50 Raffles Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 and its principal place of business at No. 948
Qryi Dong Road, Baoding, Hebei 071000, The People's Republic of China. The company is listed on the Singapore
Exchange Securiies Trading Limited (*SGX-ST"). The financial statements are expressed in Renminbi (RMB")

The principal activity of the company is that of investment holding

The principal activities of the subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in Notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements
respectively

The consolidated financial statements of the group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in
equity of the company for the year ended December 31, 2009 were authonsed for issue by the Board of Directors on
March 26, 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention.
except as disclosed in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards ("FRS")

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current financial year, the group has adopted all the new
and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (*INT FRS") that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not result
in changes to the group’s and company's accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for
the current or prior years except as disclosed below:

FRS 1 - Presentation of Fi ial S its (Revised)

FRS 1 (2008) has introduced terminalogy changes (including revised ttles for the financial statements) and changes
1n the format and content of the financial statements. [n addition, the revised Standard requires the presentation of a
third statement of financial position at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented if the entity applies
new accounting policies retrospectively or makes retrospective r 1ents or rec fies items in the financial
statements.

Amendments to FRS 107 Financial instruments : Disclosures - Improving Disclosures about Financial
Instruments :

The amendments to FRS 107 expand the disclosures required in respect of fair value measurements and liquidity
nsk. The Group has elected not to provide comparative information for these expanded disclosures in the current year
In accordance with the transitional relief offered in these amendments.
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FRS 108 - Operating Segments

The group adopted FRS 108 with effect from January 1, 2009. FRS 108 requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reports about components of the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating
decision maker in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance In contrast, the
predecessor Standard (FRS 14 Segment Reporting) required an entity to identify two sets of segments (Business
and Geographical), using a risks and rewards approach, with the entity’s ‘system of internal financial reporting to key
management personnel’ serving only as the starting point for the identification of such segments

Following the adoption of FRS 108, the chief operating decision maker considers that all existing products manufactured
and held by the group has similar economic characteristics and accordingly, there is no separate reporting segment
required (Note 36)

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that
are relevant to the group and the company were issued but not effective:

- FRS 24 {Revised) Related Party Disclosures

- FRS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements

- FRS 103 (Revised) Business Combinations

- Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (issued in June 2009)

Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised standards.

FRS 24 (Revised) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011 Therevised Standard clanfies
the definition of a related party and consequently additional parties may be identified as related to the reporting
entity. In addition, the revised Standard provides partial exemption for government-related entities, in relation to the
disclosure of transactions. outstanding balances and commitments Where such exemptions apply. the reporting
entity has to make additional disclosures. including the nature of the government's relationship with the reporting
entty and information on significant transactions or group of transactions involved. In the period of initial adoption,
the changes to related party disclosures, If any, will be applied retrospectively with restatement of the comparative
information.

FRS 27 (Revised) is effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2009. FRS 103 (Revised) is effective for
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after July 1, 2009

Apart from malters of presentation, the principal amendments to FRS 27 that will impact the group concern the
accounting treatment for transactions that result in changes in a parent's interest in a subsidiary. Itis likely that these
amendments will significantly affect the accounting for such transactions in future accounting periods, but the extent
of such impact will depend on the detail of the transactions. which cannot be anticipated The changes will be adopted
prospectively for transactions after the date of adoption of the revised Standard and, therefore, no restatements will
be required in respect of transactions prior to the date of adoption

Similarly, FRS 103 is concerned with accounting for business combination transactions The changes to the Standard
are significant, but their impact can only be determined once the detail of future business combination transactions
1s known. The amendments to FRS 103 will be adopted prospectively for transactions after the date of adoption of
the revised Standard and, therefore, no restatements will be required in respect of transactions prior to the date of
adoption

Other than as discussed above, the management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs and amendments
to FRS in future periods will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the group and of the company
in the period of their initial adoption
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BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION - The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the
company and entites (including special purpose entities) controlied by the company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entty so as to obtain
benefits from its actvities

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of duning the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition of up to the effective date of disposal. as appropriate

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with those used by other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidianes are identfied separately from the group's equity therein
Minonty interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the oniginal business combination (see below)
and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minoxity in
excess of the minonty’s interest in the subsidiary's equity are allocated against the interests of the group except to the
extent that the minorty has a binding obligation and is able to make an additional investment to cover its share of those
losses

In the company’s financial statements. investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net
recoverable value that has been recognised in the profit or loss

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS - The acquisttion of subsidiaries 1s accounted for using the purchase method The cost
of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values. at the date of exchange. of assets given. liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilites and contingent liablities
that meet the conditions for recognition under FRS 103 are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date. except
for non- current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 Non- Current
Assels Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. which are recognised and measured at far value less costs to sell

Goodwill ansing on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured at cost. being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the group’s interest in the net farr value of the identifiable assets, habilities and
contingent liabilities recognised If. after reassessment, the group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabllities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit or loss

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree i1s initially measured at the minority's proportion of the net fair
value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT - Financial assets and financial liabiliies are recognised on the group’s statement of
financial position when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating
interest income or expense over the relevant period The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of the financia! instrument, or where approprtate,
a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest rate basis for debt instruments other than those
financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”
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Financial assets
Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is
under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market
concerned, and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified
as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value
Other financial assets in the group and company are classified into the following specified categories: financial
assets “at fair value through profit or loss" and “loans and receivables™ The classification depends on the nature and

purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL

A financial asset is classified as held for trading it:
. 1t has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

. itis a part of an identified portfalio of financial insttuments that the group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. itis a dervative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon inital recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise: or

. the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial iabilities or both, which is managed and
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group's documented risk management
or investment strategy. and informabon about the grouping is provided internally on that basis: or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded denvatives, and FRS 39 permits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial assets at farr value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
the profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest eamed on the
financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner descnbed in Note 4

Loans and recevables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as "loans and receivables™ Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method less impairment. Interest i1s recognised by applying the effective interest method, except
for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at farr value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each
end of the reporting period  Financiat assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
investment have been impacted

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment i1s the difflerence between the assets
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the origina! effective interest rate

The camying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of receivables where the camying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a
recevable 1s uncollectible. it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in proftt or loss.

if. in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
1o an event occurming after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortsed cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised

Derecogniton of financial assets

The group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset. the group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated hiability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received

Financial liabiliies and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 1ssued by the group are ctassified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting ail of
its liabilities Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received. net of direct Issue costs.

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured at farr value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost. using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis
except for short-term payables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial

interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement
or redemption of borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the group’s accounting
policy for borrowing costs
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Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or it is designated
as at FVTPL

A financial hability is classified as held for trading if:
. it has been incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

. it is a part of an identfied portfolio of financial instruments that the group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it1s a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument

Afinancial liability other than a financial liability held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition
if

. such designaton eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise anse; or .

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilites or both, which 1s managed and
its performance 1s evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the group's documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping 1s provided intemally on that basis; of

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 pemits the entire combined
contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL

Financial liabilities at fair value through proftt or loss are initially measured at fair value and subsequently stated at
fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or loss The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
incorporates any interest paid on the financial liability Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4

Convertible foan notes

Convertible bonds are regarded as compound instruments, consisting of a liability component and an embedded
denvative component. The component parts of compound instruments are classified separately as financial liabilities
and derivative financial iInstruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. At the date
of issue, the farr value of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing market interest rate for a similar
non-convertible instrument This amount 1s recorded as a liability on an amortised cost basis untd extinguished upon
conversion or at the instrument’s maturity date. The embedded derivative components are recorded at fair value at
the date of the issue and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at each end of the reporting period. The
resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit or loss immediately.

Denvatve financial instruments and hedge accounting

The group enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to aluminum prices, including
aluminum futures contracts

The group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered, and
are subsequently remeasured to therr fair value at each end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in
which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedging relationship
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The fair value of hedging derivatives i1s classified as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining
maturity of hedging relationship is more than 12 months and as a current asset or current liability if the remaining
maturity of the hedging relationship 1s less than 12 months

Derivatives not designated into an effective hedge relationship are classified as a current asset or a current liability
Embedded derivatives

Denvatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate denvatives when
their rtsks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at far value with changes in far value recognised in the profit or loss

LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantally all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. Consideration paid for
land use nghts are recorded as prepaid lease payments and are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of relevant land use right acquired

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred

In the event that lease incentives are received 1o enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed

INVENTORIES - Inventones are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost compnses direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present locabon and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less all estmated costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distnbution

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Property, plant and equipment are camied at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses

Buildings and plant and machinery in the course of construction ("construction-in-progress”) for production, rer:tal or
administrative purposes, or for purpose not yet determined, are carned at cost. less any recognised impairment loss
Cost includes professional fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the group's
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets, other than construction-in-progress, over their estimated
useful lives and taking into account their residual value of 5%, except for computer software which has no residual
value. using the straight-line method, on the following bases per annum

Buildings - 10 to 20 years
Plant and machinery - 10 years
Computer software - Jyears

Motor vehicles - 5 years
Fumiture and fittings - 5 years

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 53




54

Depreciation 1s not provided on construction4n-progress.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of
any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis

Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the profit or loss

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately include expenditure on trademarks and brand names and are reported at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Trademarks are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 19 years. Brand names are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 30 years. The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
annual reporting period. with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective basis  Such
assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy below.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal
project) 1s recognised if, and only 1f, all of the following have been demanstrated

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it wilt be avaitable for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

. how the intangible asset will generate probable future econonuc benefits;

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or

sell the intangible asset. and
. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development

The amount inttially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from
the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. on the same basis as intangibte assets acquired separately.
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IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL - At the end of each reporting
period, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment toss (if any). Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset. the group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible assets not yet avallable for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

" Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use In assessing value In use. the
estmated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the nsks specifc to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (cash-generating untt} is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss Is recognised
immediately in proftt or loss

Where an impaimment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased
tothe revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impaiment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit)
In prior years A reversal of an imparrment loss is recognised immediately in the proftt or loss

ASSOCIATES - An associate Is an entity over which the group has significant influence and that 1s neither a subsidiary
nor an interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and hiabilities of associates are incorporated inthese financial statements using the equity method
of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case itis accounted for under FRS 105
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations Under the equity method. investments in associates
are carried in the consclidated statement of financial position at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the
group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments Losses ofan
associate in excess of the group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form pan of the group's net investment in the associate) are not recognised. unless the group has incurred legal or
construcbve obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share of the net fair value of the identfiable assets, liabilites and
contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any
excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent habilities over the cost
of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss

Where a group ently transacts with an associate of the group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest In the relevant associate
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PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation (legai or constructive) as a result
of a past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required 1o settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period. taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the
present value of those cash flows

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settie a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the
amount of the receivable can be measured reliably

GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the group
will comply with the conditions attached to them and the grants will be received. Government grants whose primary
condition 1s that the group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are presented as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the related assets and recognised as income over the useful lives of the assets
by way of a reduced depreciation charge

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for which
they are intended to compensate. on a systematic basis. Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred of for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable

REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue 1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances:

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods Is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied
. the group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

. the group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership
nor effective control over the goods sold:

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably,
. itis probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income

interest income 1s accrued on a time basis. by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable.

Dwvidend income

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.
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Financial guarantee income

Income from providing financial guarantee is recognised in profit or loss over the guarantee period on a straight line
basis

BORROWING COSTS - Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets. until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or
sale Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending therr expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

All other borrowing costs are recognrsed in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred

RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contributon retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense
as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as payments to defined
contribution plans where the group's obligations under the plans are equivalent to those ansing in a defined contribution
retrement beneftt plan

EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entilements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue
to employees A provision is made for the estimated liabilty for annual ieave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period

INCOME TAX - Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deduclible
In other years and it further excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible The group's liability for current tax
ts calculated using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the
company and subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using
the statement of financial position liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised If the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabiliies 1n a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arnising on investments in subsidiaries and
associate. except where the group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each end of the reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the hiability 1s settled or the
asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or
credited directly to equity. In which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legal enforceable rightto set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they relate to items
credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly to equity), in which case the
tax 1s also recognised outside profit or foss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,respectively) or
where they anse from the initial accounting for a business comtination. In the case of a business combination. the
tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net
fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabiities over cost

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION - The individual financial statements of each group
enlity are measured and presented in Renminbi ("RMB”), which is the currency of the pnmary economic environment
in which each entity operates (its functional currency) The consolidated financial statements of the group and the
statement of financial position of the company are presented in RMB. which is the functional currency of the company,
and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions In currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction At each end of
the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevaiing at the
end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carned at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retransiated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated

Exchange differences ansing on the settiement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included
in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences ansing on the retranslation of non-monetary items carned at fair
value are included in the profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
tems in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other comprehensive income For such non-
monetary items. any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly in other comprehensive
income

Exchange differences which relate to assets under construction for future productive use, are included 1n the cost of
those assets where they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on foreign currency borrowings

Exchange differences on transactions entered into in order to hedge certain foreign currency risks are described in
the hedge accounting policies above

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the group's foreign
opefations (including comparatives) are expressed in Renminbt using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period Income and expense items (including comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates
tor the penod, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that period. in which case the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions are used Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as other comprehensive
income and transferred to the group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which the foreign operation i1s disposed of.

On consolidation, exchange differences ansing from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including
monetary items that. in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such investments. are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in foreign currency translation reserve

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks and time
deposits less pledged cash placed with bank that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the group's accounting policies. which are described in Note 2, management is required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and kabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recogniseg in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future peniods if the revision affects both current and future periods

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

Management is of the opinion that there is no critical judgement involved that has a significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements apart from those involving estimations which are dealt with below:

Going concern assumption

The global financial and capital markets continue to be volatile The group has reported a profit of RMB47,073,000
for the year. The ability of the group’s customers to maintain operations and profitability and to pay their debts as they
mature may be dependent to a large extent on the effectiveness of the fiscal measures and other actions, beyond
their control, undertaken to achieve economic recovery. Nevertheless, the group maintains considerable financial
resources.

The management has a reasonable expectation that the group I1s well placed to manage its business risks successfully
despite the current uncertain economic outiook

At December 31, 2009, the group is in net current liabilities position of RMB60,338.000, and this 1s primarily
due to the classification of the convertible loan notes of RMB180,607,000 as current liability (Note 23). On
February 10, 2010. the company entered into a redemption agreement {the "Agreement”) with the bondholders,
the joint and several liquidators of the bondholders, the ulimate holding company (Note 5) and Mr Zang
Ligen, a director of the company, for the full redemption of the convertible loan notes (‘the Redemption’),
and in consideration for the surrender of the convertible loan notes, the company shall pay the bond holders
US$15,000,000 (equivalent to RMB102,000,000) no later than the date falling three months after the date
of the Agreement or such date as may be agreed between the bondholders and the company, and potential
addition payment as disclosed in Note 23

Management believes that the group has ready credit facilities to fund the above redemption and the company
and the group will be able to meet the obligation as and when it falls due

In addition, the management believes that the company and the group have adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below
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Allowance for doubtful debts

The policy for allowance for doubtful debts of the group is based on the evaluation of collectibility and aging analysis
of accounts and on management’s judgement A considerable amount of judgement 1s required in assessing the
ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the current credit worthiness and the past collection history of
each customer. Allowance for doubtful debts as at December 31, 2009 are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9 to the financial
statements

Allowance for inventories obsolescence

The policy for allowance for inventories obsolescence of the group is based on the aging analysis of inventories and
on management’s judgement on the saleability of the inventonies. As at December 31, 2009, management is of the
opinion that no allowance for inventories is required. The carrying amount for inventories as at December 31, 2009
is disclosed in Note 11

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

As described in Note 2, at each end of the reporting period. the group reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment, including construction-in-progress. and intangible assets to determine whether there 1s any
indication of impairment. As at December 31, 2009, management is of the opinion that there did not exist any indication
of impaiment. and accordingly no impairment is required for property. plant and equipment and intangible assets
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, including construction-in-progress, and intangible assets are
disclosed in Notes 15 and 16 respectively

Useful hves and residual values of property, plant and equipment

As described in Note 2, the group reviews the estimated useful lives and the residual values of the property, piant
and equipment at the end of each annual reporting period. Dunng the financial year, management determined that
the estimated useful lives and residual values of the property, plant and equipment are appropriate and no revision is
required

Fair value of embedded derivatives

The group is required to assess the fair vatues of the embedded derivatives which involve the input of certain variables
and accordingly, require significant eshmates and assumptions. Details of the embedded derivatives are provided in
Note 22 to the financial statements.

Fair value of financial guarantee contracts

The company is required to assess the fair value of the financial guarantee contracts provided to a bank in respect of
credit facilities provided to a subsidiary which require significant management estimates and assumptions. Fair value
of the financial guarantee contracts are estimated based on the interest differental that the subsidiary has to incur in
the event that there is no financial guarantee provided

IO SECIE

Lichieuiey Wheel Ceoup




o

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

(a) Categories of financial instruments

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including

cash and bank bafances) 536.544 421.920 188127 194,115
Financlal liabllitles
Amortised cosl 732,487 648 886 267.708 280.562
Denvative financial habilties 2.198 10.908 2,198 198

{b) Financial risk policies and objectives

The group does not have written risk management policies and guidelines However, the Board of Directors
meet penodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the group’s exposure to market risk, including
principally changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. Generally, the group employs a conservative
strategy regarding its nsk management

The group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes

There has been no change to the group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analys:s indicated below.

(0] Price risk management

The group is exposed to fluctuations in the prices of aluminium it requires for the production of the group’s
products and purchases its raw materials at market prices. The group currently does not significantly
hedge against price nsk ansing from the purchase of aluminium. As at December 31, 2008, the total
notional amount of outstanding hedging contracts to which the group was committed amounted to
RMBS50.396.000. The group did not have any outstanding hedging contract at December 31, 2009

(n) Foreign currency nsk management

The group’s foreign currency exposures arose mainly from the exchange rate movements of the Singapore
doliars, Euro and the United States dollars against Renminbi.

At the reporting date, the camrying amounts of significant foreign currency denominated monetary assets
and monetary liabilities denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional
currencies are as follows:

Group Company
Liabilities Asgsots Liabilities Assots
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Singapore dollars 821 - 1.830 3.945 821 - 499 3712
Euro - 4.869 3.003 - - - -
United States dollars 277,240 289.283 18,382 68.789 271819 280.193 38.610 161.008
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Group
Profit or loss

Company
Profit or loss

()

ol

Foreign currency sensttivity

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the Renminbi against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% is the sensitivity rate representing management's assessment of the
possible change In foreign exchange rates. The sensitvity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary tems and adjusts therr translation at the penod end for a 10% change
in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign
operatons within the group where the denomination of the loan 1s in a currency other than the currency of
the lender or the borrower

If the Renminbi strengthens by 10% against the relevant foreign cumency, proftt or loss will increase
(decrease) by

Singapore dollars impact Euro impact US dollars impact
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

101 (395) (487) (300) 25.886 22.049

32 (371) - - 23.321 11.919

If the Renminbi weakens by 10% against the relevant foreign currency. the above will have a vice-versa
effect

Other than the convertible loan notes and certain bank loans which are denominated in the US$, majority
of the group's transactions are denominated in Renminbi. The group does not use derivative financial
instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk

The company has investments in foreign subsidianes, whose net assets are recorded in Renminby, which
1s also the subsidiaries’ functional currency. As such, the company's investments are not exposed to
foreign exchange transtation risk

Interest rate sensttivity

The group is exposed to interest rate nsk through the impact of rate changes on interest bearing liabilities
and assets. The group’s interest rate exposure is related pnmarily to the tme deposits and bank loans
as disclosed in Notes 7 and 18 to the financial statements The group borrows at both fixed and floatng
interest rates to manage interest rate nsk.

Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure 1o interest rates for bank
borrowings at the balance sheet date and the stipulated change taking place at the beginning of the
financial year and held constant throughout the financial year in the case of bank borrowings that bear
interest at floating rates. A range of 25 to 75 basis point increase or decrease 1S used when reportng
interest rate risk intemally to key management personne! and represents management's assessment of
the possible change in interest rates
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If interest rates have been higher or lower and all other variables were held constant, the group’s profit
for the current year woukd decrease or increase accordingly This is mainly attributable to the group’s
exposure to interest rates on its floating rate borrowings which is not hedged. The following analysis
shows the group’'s sensitivity to interest rate exposure:

Increase in interest rate basis points by

Decrease in group's profits

2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
25 basis points 373 542
50 basis poinls 746 1.084
75 basis points 1.119 1.626

A decrease in interest rate basis points will have the same vice-versa effect
The company's profit and loss are not affected by the changes in interest rates as the interest-bearing

instruments carry fixed interest and are measured as amortised cost. The group's time deposits camy
fixed interest rates and are not affected by changes in interest rates

(iv)  Credit risk management

Credit nsk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resutting in financial
loss to the group. The group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and
obtaining sufficient collateral where appropnate. as a means of mitigating the risk of financial ioss from
defaults

The group's principal financial assets are cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables

The group’s credit nsk is primarly attributable to its trade receivables The amounts in the balance sheet
are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment 1s made where there is an

identfied loss event which. based on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability
of the cash flows. :

As at December 31, 2009. approximately 41% (2008 : 29%) of the group's trade receivables is concentrated
in one customer, which is the minonty sharehoider of two subsidiaries.

Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disdosed in Notes 8 and 9 respectively
Cash and bank balances are held with creditworthy financial institutions.

The group's maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets The company's
maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of the financial assets, including forced settlement

under the financial guarantee contracts (Note 21), if there is a default

(v) Liquidity risk management

The group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance
their activities

Liquidity and interest rate risk analysis
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Non-derivative financial liabilities

The foliowing tables detail the remaining contractual maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities. The
tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the group and company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows. The adjustment column represents the possible future cash flows attributable
to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the

financial liability on the balance sheet

Group

2009

Non-interesl beanng

Fixed interest rate
instruments

Variable interest rate
instruments

Convertible loan

2008

Non-interest bearing

Fixed interest rate
instruments

Varnable interesi rate
instruments

Convertible loan

Company

2009

Interest bearing

Financial gurantee contract
Convertible loan notes
2008

Interest bearing

Financial gurantee contract
Convertible loan notes

Waeighted
average
offective

On demand

or within

Within After

interest rate 1 year 2to 5 years 5 years _Adjustment Total

4.65%

4.88%
930%

7.51%

537%
9 30%

4.59%
05%
9.30%

4.59%
0.50%
9.30%

RMB'000

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB"000 RMB'000

314.584 . 314,584
89533 (1.533) 88.000
153.271 (3975) 149,206
189,239 (8,632) 180,607
746,627 (4140) 732487
201,130 201,130
63.202 (1.792) 61.500
130,029 101,247 - (14.610) 216666
5512 243438 - (79,360) 169590
222963 344,685 : Q2702 048880,
93.658 (8.007) 85.651
1.447 - 1.447
189,239 (8:632) 180,607
284,384 (16,639) 267705
26.700 88.507 . (6478) 108819
2153 - - 2153
5512 243,438 - (79.360) 169,590
34365 332,035 . (85838) 280562

The maximum amount that the company could be forced to settle under the financial guarantee
contract in note 37. if the full guaranteed amount 1s claimed by the counterparty to the guarantee. is
RMB224,937 000 (2008 : RMB224.937,000). The earfiest period that the guarantee could be called is
as and when the guarantee is claimed by the counterparty
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Group

2009

Non-interest bearing

Fixed interest rate
nstruments

2008

Non-interest bearing

Fixed interest rate
nstruments

Company

2009

Non-interest bearing

Fixed interest rate
instruments

2008

Non-interest bearing

Fixed interest rate
instruments

Non-denvative financial assets

The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturites of the financial assets including
interest that will be earned on those assets except where the group and the company anticipates that
the cash flow will occur in a different period. The adjustment column represents the possible future
cash flows attributabie to the instrument included in the maturity analysis which are not included in the
carrying amount of the financial asset on the balance sheet

Woeighted
average On demand
eftective or within Within After
interest rate 1 year 2toSyears Syears  Adjustment Tota!

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
461.052 - - - 461.052
1.17% 75.492 . - - 75492
536.544 - - - 536,544
- 279.588 - . - 279.588
366% 142332 - - - 142,332
421.920 - - - 421,920
38.610 - 184.255 {35.247) 187618
024% 509 - - - 509
39.119 - 184.255 (35.247) 188.127
- 29.354 - 180.305 (37.621) 172,038
2.35% 22.077 - - - 22,077
51,431 - 180.305 (37.621) 194115

The liquidity risk analysis relating to the derivatives of the group and of the company are disclosed in
notes 22 and 23 of the financial statements

Other risk management

The financial statements include derivative financial asset and liabilities which are measured at fair
value (Note 22) The fair value of the dernivative asset is measured using binominal model which involve
some assumptions into the valuation model. The group currently do not hedge against the risk arising
trom the fair value of the denvative financial asset Management has determined that if inputs to the
valuation model changed by 20%. the impact to the group's net profit for both 2009 and 2008 is not
significant
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(vii}  Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables and payables,
provisions and other liabilities approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term
matunty of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities
are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

. the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active iquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices:

. the farr value of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative instruments)
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
fiow analysis, and

. the fair value of the dervative instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such prices
are not avallable, discounted cash flow mode! is used, based on applicable yield curve of the
duration of the derivative instruments

The group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflect the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels

a. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

b Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly )i.e. derived from prices)( Leve! 2); and

c. Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable

inputs){Level 3)
The group has derivatives liabilities that fall under tevel 2 as disclosed in Note 22(c}
{c)  Capital risk management policies and objectives

The group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance

The capital structure of the group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Notes 18 and 23
and equity attributable to owners of the company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained earnings
The group has complied with externally imposed capital requirements which requires the ratios of consolidated
total liabilities to consolidated total tangible net assets and consolidated total borrowings to consolidated total
tangible net assets not to exceed certain threholds

The group's Board of Directors (*Board") reviews the capital structure on a quarterty basis. As a part of this
review, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital Based on
decisions of the Board. the group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends and
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt

The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2008.
HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
The company is a subsidiary of Lizhong Investment Lid, incorporated in 8ritish Virgin islands. which is also the

company’s ultimate holding company. Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the
ultimate holding company's group of companies
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Some of the transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on the basis
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related companies of the company. have been
eliminated on consolidation

During the financial year ended December 31, 2008 and 2008, there were no other transactions with other related
companies '

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related parties are entities with commeon direct of indirect shareholders and/or directors. Parties are considered to
be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in
making financial and operating dectsions

Some of the transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined
between the partes is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and are
repayable on demand unless otherwise stated

Significant related party transactons, all of which were entered into with companies in which certain directors of the
company have financial interests, other than those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, are as follows

Group
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000
Sales of goods (852) (802)
Purchases of goods and services 599.540 564.933
Rental expense 3.827 8.271

Significant related party transactions, entered into with @ minority shareholder of subsidiaries are as follows

Group
2009 2008
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Sales of goods {424.277) (408.147)
Purchases of goods 1.483 2616

Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Short-term benefits 3,032 3,33
Post-employment benefits . 37 35
3.069 3.368

The remuneration of directors and key management is determined by the Remuneration Committee of the company
having regard to the performance of the individuals and market trends.
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7 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash at banks 35.361 132,662 422 22,040
Cash on hand 741 587 85 37
Fixed deposits 26.000 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents 62.102 133.249 507 22.077
Pledged cash placed with banks 13.380 9.083 - -
Cash and bank balances 75.492 142,332 507 22.077

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and short-term bank deposts with an original matunty of
three months or less. The carmmying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values

Fixed deposits bear average interest rate of 1.17% per annum and have a tenure of approximately 7 days

Cash amounting to RMB13,390,000 (2008 . RMB3,083,000) has been pledged to banks as security for bills payable
(Note 20) and letter of credit facilites provided to the group

The group’s and company’'s cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the
respective enttties are as follows

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Singapore dollars 1.830 3.945 499 3.712
Euro 12 1.848 - .
United Slates dollars 8.230 25.250 - 18.324
8 TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Amounts receivable from the sale of goods:
Third parties 134.201 65,236
Bills receivables 122,686 112.706
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary {Note 6) 179.101 72.070
435,988 250.012
Allowance for doubtful debts — third parties (61) (61)
435.927 249.951

The average credit period on sales of goods is 90 days (2008 . 90 days). No interest is charged on the trade
receivables from the date of the invoice. The group has provided fully for all receivables over 1 year because
historical experience is such that receivables that are past due beyond 1 year are generally not recoverable. Trade
receivables between 91 days and 365 days are provided for based on estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale
of goods, determined by reference to past defauit experience
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Before accepting any new customer, the group uses a scoring system to assess the potential customer's credit quality
and defines credit limits by customer. Credit imits attributed to customers are reviewed annually.

Included in the group's trade receivabie balance are debtors with a carrying amount of RMB44,740.000 (2008 :
RMB27.,068.000) which are past due at the reporting date for which the group has not provided as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable. The group does not hold
any collateral over these balances. The average age of these recevables (excluding bills receivables) are 116 days
(2008 : 117 days)

Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired:

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
91-180 days 44,715 25713
180 days to 1 year 25 1.355
44.740 27.068

The group has not made any allowance for the above balances as the management is of the view that these recewvables are
recoverable

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at beginning of year 61 "
Increase in allowance to profit o loss - %0
Balance at end of year 61 61

The group's trade receivables that are not denominated in the functional curencies of the respective entities are as

follows
Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
United States dollars 9.777 16,523
Euro 4,857 1,155
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Advances to suppliers

Deposts for aluminium futures trading
Prepaid lease payments (Note a)
Prepayment for construction-in-progress
Prepayments

Value added tax recoverabie

Income tax recoverable

Amourt due from an associate (Note b}
Others

Less Non-cument portion of prepaid lease paymenis

(shown under non-current assets)

Less: Non-cumrent portion of prepayment for construction-
n-progress (shown under non-cument assets)

Note

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

ceooo ol
Group
2009 2008

RMB’'000 RMB'000

4.830 392

21.780 17.533

66.325 67,903

577 5,488

509 5.697

2648 13.496

- 595

- 10.210

3.345 1.894

100.014 123,208
(66.087) {67.750)
(577) (5.488)

34.350 49.970

(a)  The prepaid lease payments are made for land use rights on which the group's buildings are situated or

construction 1s in progress

(b} The amount due from an associate (Note 13) was unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. The

amount was received in 2009

The group's other receivables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities are as

follows:

United States dollars

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
375 27.016
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10  AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Dividend income receivable from subsidiaries (Nole 12) 7.433 7733
Recoverable from a subsidiary (Note 12) 31,163 21.602
Others 14 19
38610 29.354

The non-trade amount due from subsidiaries, all denominated in RMB, is unsecured. interest-free and repayable on
demand

" INVENTORIES

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Raw materials 33.023 23.387
Work-in-progress 15.780 9.508
Finished goods 104,896 93,609
153.699 126.504

The cost of inventones recognised as an expense includes RMB 1,375,000 (2008 . RMB762.000) in respect of write-
downs of inventories to net realisable value

12 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Ungquoted equity shares, at cost

304.443 304.443
Deemed investment ansing from interest-free loan
granted to a subsidiary (Note 14)

44178 44178
Deemed investment anising from financial guarantees
provided to a bank for a subsidiary (Note 21) 2668 2.668
Deemed distnbution arising from interest-free loan
obtained from a subsidiary (Note 19) {11.974) (11.974)
339.315 339.315
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Details of all the company's subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 are as foilows:

Subsldiaries/ Proportion of ownership
Country of registration and operations interest and voting power held Principal actlvities
2009 2008
% %
Baoding Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co.. Ltd 100 100 Manufacture and sale
People’s Republic of China'* of aluminium alloy wheels and its
related fittings
Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel Co.. Ltd 90 20 Manutaciure and sale of
People's Republic of China'™ aluminium alloy wheels and its
related fittings and production of
non-ferrous metats, composite
matenals and alloyed metals
Tianjin Lizhong Wheet Limited 100 100 Manufacture and sale of
People’s Republic of China ' atuminium alloy wheels and its
related fittings and production of
non-ferous metals. composite
materials and alloyed metals
Tianjin Dicastal Wheel Manufacturing Co., Lid 80 80 Manufacture and sale of
People's Republic of China "t aluminium alloy wheels and its
related fittings and production of
non-ferrous metals. composite
materials and alloyed metals
Tianjin Nano Machinery Manufacturing Co ., Ltd. 51 51 Manufacture and sale of related
People’s Republic of China+'11 fittings of alumuinium alloy wheels
Clear View Limited 100 100 Provision of group treasury
British Virgin Islands >/ functions

[4]] Audtted by an overseas practce of Deloite Touche Tohmatsu for consolidation purposes

(2) Not required to be audded by law in s country of incorporation. Audtted by Dedorte & Touche LLP Singapore for cor
(3) Shares are 15% heid by Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd and 65% held by Tianin Lizhong Wheel Limited.
) Shares are held by Tianuin Lizhong Wheel Limited

13 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Group
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000
Unquoted equity shares. at cost 22.501 22501
Share of post-acquisition loss. net of dividend received 317 {290)
22.184 2221

Lizhong Whieal Group
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Details of the associates at December 31, 2009 are as follows:

Associate/ Proportion of ownership
Country of registration and operations interest and voting power held Principal actlvitles
2009 2008
% %

Inner Mongolia Lizhong Huomei 29 45 Manufacture and sale of

Whee! Manufacturing Co., LId aluminium alloy wheels and

People’s Republic of China its related fittings. Currently

dormant
(1) Not required to be arxited by law In its countdry of incorporayon  The enity 1s 2t consiruchon stage and the operating reslit 15 ot sigrdicant

10 the group

@) Shares are 13% (2008 20%) heid by Tiaryin Luhong Wheel Limited and 16% (2008 25%}) held by Clear View Limited

Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s associate are set out below

Group
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB'000
Total assets 265.167 116,967
Total habilties (188.661) (67.611)
Net assets 76.496 49.356
Group’s share of associate’s net assets 22184 22211
Revenue
Loss for the year {93) (644)
Group's share of associate's loss profit for the year 27 (290)
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14 AMOUNT DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Nominal value 184.255 180.305
Less: Future finance charges (35.245) (37.621)
149.010 142,684
Future finance charges is represented by
Excess of nominal value over the fair value of intercompany
loan at foan inception (Note 12) 44,178 44178
Nolional interest income deemed eamed using
amortised cost method (8.933) (6.557)
Total 35.245 37.621

The loan agreement between a company and the subsidiary specifies that the amount is interest-free, unsecured and

with full repayment on August 31, 2013. The loan is denominated in United States dollars and its carmying amount
approximates its fair value

I E= 5867
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture
Plant and Computer Motor and Construction-
Buildings machlnery software vehicles fittings in-progress Total
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Group
Cost
At January 1, 2008 54.302 239.466 2746 10.083 4517 113894 425008
Addilions - 4,028 884 1.627 815 118.558 126912
Reclassifications - 132.049 - 515 - (132564) -
Disposals - (85) - (294) (169) - (548)
At December 31. 2008 54302 375.458 3.630 11.831 5163 99.888 550.372
Addttions 389 3.365 95 194 443 53.539 58.025
Reclassifications 30,574 39,559 - - 164 (70,297) -
Disposals - (680) (25) (453) (131) - (1.289)
At December 31, 2009 85.265 417.702 3.700 11.672 5639 83.130 607,108
Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2008 7.837 67.541 1.179 2463 1.852 - 80.872
Degpreciation for the year 2.741 28.859 631 1812 803 - 34.846
Disposals . (62) - (165) (140) - (367)
At December 31, 2008 10.578 96.338 1.810 4110 2515 - 115351
Depreciation for the year 3.279 36.632 400 1.961 947 - 43.219
Disposals - (380) (24) {225) (117) - (756)
At December 31, 2009 13.857 132.580 2.186 5.846 3.345 - 157,814
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2009 71,408 285,122 1514 5,826 2204 83,130 449204
At December 31. 2008 43724 279,120 1,820 7821 2648 99.888 435021

Note:

Construction-in-progress has been determined after charging net borrowing and related costs of RMB11,046,000
(2008 : RMB18,323,000). The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation 1s 10.2% (2008  10.1%)

In 2008, the group had pledged plant and machinery, motor vehicles, furniture and fittings having a total carrying
amount of approximately RMB35.059.000 to secure banking facilities granted to the group [Note 18(v)]. No property.
plant and equipment was pledged at end of the current reponting period
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16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Trademarks Brand name Tota!
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Group
Cost
At January 1. 2008, December 31, 2008
and December 31. 2009 2.000 6.000 8.000
Accumulated amortisation
At January 1. 2008 456 17 473
Amortisation for the year 105 201 306
At December 31, 2008 561 218 779
Amortisation for the year 105 200 305
At December 31, 2009 666 418 1.084
Carrying amount
At December 31. 2009 1.334 5.582 6.916
At December 31, 2008 1.439 5.782 7.221

The intangible assets included above have finite useful lives. over which the assets are amortised. Trademarks are
amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is 19 years The remaining amortisation penod for these trademarks
1s approximately 13 years. Brand names are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which is 30 years. The
remaining amortisation period for the brand names is approximately 27 years.

The amortisation expense has been included in the line item “administrative expenses” in profit or loss
17 DEFERRED TAX

The following are the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the group and the movements thereon, dunng the
current and prior reporting periods:

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Deterred tax {liability)/asset at beginning of year (2.286) 9,077
Reversal of prior years' overprovision of deferred tax asset - {9.077)
Charged to profit and loss (2.508) (2.286)
Deferred tax liability at end of year {4.794) (2.286)

Subject to the agreement by the tax authorities, at end of the reporting period, the group has unutilised tax losses of
RMB4,442,800 (2008 : RMB15,991,000) available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

Pursuant to the new income tax laws in the People's Republic of China, profits eamed from January 1, 2008 when
distributed to the company in future will be subjected to a withholding tax rate of 5%. Accordingly, the group has set up
a deferred tax liability amounting to RMB4,794,000 (2008: RMB2,286.000) as at December 31, 2009
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18 LOANS

Group
2009 2008
RMB’'000 RMB’000
Short-term loans
Short-term bank loans 141.500 101.500
Long-term loans
Long-lerm bank loans 90.796 171.666
Long-term Ioan from a third party 5,000 5.000
95.796 176,666
Amount due for settlement after twelve months - 95,740
Amount due for settlement within twelve months 95.796 80.926

1) Short-term bank loans amounting to RMB88,000 000 (2008 RMB61,500,000) are unsecured, bear fixed interest at
rates ranging from 3.43% to 5.31% per annum and are repayable within the next twelve months

[} Short-term bank loans amounting to RMBS53,500,000 (2008 RMB40,000,000) are unsecured. bear interest at 1 5%
plus LIBOR per annum and are repayable within the next twelve months

i) Loan from a third party was raised on December 15 2007 and bears interest at 5 4% (2008 7.47%) per annum and
1s unsecured and repayable on November 21, 2010 The interest rate 1s determined at every annual period based on
the then prevailing market interest rates

V) One of the long-term bank loans amounting to RMBS0,796.000 (2008: RMB116.666.000) 1s guaranteed by the
company, bears interest at 1.5% plus LIBOR (2008: 1.5% plus LIBOR) and is denominated in United States dollars
Repayments commenced on July 15, 2008 and will continue untt July 15, 2010. The first four installments are based
on 10% of the loan amount. each payable on a half-yearly basis and the remaining balance 1s repayable on July 15,
2010

v) In 2008, long-term bank loans amounting to RMBS55.000,000 bore interest at rates ranging from 6.75% to 7.74% per
annum. The interest rates were determined at every annual period based on the then prevailing market interest rates
Of the RMBS55.000.000. loans amounting to RMB40.000.000 were secured by a charge over certain of the group's
property. plant and equipment (Note 15). and guaranteed by a related party (Note 6) The loans were fully repaid
during the financial year.

Vi) Other than the bank loan mentioned in (iv) above, all the other bank loans are denominated in Renminbt

vii)  The management is of the opinion that the carrying amounts of these loans approximate their fair values
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19 AMOUNT DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000
Nominal value 88,653 14,523
Less: Future finance charges (3,002) (6.478)
85661 108.045
Less® Amount due for seitlement wilhin twelve months
{shown under current liabilities) (85.651) (25.926)
- 82,119
Future finance charges is represented by
Excess of nominal value over the fair value of intercompany
loan at koan inception (Note 12) 11.974 11,974
Nolional interest expense deemed distnbuted using amortised
cost method (8.972) (5.496)
Total 3.002 6478

The loan between the company and its subsidiary is interest-free, unsecured, and repayable in five instalments with full
repayment on July 15, 2010 The first four instalments are based on 10% of the loan amount, payable on a half-yearly
basis and the balance is repayable on July 15, 2010. The loan is denominated in United States dollars and its carrying
amount approximates its fair value

20 TRADE PAYABLES

Group
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Amount payable for trade purchases from:

Third parties 74.868 47.851
Bilts payables 32.601 37.450
Minonty sharehalder of a subsidiary (Note 6} - 346
Related parties (Note 6) 182,034 62.204
289.503 147.851

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90 days (2008 - 70 to 100 days). No interest is charged on
the trade payabtes. The group has financial nsk management policies in place to ensure that ali payables are within
the credit timeframe. All trade payables are denominated n Renminbi

Bills payables are secured by pledged cash piaced with banks (Note 7)
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‘21 OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued expenses
Retirement benefit obligations (Note 25)
Advances/Deposits from
customers (Note a)
Deposits from suppliers (Note a}
Payable to an associate (Note 13 and b)
Payable to a related party (Note 6)
Value added tax payable
Olher laxes payable
Financial guarantee contracts (Note c)
Payables relating to
construction-in-progress
Others

Note

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
22350 15,374 3.491% 3.086
87 64 - -
974 1.638
7.643 12.248 -
- 12,000
- 147 -
2478 6 -
321 207 451 -
. . 1.447 2153
3.446 17.429 -
9.360 8.170 - 774
46,659 67.283 5.389 6.013

(a)  The advances/deposits from customers and suppliers and secunty and tender deposnts‘are unsecured, interest

free and repayable on demand

(b) The amount payable to an associate I1s unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand

(c) The company is a party to a financial guarantee contract where the company has provided a financiai guarantee

to a bank in respect of credit facilities provided to a subsidiary (Note 12)

The group and company’s other payables that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective entities

are as follows:

Singapore dollars
United States dollars

Group Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
821 - 821 -
5.837 3.028 2.560 2.558
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22 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Group Company
2008 2008 2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

Derivative liabuities
- Ansing from convertible

loan notes (Note 23 and a) (2.198) (198) (2.198) (198)
- Hedging for aluminum

purchases (Note b) - (10.711) . -
Total {2.198) {10.909} (2.198) (198)

Note.

23

(a) The derivative habilities of RMB2,188,000 in 2009 (2008 . RMB 198,000) represent the embedded derivative
components of the convertible loan notes {(Note 23) and were revalued at end of the reporting period by
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited (*Vigers”), independent valuers not connected with the group, by using
binominal model to approximate the fair value of the embedded derivatives

During the year, the group recognised loss of RMB2,000.000 (2008: gain of RMB9,447.000) relating to a
change in fair value of the embedded dervatives in the profit or loss The loss of RMB2,000,000 has been
included as part of other operating expenses in the profit or loss

{b)  In 2008. the derivative liability of RMB10,711,000 represented the fair value of hedging instruments for
aluminum purchases recognised in the profit or loss. The hedging instrument was realised in 2009

(c) The fair value of the derivative liabilities falls under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy as specified under FRS
107 and is measured based on inputs other than quoted prices

CONVERTIBLE LOAN NOTES

The company issued US$25,000,000 convertible loan notes on August 29, 2007. The notes are convertible into
Singapore dollars ordinary shares of the company at any time between the date of issue of the notes and their settlement
date at the option of the holder. The loan notes are convertible at $$1.045 per share from the issue date

The company may redeem some or all of the loan notes at 125% duning the period from August 29, 2010 to August 28,
2012, subject to adjustments provided in the conditions of the convertible toan notes agreement

The bondholders may redeem some or all of the loan notes at 115% on August 29, 2010, subject to adjustments
provided in the conditions of the convertible loan notes agreement

If the notes are not converted, they will be redeemed on August 29, 2012 at 125% Interest of 3% will be paid semi-
annually in arrears on June 30 and December 30 in each year until settlement date

The net proceeds received from the issue of the convertible loan notes have been spiit between the liability element and
the embedded derivative components, representing the fair value of the embedded derivatives
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Convertible loan notes

Embedded derivative components (Note 22a)
Liabilty component at beginning of the year
Exchange rate realignment

Interest charged

Interest paid

Liability component at end of the year

Group and Company

2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
171,788 168,847
2.198) (198)
169,590 168.649
205 (10.343)
16.038 15.900
(5.226) (4.616)
180.607 169,590

The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective interest rate of 9.30% (2008° 9 30%) per annum

to the liability component

Taking into consideration the revaluation report issued by Vigers, management believes that the carrying value of the
lability component of the convertible loan notes at December 31, 2009 approximate ts fair value.

On February 10, 2010. the company entered into a redemption agreement (the “Agreement”) with the bondholders,
the joint and several liquidators of the bondholders, the ultimate holding company (Note 5) and Mr Zang Ligen. a
director of the company, for the full redemption of the convertible loan notes (“the Redemption®)

Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, in consideration for the surrender of the convertible loan notes by the

bondholders, the company shall:

(1}  pay the bondholders US$15,000,000 no later than the date falling three months after the date of the Agreement
or such date as may be agreed between the Bondholder and the company, and

(2) . atany time from the date of the Agreement to the date falling the second anniversary of the Agreement

(a) the volume-weighted average price of a share in the company reaches for the first tme S$0.60 or
above but less than $3$0.80 for 20 consecutive trading days, pay the bondholders an additional

US$1,500,000.

(b)  after the payment described in paragraph (a) above, if the volume-weighted average price of a share
in the company reaches for the first time S$0 80 or above for 20 consecutive trading days, pay the

bondholders an additonal US$1,500,000,

The company's obligation under the Agreement is guaranteed by the ultimate holding company and a director on a

joint and several basis

The ultimate holding company has agreed to charge 50,000.000 shares in the company held by it in favour of the

bandholders to secure the company's obligation under the Agreement
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24 ° DEFERRED INCOME

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB’'000
Defered income 3.469
Current portion (347)
Non-current portion : 3122

The deferred income relates to the group’s share of the unrealized profit from the sale of patents on moulds to an
associate. The deferred income will be amortised over the remaining useful life of the patent against the results of
the associate in the profit or loss.

25  RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
As at December 31, 2009, contributions of RMB87,000 (2008: RMB64,000) due in respect of current financial year
had not been paid over to the state-managed retirement benefit plans (Note 21) The amounts were paid subsequent
to the end of the current reporting period

26  SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2009 2008 2009 2008
Numbar of ordinary shares RMB'000 RMB'000
Issued and paid up:
Al beginning and end of
financial year 235.025.550 235.025.550 140.500 140.500

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and cary a right to dividends as and when
declared by the company.

27  REVENUE

Group
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000
Sale of goods 1.001,328 916.569
28 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Govemment grant income 5733 1.064
Interest income 1277 862
Far value gain in embedded derivatives (Note 22) - 9.447
Foreign currency exchange adjustment gain . 15.745
Others [} 10
7.016 27,128
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39 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Interest expense on:
Convertible loan notes (Note 23) 16,038 15.900
Bank loans 11.847 18.450
Bills payable 218 613
Tota! borrowing cosls 28.103 34.963
Less: Amount capitalised as costs of construction (Note 15) {11,046) (18.323)
17.057 16.640
30 INCOME TAX
Group
2008 2008
RMB'000 RMB’000
On profit tor the year:
- Current tax 2992 347
- Overprovision of deferred tax asset in prior years (Note 17} - 9.077
- Deferred lax arising on 5% withholding tax on
undisinbuted PRC eamings (Note 17) 2.508 2,286
5.500 11,710

Domestic income tax of the company s calculated at 17% (2008 : 18%) of the estmated assessable profit for the
year. Taxation for other jurisdictions 1s calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant junisdictions as explained
below.

In accordance with the tax legislations applicable to foreign investment enterprises ("FIE"), the enterprises are entitled
to exemptions from People's Republic of China (*PRC") income tax for two years commencing from their first profit-
making year of operation and thereafter. entitied to a 50% relief from PRC enterprise income tax for the next three
years The following group companies are entitled to these tax benefits.

a) Baoding Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd obtained the FIE licence in August 2004 and 1s exempted from
income tax commencing from the financial year ended December 31, 2005. The prevailing tax rate applicable
to the FIE 1s 25% (2008 : 25%):

b) Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel Co., Ltd obtamned the FIE licence in September 2005 and 15’ exempted from
income tax commencing from the financial year ended December 31, 2005. As Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel
Co., Ltd is established in the economic zones of PRC, 1t is entitled to a preferential tax rate of 18% (2008 :
18%). and

c) Tianjin Lizhong Wheel Co., Ltd obtained the FIE licence in 2008 and is exempted from income tax commencing
from the financial year ended December 31, 2008. The prevailing tax rate applicable to the FIE is 25% (2008
25%)

In 2007, pursuant to a Circular dated January 14, 2000 jointly 1ssued by the Ministry of Finance and the State Tax
Bureau and subsequently approved by the local tax authonties, Baoding Lizhong Wheel Manufacturing Co., Ltd
and Qinhuangdao Dicamry Wheel Co., Ltd were entitied to tax benefits calculated at 40% of the additions of PRC
produced plant and equipment used for production each year The tax benefits were, however, limited to the amount
of increase in enterprise income tax for the year in which the plant and equipment were acquired as compared with
the tax amount of the preceding year The portion of the tax benefits not utilized can be carried forward for a perod
of not more than five years. Accordingly, a deferred tax asset amounting to RMB9,077,000 was recorded as of
December 31, 2007

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 83




Pursuant to a Statement dated May 16. 2008 1ssued by Chinese National Tax Authority, on a going forward basis,
the 40% tax benefit was rescinded from January 1. 2008 Accordingly, management wrote off the deferred tax asset
amounting to RMB89,077,000 in 2008

The tax for the year can be reconcited to the accounting proft as follows

Group
2009 2008
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
income tax expense at PRC statutory rate of 25% (2008 - 25%) 13,143 15738
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating
in other jurisdctions (2.796) (1.764)
Non-deductible tems 1.750 3.516
Defemed tax asset wntten off - 9.077
5% Withholding tax on undistributed PRC earnings 2.509 2.286
Tax exempt income (8.106) (17.143)
5.500 11.710
3 PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting)
Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
Direclors’ remuneralion
Directors of lhe company 539 528
Directors of the subsidianies 1491 1629
Tolal Directors’ remuneration 2.030 2.157
Employee benefits expense (including directors’ remuneration)
Defined contribution plans 9674 8.688
Others 71,444 80.640
Total employee benefits expense 81,118 89.328
Research and development costs 11723 9.125
Net realised (gan) loss from the settlement of
derivative financial instruments (Note) 2867 7.441
Fair value loss on dervative financial instruments (Note) - 10.711
Fair vatue loss (gain) on embedded option of convertible loan notes 2,000 (9.447)
Foreign currency exchange adjustment loss (gain}. net 1.002 (15.745)
Inventories wntten oft 1,375 762
Loss on disposal of property. plant and equipment 203 81
Cost of inveniones recognised as expense 738.030 684.597
Non-audit fees
Paid to auditors of the company 18 18

Note:

In 2008, the group utilised aluminum futures contracts to hedge against the aluminum prices The instruments
purchased were primarily denominated in the currencies of the group's principal markets. The group did not designate
any dervative as hedging instrument

As of December 31. 2009, there is no outstanding aluminum futures contract for the group
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32 CAPITAL RESERVE

Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations 1n the People’s Republic of China ("PRC") and the Articles of Association of
the subsidianes, the subsidianes are required to make appropriation from profit after taxation as reported in the PRC
statutory financial statements to statutory reserve fund at an amount subject to the approval of the board of directors
The statutory reserve fund may be used to make up losses incurred and, with approval from relevant government

authority, to increase capital for expansion of production

33 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company is

based on the following data

Earnings (RMB "000)

Earnings for the purposes of basic eamings
per share (profit for the year attributable to
owners of the company)

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares.
inherent on convertible loan notes

Earnings for the purpose of diluted
earnings per share

Number of shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose of basic eamings per share

Eftect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Convertible loan noles

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purpose vf diluted earnings per share

Basic eamings per share (in RMB cents)
Diluted earnings per share (in RMB cents)

34  CAPITAL EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

Commitments for acquisition of property. plant and equipment
authorised but not contracted for

Group
2009 2008
RMB'000 RME'000
43320 53385
5857 .
49177 53.385
235,025,550 235.025.550
36.519.139 36.519.139
271,544,689 271,544,689
18.43 2271
18.11 19 66
Group
2009 2008
RMB000 RMB'000
38.309 160.000
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35 © IPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
Group
2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000
Minimum lease payments under operating leases
recognised as an expense in the year 6.452 5.927

At the end of the reporting period. the group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases,
which fall due as follows

Group

2009 2008

RMB'000 RMB’000
Future minimum lease payments payable:

Within one year 3.751 3612
In the second to fifth year inclusive 6,575 7.309
Atter five years 2,885 4585
13.211 15.506

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the group for certain of its office premises. Leases are
negotiated for either an average of one to ten years or twenty years

36  SEGMENTAL REPORTING
The application of FRS 108 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operation decision maker ("CODM"), which is the
Board of Directors. in order to allocate resources to segments and to assess their performance The CODM's basis of
organisation on the group 1s by its operating legal activities
All entities under the group are involved in the manufacture of aluminium alloy wheels with similar production processes
and target customers. In addition. there is no difference in the methods used to distribute the inventories and the nature
of the regulatory environment among all entities under the group. Accordingly. the CODM considers that al! existing
products manufactured and held by the group has similar economic charactenstic and therefore, no further analysis for
segment reporting is presented
Geographical information
The group’s activities are primarily based in People’s Republic of China (*PRC"). Other Asian locations comprise mainly
Japan and Korea
The group’s revenue from external customers and information about its segment assets (non-current assets excluding
investments in assoctates, finance lease receivables and “other” financial assets) by geographical locaton are detaled
below.
Group
Revenue from extemal customers
2009 2008
RMB'000 RMB'000
PRC
Other Asian focations 788551 663.665
Europe 71835 73.543
America 135327 166.170
Others 4526 13.165
1089 26
Tota! 1.001.328 916.569

The group's non-current assets are all located in PRC
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Information about major customers

Included in revenues arising from sales to PRC of RMB788.551,000 (2008: RMB663.665.000) are revenues of
approximately RMB424.277 000 (2008: RMB408,147,000) which arase from sales to the group’s largest customer

37  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at end of reporting period, the company and the group has the following contingent liabilities -

Group - Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Corporate guarantees for
credit facilties given to
a subsidiary - - 90.796 116,666

38  DIVIDENDS

in 2008, a first and final one tier tax exempt dividend of RMB7.2 cents per ordinary share in respect of the financial
year ended December 31, 2007 amounting to approximately RMB16,922.000 was paid to shareholders. In 2009, no
dividend was declared
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS as at 23 MARCH 2010

Class of equity securities Number of equity securities Voting Rights
Ordinary 235.025.550 One vote per share

There is no treasury shares held in the issued capital of the Company

STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

Size of Shareholding s::r':::{ d‘:'m % N‘;’::;’:’ %
1. 999 2 022 906 000
1000 - 10,000 581 6295 3320000 1.41
10,001 - 1,000,000 323 3499 25,660,525 1092
1.000,001 and above 17 184 206.044,119 87 67
923 100.00 235.025 550 100 00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Direct Interest % Deemed Interest %

Li Zhong Investment Ltd 50,956,250 21.68 11100.000.000 4255

Zang Lizhong 0 0 150 956,250 64 23

Zang Liguo o} 0 % 150,956.250 64 23
Notes -
(1) The 100,000,000 shares were transferred to a financial institution to be used as coliateral for credit facilities involving

no change in beneficial ownership.

2) By virtue of Section 7 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, Zang Lizhong and Zang Liguo are deemed to be interested

in 150,956,250 shares held by Li Zhong Investment Ltd in the Company.
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I
' TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS

No. Name of Shareholders Number of Shares %
1 OB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 100,000.000 4255
2 UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 53,572,000 2279
3 Teo Cheng Tuan Donald 11,700.000 498
4 Low Geok Lin Judith 8.664.000 369
5 United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 5,628,994 240
6 Zhang Jtan Liang 4,950,500 21
7 Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 4,753,000 202
8 BNP Paribas Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 3.086.000 131
9 Lim & Tan Securities Pte Ltd 2.389.000 102
10 Zang Xiu Fen 2.183.250 093
1 DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 1.574.000 067
12 Quek Hulling Joanne 1.562.000 066
13 Li Lin He 1.310.125 056
14 Zhao Qinghua 1,250,250 053
15 Loong Chay Wan 1,206.000 051
16 Kan Mun Gneen 1,179.000 050
17 Lee Seak Sung @ Lee Seak Song 1.036.,000 044
18 Li Zhong Investment Ltd 956.250 041
19 Du Yong Li 910.650 039
20 HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 824,000 035
Total 208.735.019 88.82

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’'S HANDS

35.24% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of public. Accordingly. the Company has complied with Rule 723 of
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of Lizhong Wheel Group Ltd (*the Company®) will be held at
Meeting Room 205, Level 2, Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard Suntec
City. Singapore 039593 on Friday, 30 Apri 2010 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Accounts of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2009 together with the Auditors' Report thereon
(Resolution 1)

To re-elect the following Directors of the Company retiring pursuant to Article 89 of the Articles of Association of the
Company:-

Mr Zang Lizhong (Resolution 2)
Mr Chua Hung Meng {Resolution 3)

Mr Chua Hung Meng will. upon re-election as a Director of the Company, remain as Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and Nominating Committee and will be considered
independent

To approve the payment of Directors’ Fees of RMB 538,789 (equivalent to $$110,575) for the year ended 31
December 2009 (2008: RMB 528,088 (equivalent to S$111,153))

(Resolution 4)
To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of the
Company to fix their remuneration

(Resolution 5)

To transact any other ordinary business which may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions as Ordinary Resolutions, with or without any modifications:

6

Authority to issue shares

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Rute 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, the Directors of the Company be authorised and empowered to

@ issue shares in the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(i) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”} that might or would require
shares to be issued. including but not imited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to)
options, warrants. debentures or other instruments convertible into shares.

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors
of the Company may In their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b}  (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in
pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors of the Company while this Resolution was
In force,
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provided that.

(1)  the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued in pursuance of the Instruments, made or
granted pursuant to this Resolution) to be issued pursuant to this Resolution shall not exceed fifty per centum
(50%) of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata
basis to shareholders of the Company shall not exceed twenty per centum (20%) of the total number of
issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below);

(2)  (subject to such calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited)
for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1)
above, the total number of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares in the capital
of the Company at the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for:

(a)  new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b)  new shares arising from exercising share options of vesting of share awards which are outstanding
or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution. and

(c) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares,

(3)  (until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration date as may be determined by Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited). the limit on the aggregate number of shares (including shares to be issued
in pursuance of the Instruments, made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) of fifty per cent (50%) of
the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company set out in sub-paragraph (1) above, shall
be increased to 100%, for purposes of enabling the Company to undertake pro-rata renounceable rights
1Ssues;

Q) 1n exercising the authonty conferred by this Resolution, the Company shatl comply with the provisions of
the Listing Manua! of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force (unless
such compliance has been waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited) and the Articles
of Association of the Company; and

{5}  unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force until
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual
Generai Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is earlier. [See Explanatory Note
Q)]

{Resolution 6)

Authority to issue shares other than on a pro-rata basis pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate at
discounts not exceeding twenty per centum (20%) of the weighted average price for trades done on the
SGX-ST

That subject to and pursuant to the aforesaid share issue mandate being obtained, the Directors of the Company
be hereby authonsed and empowered to issue shares (other than on a pro-rata basis to the shareholders of the
Company) at a discount (‘the Discount®) not exceeding ten per centum (10%) to the weighted average price (“the
Price”) for trades done on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (*SGX-ST) for the full market day
on which the placement or subscription agreement in relation to such shares is executed (or if not available for a
full market day. the weighted average price must be based on the trades done on the preceding market day up to
the time the placement or subscription agreement is executed), provided that in exercising the authorty conferred
by this Resolution:-

(a) the Company complies with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force
(unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST); and

(b)  the Company may, until 31 December 2010 or such other expiration date as may be determined by SGX-ST
increase the Discount to an amount exceeding ten per cent {(10%) but not more than twenty per cent (20%)
of the Price for shares to be issued,
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unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, such authority shall continue n force until (a) the

conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company, or (b) the date by which the next Annual General

Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held whichever i1s earlier. [See Explanatory Note (1i))
(Resolution 7)

R | of Shareholders’ Mandate for Ir d Person Transactions
That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited:

(@) approval be given for the renewal of the mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies
or any of them to enter into any of the transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions
as set out in the on pages 3 to 8 of the Company's Letter to Shareholders dated 15 April 2010 ("Letter”) with
any party who is of the class of Interested Persons described in the Letter, provided that such transactions
are carried out on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures of the Company
for such Interested Person Transactions as set out in the Letter (the “Shareholders’ Mandate’),

(b) the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, continue
in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held. whichever is earlier; and

(¢}  authority be given to the Directors of the Company to complete and do all such acts and things (including
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may consider necessary, desirable or expedient

to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate as they may think fit [See Explanatory Note (iii)]
(Resolution 8)

By Order of the Board

Wong Yoen Har
Secretary

Singapore, 15 April 2010

Explanatory Notes:

(0]

The Ordinary Resolution 6 in item 6 above. if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting ofthe Company. or the date by which the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company Is required by law to be held or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a
general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant Instruments convertible into shares and
to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments, up to a number not exceeding, in total, 50% of the total number of
issued shares in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to
shareholders. The 50% limit referred to in the preceding sentence may be increased to 100% for the Company to
undertake pro-rata renounceable rights issues subject to timeline stated below.

For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be
calculated based on the total number of Issued shares in the capital of the Company at the time this Ordinary
Resolution is passed after adjusting for new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible
secunties or share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time when this
Ordinary Resolution is passed and any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares
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The 100% renounceable pro-rata rights issue limit is one of the new measures implemented by the SGX-ST as
stated 1n a press release entitled "SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February
2009 and which became effective on 20 february 2009 until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of these
measures will be reviewed by the SGX-ST at the end of the period. It will provide the Directors with an opportunity
to raise funds and avoid prolonged market exposure by reducing the time taken for shareholders’ approval, in the
event the need anses. Minority shareholders’ interests are mitigated as all shareholders have equal apportunities
to participate and can dispose their entittements through trading of nil-paid rights if they do not wish to subscribe
for their rights shares. ltis subject to the condition that the Company makes periodic announcements on the use of
the proceeds as and when the funds are materially disbursed and provides a status report on the use of proceeds
in the annual report

(D] The Ordinary Resolution 7 in item 7 above is pursuant to measures implemented by the SGX-ST as stated in a
press release entitled *“SGX introduces further measures to facilitate fund raising” dated 19 February 2009 and
which became effective on 20 February 2009 until 31 December 2010. The effectiveness of these measures will
be reviewed by SGX-ST at the end of the period Under the measures implemented by the SGX-ST, issuers will
be aflowed to undertake non pro-rata ptacements of new shares priced at discounts of up to 20% to the weighted
average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription agreement
in relation to such shares I1s executed. subject to the conditions that (a) shareholders' approval be obtained in a
separate resolution (the “Resolution”) at a general meeting to issue new shares on a non pro-rata basis at discount
exceeding 10% but not more than 20%; and (b) that the resolution seeking a general mandate from shareholders
for issuance of new shares on a non pro-rata basis is not conditional upon the Resolution

It should be noted that under the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, shareholders’ approval is not required for
placements of new shares, on a non pro-rata basis pursuant to a general mandate, al a discount of up to 10% to the
weighted average price for trades done on the SGX-ST for a full market day on which the placement or subscription
agreement in relation to such shares is executed

(ni) The Ordinary Resolution 8 proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will authorise the Interested Person Transactions
as described in the Letter and recurring in the year and will empower the Directors of the Company to do all acts
necessary to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate This authority will, unless previously revoked or varied by
the Company in a general meeting, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company
or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is

the earlier

Notes:

1. A Member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (the "Meeting”") is entitted to appoint a proxy
to attend and vote in histher stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

2 The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at 50 Raffles Place,

#32-01 Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the tme appointed for
holding the Meeting.

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD
ANNUAL REPORT 2009 93




This page has been intentionally left biank.

RSV E b=l

Lishong Whsert Groug




~

%

LIZHONG WHEEL GROUP LTD. I|MPORTANT:

Company Registration No. 200407196C
‘Incorporated In The Republic of Singapore)

the CP¥ Approved Nominees within the me frame specifiedto
vote on their behalf

For investcrs who have used thewr CPF mones to buy Lizhong Wheel Group
Ltd 's shares, this Report 1s forwarded to them at the request of the CPF
Approved Nomunees and rs sent salely FOR INFORMATION ONLY

2 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors ano shall be ineffectve
for all intents and purpcses f used or purported 10 be used by them

3 CPF mvestors who wish to attend the Meeting as 8n observer must submrt
their requests through thew CPF Approved Nominees within the ume frame
specified if they also wish to vole, they must submt their voung instructions to

enzble them to

PROXY FORM
(Please see notes overteaf before completing this Form)

1We,

of

being a member/members of Lizhong Wheet Group Ltd. (the "Company”), hereby appoint

Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %
Address
andlor (delete as appropnate}
Name NRIC/Passport No. Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares %
Address

or failing the person, or either or both of the persons, referred to above, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies
to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual Generat Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the Company 1o be held on Friday, 30 Apni
2010 at 10.00 a m. and at any adjoumment thereof. 1/\We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for of against the Resolutons
proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific directon as to voting is given or in the event of any other matter
arising at the Meetng and at any adjournment thereof, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at hissher discreton
The authornity herein includes the right to demand or to join In demanding a poll and to vote on a poll

(Please indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick [v] within the box provided.)

No.

Resolutions relating to: For

Against

Directors' Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 31 December 2009

Re-election of Mr Zang Lizhong as a Director

Re-election of Mr Chua Hung Meng as a Director

Approval of Directors’ Fees amounting to RMB538.789 (equivalent to $$110,575)

Re-appointment of Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors

Authority to issue new shares

Authority to issue new shares up to discount of 20%

-1 EN1 £ (2.1 PN FR) [N N

Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

Dated this day of

Total number of Shares in

No of
Shares

(a) CDP Regster

Signature oi“Shareholder(s)

{b) Register of Members

or, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder




23S

1 Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number
of Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number
of Shares. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your
name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name

- in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the
instument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

2 A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is enttied to appoint one or two
proxies to attend and vote in his/her stead A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he/she specifies the proportion of
hisher shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4 Completion and retum of this instrument appainting a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and voting at
the Meeting Any appointment of a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to be revoked if a member attends the meeting in
person, and in such event, the Company reserves the nght to refuse to admit any person or persons appointed under
the instrument of proxy to the Meeting

5 The instrument appointing a proxy of proxies must be deposited at the regrstered office of the Company at 50 Raffles
Place, #32-01 Singapore Land Tower. Singapore 048623 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the
Meeting

6 The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attomey duly authorised
inwrting  Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation. it must be executed either
under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or
proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy
thereof must be lodged with the instrument

7 A corporation which i1s a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as
it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter
50 of Singapore

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies If it is incomplete. improperty completed or
ilegible, or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertanable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company
may reject any instrument appainting a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointar. is not shown to have Shares
entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as
certfied by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company
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Lizhong Wheel Group

REGISTERED OFFICE
50 Raffles Place #32-01
Singapore Land Tower Singapore 048623

.
DBesighed by saga Tel: (5] 34382980
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I AXTFHEB<XTHIGHREB WU FTEFERABR AT ZEITHER
FERBESR>HILED
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1L CRTFHRNER 2N FAKE AR BH X TR
SWRMAETIB A4 GEFHATHY BRI % WA www.cninfo.com.cn t-.
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OV x5 S AAARROA A G wmosrane -Th

BLW EHESRE

- AREERR
(—) REPRLANLERTNES
1. AT BHLSENRL

2010, AGIEH LSRN0, LANFERIE" (9155 548,
ERERLFERHNTE, FETLVSEORE, AL LARNLRAOKNBHT, &
MRS S, E=REMBKREEA, BREMTRTEEFLTEIF.

1) BN BRI R 1] LRt

HA(ART)TT

2010 458 2009 # % Rt (%)
A 1,895,360,956.52 1,354,783,147.60 39.90
LIz 177,926.676.86 88.417,936.91 101.23
% F)ii 166,605,758.87 86,208,059.86 93.26
Va1 b R4y B
_ 132,760.543.72 67.393,125.62 96.99
H )R A A

2) . SATHIRERE A ESE L

2010 4E 3 A 30 B, AwT €2009 F4EFH &Y PHE T Anl 2010 F 12
HERAERHERA 1826 27 2010 FFLhrSTIRE U 18.95 275, 4 F
vHRISE R H 105.3%.

3 L2010 FEFEETEFRNT:

2010 7, A &AM, BEK. MgA. AEZ oM 204N ES
BRI, RS RTHESENMY, BMIAREHS. A%BR, TSTHK
Foo BIEERBEFEES .

OB BVEY. FIH-RIHEsE. A SRBAER &, BT FAIT A,

KAFHA T2 HM™RE. BT, A TRV, R
REMLRFEFEEE MRS, ERRT REMBADER D, HEF NS
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1
ZEVY #5175 ¥ R BARRBA LG 2010 $ 4 A %4

RRETRIEEA.

JE LTI 20 IRV RIMRCE R, WA @ B RO, it
RITFiE. BARREE. MBEUE A RIE SR,

KX AAA ST TR, B RS T AMBEEIR R TARG &AL
BhEA

@M R, SERKTHNBERI L8R EER

R FECET UL AR SRR N AN T IR A 1o Eh R, R
RAEBAMRES KT, Eot, ATEERTIEGARSIHTHRIBAT S
BRI T EHAR, BRI AR R &, StasTk
X e HUMPERE R B P .

DA i i f5)

AT TFMTHARIAL, HHTITREN, MEIENT 2537 W%
P&, HPRDE ARG, MHITEREWE THAG T, LM 1 #a
IVEN )T TN

DT NRIEEHER

2010 HLUR, Q&R T A, FARRBAT. FARFRARETS.
KM, B&. ARR NS MR, B39 -00biE. 1800 T %R
B, OFE CRRA, K TR STER.

2, FEUERAZERR

() =R

LaNEENSE RATELGSERNE” GHE.
(2) Il F RN R EE A 45 R A iR

HBRAARMAT

Aok ey _Lﬁj\lfﬁ ﬁ"zr:t/oj;;ml }%}iz% drztx;if';-tw
M 95.920.95 51.91 20.360.93 59.93
X ® 4t 88,876.70 48.09 13,615.23 40.07
&it 184,797.65 100.00 33.976.16 100.00
AM 59,336.21 32.11 11,842.80 34.86
KRR OEM 125.461.44 67.89 22,133.36 65.14
Aib 184,797.65 100.00 33.976.17 100.00
P W 15,084.52 8.16 2,269.51 6.68

' 4s



2OV 55+ ABARROHA LD woseane. - 14

s 6,399.97 3.46 1,324.31 3.90
HmEe 162.248.66 87.80 30,237.72 89.00
TIK 988.49 0.53 140.21 0.41
R 76.01 0.04 441 0.01
it 184,797.65 100.00 33,976.17 100.00

(3) R MLTIHR

A ARSI
# (1312 2N Tk & TEAR R 4(%)
£
Bl sm L 1ok A5 L Wk | 4 e |
l: 95.920.95 65,346.88 | 46.79% | 75,560.02 52,764.25 | 43.20% 21.23 18.8 243
;’_ 88.876.70 66,3827 | 33.38% | 7526147 58,571.49 | 28.50% 15.32 11.89 3.43
&
ip | 18479765 | 13148515 | 4055% | 15082149 | 11133574 | 35.47% 18.39 15.32 3.07
4 R Eigmn
BRAAARTYAT
HA 2@ (3175 % 3 kPN (%)
hd
Fun "
4 Kok + . ok ! i Mk
ES ] &) (%) E S LW (%) ES ] vl %>
Hige4e | 15.084.52 18.432.83 | <1816 | 12,8150 | 1645533 | -22.12 15.05 10.73 132
I 48 6.399.97 5,570.08 14.90 5,075.65 4,501.94 12.74 20.69 19.18 151
WA | 162,24866 | 107.073.51 | 5153 | 132,01094 | 89989.46 | 46.70 |. 18.64 16.02 262
ESN 988.49 408.73 141.84 848.28 389.01 118.06 14.18 4.83 9.35
333 76.01 . 71,60 . - 5.80
it 184,797.65 | 13148515 | 40.55 | 150.821.49 | 111,33574 | 3547 18.39 15.32 3.07

(5) BN AT




ZEW T4 RAARROA A 010 AELRE -

HEMA, LAEEBEUFREMERRRETORNL, REHRNOT:

@

PARTIA R
. 2009 EE 2010 41§

&8 Lt ¥ bt B
BEME A 62,036.27 55.72% 102,025.35 67.65%
ATRE 8,906.86 8.00% 9,094.95 6.03%
1710 B 5 EE S 17,401.78 15.63% 17,756.73 11.77%
AV ZDJ) A 14,373 44 1291% 16,057.78 10.65%
ST A A 8,617.39 7.74% 5,886.67 3.90%
& 111,335.74 100.00% 150,821.49 100.00%

(6) EEWHRAFIGEH XU

REHA, BN HNEETHHLTEVEFRASLS LS LBLELFEAS
Hk 51.91%H1 48.09%, - EE AL % RN TTHA & L4 2k 59.93%H1 40.07%. T
R ABEEVESNNESKRRENG. THEmiBeE R,

EENMFBAGEARAM M EERE R RAZHIG RS, LEER AT
i — RGO ERERIRIIN, LR IR B A AN T S SR %R
Mo ZRFHREORATIOIBET ALRA: =R I E. Skl
REVR R AR FENH SRR T P R TS HA.

(D ILARBEFRAEKE PR

ANBRAEH EHYS R RS (SRR NNHRR) . ATEBSEINEE
MBI R T HA LA RS, 7E SRR PR IE TR R G T
LR R ARG B . 15 09 AEHILL, 2010 4 2 R8T T30 {1t 55 7Y ) 3R 0 b 9043 B
TR, ITFERE R — (R S, 2R3 3 TR —— a1 B N
W—H R =F 7R,

HETMHEL LA, AEEBHRHURERFGEHORE, ARHET T -F
JIMThE K. BPEHEE, %E GM UUARKE L AM KX HERTH,
FZ. B OEM ¥ &~ REM OEM #iltiin, WX THMIE,, EFAEPHE
HERS.

¥ 2008 2009 2010
Tk K& (ITR) 64,673.77 71,099.25 68,979.28
1 TFRRR
B '5{',, 253;4 59.68% 64.96% 53.76%




o

2010 #4254 -

ZOW 5T £ RBARREA B
X ML/ (AT 63,563.86 53,521.70 80,644.66
Hp &L THE 4 006 " "
B L ) 44.00% 39.50% 42.55%

2010 12 B 31 H, 283 A KRB BT KRR TRt 1761.84 T3 5T,
& 2 ] BT AR BRI 80.18%, MIABEMELBTR: AREWEREAH
M KRR 2410033 J7 58, b 2 B RO AK B R BIRIEE B 62.26%.

AT HNE . BASALEAFEEXBEXER, AFEF. Hd. GHER
AB . BOHERA R 1R S%LL ERRAE. EFRESIAMIXBE T & 8K,
PP EERREHEMA RS, 2 -RETRE PR, S teg Rt
30%, AFETEE REAR B —& P IR OIS B R KR .

3. MEPEATRHRMS
B (ART) X
WERA HES D] Wt
i YT ;
AR s W ERHPEI s m EERAMIE | ma
- #1 (%) . # (%)
2;; 390,942,022.74 25.10% 290,652,907.3) 18.84 34.50%
{£ 1 143,324.702.51 9.20% 182,217,206.00 11.81 -21.34%
REHE |
" A .00% [t}
e 0.00 0.00% 0 0
KRR
X 0.00% 4] 0
B 0.00 00 0
;’;5 567,588,543.30 36.45% 567,057.626.90 36.75 0.09%
{']t:,t, 39,070,598.14 251% 95,921,547.68 6.22 -59.27%
£y

fzg 109,634,707.59 7.04% 210,080,956.09 13.62 -47.81%

"

ol 0.00 0.00% 80,000,000.00 5.18 -100.00%
JhE
§o3 T 1,557,300,279.28 100.00% 1,542,799,823.48 100 0.94%

AR

(1) Ak MBRYIHY 2.91 {Z T8 NF 3.87 (25T, #I0 33.18%. T Bl
FARSE AN T B €, T A B O (K S A e R T AR BT EL
() TR 21.34%, TRPIAREWIN B IR T HFEHATRL, LIGYsE™.
FARIRE R ER, WO TSNS
(3) KL 47.81%, FEARGWANLRAMRTRAA TR, A
R AMNRMEIERTT I, B T W RITHER
() KRR D T 8000 6, £ATRIKRKMERIZMEs h—8
W EI B R RS S BT L
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RV #5275 & R BARBROH B8

2010 #4284 :

4. REWATHENA. FARA. UERARFBBRER

Q\

(R ARTT)
g %4 EHNA b F-A 44
HERH 54,973,770.08 40,584,135 83 35.46%
THRM 87,444,277.31 63,873,279.30 36.90%
MR 17,760,018.03 9,895,371.95 79.48%
2igi 3] 19,522,173.12 8,883,274 47 119.76%
THETERN:

(1) HERAMNEERLT LRSS LAEH—LHHEEHTEL
fizm. eiER TR A%,

() EHEMAYNLIERATNECHFIERF-RIF R FAEMBBTE 2010

EINMATE

(3) MFRANM 79.48%, TERADNTHEWABTFARBICREHR
K, T 545 i 1 2009 FE L2 264.12 T7ILZEAL 5 2010 FE45 K 780.01 T SeFR 8.

(4) Fisiignm119.76%, BRI G IEMAR.

5. AARERBREIHRIL

#ir. (AR T

prli]

ES:l LFEmE MGt
RAYFEA L CIR G SR B 233,676.020.63 124,832,973.85 87.19%
BBEN T E IR B WP B -66,869,248.39 -67.678,593.01 1.20%
BREF L IR G WA P -157.384,291.64 -94,250,953.16 66.98%

EHEERIA:

(D BEEFHEEONEHFIGINE R D LR H G IN5 RS E MR

TR E B E

(2) BREDFPNE B EILED 12%, EERLNE 2010 F£H 5T

WAE T AT B P R B AR A ST B £ AW 579.67 TT TR B
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2OV #557 F RBARRAARAQ w0 £ axme 70

(3) BRFHE MRS H LB FFLLIRIN 66.98%, I TEH AN EF
C BBK, SRR AT A 2 W (550 8 17 (5 3K00R X a9IR 4 bb B B 10759
.

6. SMCTRGITNLE

ARB AR RBEH ML 2 A5 TR R, AR E 2007 ERF
RTHMOEMEN W% . 2010 48, ATMELHART NDF b4 LR
WEEITAM & FTREA SR AR, B T AR M RBMBRE, A SE NSV EHT
FIF LT 138.74 TG, H EEKME D 80.69%. RIS HIER Y 00F 5 &£F
7 597.56 J1 70, MR B TR N AR 458.82 I T, AN RN TR

. 2009 £ 2010 £¢
&8 2% HLSENR
CEXNRIERRBT -7,184,127.00 -1,387,445.40 -80.69%
REWMEANMRENRT 7.284,399.98 5,975.600.02 -17.97%
'B5ai 100,272.98 4,588,154.62 4475.66%
7. REEERD

FREL TR P R R SR SR B YIRS P B e — B 2 ) i
WEZERE. ER2ERRURFMEEPHNREIT . 2010 £ 0K
WHCRAT T2 B F R A BT A, ERBR AR ERISIE T 40 e D05 % 7= 40
EHEY, FHAETHEANSGMES R B URER, RERASRE,

ATHVITSR . APBRE:. ARALE, ARSI E S MG IR K07 S
s, #H W T
4.4} 2008 2009 2010
vl G 1444689110.85 1354783147.60 1895360956.52
IR (TT) 200571486.89 290652907.30 390942022.74
I K Y 5 72 4.66 5.56
£ (o) 175,100,924.33 182.217,206.00 143324702.51
TrI A% 8.2 743 10.80
8. FREHH/R

REWA, 2F RGN 182 LE ORMAR 143 27T, BT

2143%. FRELSEERAFTMGE T HERT S EHOEE, ATREE M
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! A
20V #5275 4 RAARREA A . 2010‘#4/).410-3? o

PV TR B I, S5 T RS QTE RS R, 245 S0 A AR B EA B
() smxs, GEGRERAARH,

A S RIBE R AT EM AU S KO EAEBHET RSN %, BT
B $E[EIA7 DT Bk e . ACEITE B R AE B i B T

i TARS
t i .
S 2010 &4 ﬁmm: Eud 2 AR P % G AE %
3 *‘Ef PURE | BiEd $#1ul WA R

Ek | 1984999036 1.27 93,018.48 46,219.78 - 139,238.26
Qb | 2491639736 1.60 - . . 0.00
Edh | 426865477 027 . . . 0.00
ﬂ“ﬁ{?” 434.729.50 0.03 ; . ; 0.00
k& | 9842492047 6.32 9392,516.16 | 211,871.77 | 517363624 | 4,430.751.69

41t 147.894.692.46 9.50 | 948553464 | 258,091.55 | 517363624 | 4,569.989.95

9. MEEIMR

EWIK, 2al 3R MR RE R, O T RITRK ERGKEARET
B, FIR BRI YK EZER D F AR SN, DA RWE KA.

AN DR T &
B AR T
2008 2009 F. 2010 %
Ea i
8 od 4 D) 3. B i)
ISR STiE08 239,90 210,08.10 -12.43 10.963.47 -47.81
fﬁ)’; ';R':" 100,00 0 -100 $,000.00
Q418 0.00 80,00 . 0.00 -100.00
kit 33990 290,08.10 -14.66 18,963.47 -34.63
14293 200,57.15 290.65.29 4491 38,710.45 33.18
10, EARAE
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IEAV #5325 F RAARBREN B G 2010 $-4 RS 23

BEMA, T2 BDBN G LT S B O, F3H R
(O wemmRRE: RGN N RBERR AR FIRIE, 58RI S8 EHR
. BANRRATR:

T 2008 42 2009 F 2010 &
dishtb % 1.09 1.51 1.73
HE L F 0.81 1.16 1.44

B 41.08% 39.35% 32.19%
K B ERBS 2.06 7.85 17.38
11. REHFBHMSR

AFIBEHME ZAZHEFHEEEASTIT, BPLFMIIT. FHSEK
NEERGRTHSE AL BAENTREFMESIE AFLE LA
EIRMX. 2009 & 2010 4988 H/H & A R ER S REM R T

@ 2009 & 2010 %
] LW % LR K (%)
T SR L) 360.82 488.4 35.36
HIER AT T) 673931 13276.05 96.99
EITHME )

F 1 ) 9 04 L > 88 e
EFHEA (A ) 135,030.76 189,536.10 39.90
(SR E - PN

A ) 0.27 0.26% -0.01

12, FIRAR

A F] 2010 EMEF RN BB LS EAEMLEIEIN 91528 7T, BARIBA L
EOV BN BT EL B 2009 SEH 3. 57% FIEE) 3.04%, T ER BT HIE AR
Bl KBS HE B M 2000 FhY 18 NMEINE 44 D, FFR i KRR 2009
FHA TR, BLERBRMFROF=RRERNTHES, FRAVRKH
B, 2010 %, ARBBHERELHE LIMEE.

i 2009 4 2010 %
PERIZA(T ) 4838.98 5677.98
£ 1 ONVIp8] 13547831 189536.10
BER BN EB A ML) 3.57% 3.00%
TFRH = ) 319 156
A4 F)(35) 18 44




2V ¥z %5 + ARAK RN A& 2010 4;4-)1#}0 ' 23

13, TRBVATRBBRATNLBERRRLS
(D BRF AR-BENERBEREFRAR

BT EREARFRARMAILT 2000 4 10 B, THEAFEESTFRME
EERE, AMAARART S000 e, A0 FHE 65%.

ik 2010 % 12 A 31 B, AR LA™ 369,416,903.98 T, B H T
286,723,049.62 ju: 2010 FFE, A AT 583,291,715.58 Ju, LILRHHG
93,909,781.27 Ji, B EERNIM 4,466 FiTt. A «BRWSBEETER/HRE=W
PRIER BTG e REm, H#ARERERE, 10 E8H%D
FEBMEATHHEREA S LT, ARHRSEBKFETKRE,
BWRARA R BN,

Q) FERFAF-TERESREHRAMBAE

THEREKRBRAMART 2004 43 AL, ERHEBTEERME™
S, EMRPEA 2000 HEIT, FAFEGH 75%HAE.

Wik 2010 4 12 B 31 B, A& 8%~ 26415999983 t, B KT
112,932,853.18 Jjt: 2010 ¥, 2 SLHRWEA 298,278,221.20 76, I H)
1 3.907,166.85 Ji. 8 LAEFEIEIN 292 T, B4 T 2009 FEE RS AR LK,
2010 FERNDBEREHM. FHEATNERHLENRIW, AFNBHRRLEBET
WA, EEREN TSNS QRN ER Y, HRHE OEM %K
B K. 26K TASEROTERARNRI, £ 88 m A%
e h B EI3R S,

(3) &R AF-FHFERE (EE) FRAF

HFEEE (EED HFR 28T 2006 4 4 8 25 HEEEM/RAT SRR
» TERESHMAHE. RUFTRHEEIES. AR N 100 7%, FHf
100%#14X 3

Ok

#1E20104E 12 A 31 B, ASE%™ 3,714,14456 7T, B% 7™ 1,645,212.67
: 2010 “EESCINEY 1 4,514,365.08 7T, SRR H)48-2,911,596.10 T

dl

(&) &FT AR FHAEH MAERF




ZOV #555E RBARBDA AN wo4488e 3L

FHEAERHBIEA 6T 2006 F 4 H 3 HEXBFEHRBAMEMN AL, H
AATHMEEE. SOt R Y ERS, T €05 AR L% OEM Wish LR
XEF. WHREBREEME T E, AN HE 10 HET, WAH 100%M .

#2010 12 H 31 B, 2 5 &1 %7 5,518,278.49 JC, (¥ 7™ 510,895.55 ii:
2010 S8 TWIE B U 10,050,410.37 7T, #Fi0-42,406.14 T,

() MATRRRBRIFE N RE
1, TlRERR
(D) TFiHTRAR

2010 ELHEHHBREKS . SRBEGR F—EEH 12%, BH
i 6170 N4, EFERERAPMRERTS KB, HREEFMERYEANES
MHERFEE, BRSZYURFHELNK, HhfE, $B. BYF. 4. o
PRI ARIE 10% LA B, XERIE 4 40K 5RE#. RKBERTHLLT
MEyp . BN WRMEERE I, RN DT, UURESRBHAEN.

HAKM M HESR, LN HEREEN, RN ESRE 2009 F—
¥ PR E TR B L, 2010 S4 M RIE 1800 T, W XE,
HE—, BEE VU SHemB, 2011 EPE GG 10%0I8 K, I
2000 7748, BESMUIFERD.

MAE & 2010 AT HEPOE Y, DFEX AR HBLALTRORES,
PRIy CHEANGEY, T Rgai 38, I RBHET AL R B £ Koz
Yo, AETSHRRBURESHLLM, & 201 EMEAYHERREZRANY
W, LAEIfE LK 10%-15%0CRIEE G M- FHD, BIAREEBURMS, °T
e o AR EEE .

SAEMF, 2011 FRAVIEDH LS TRE—R 2P, HTHEHKEO
FP M AT R XA DB A F st —4E.

() PERSEBIT LR ERR

2010 “F @I N7 {EDE SR —& 2010 410 ARKUIAAE T
AT F b E R R RS T) RA Y RITERIL 22.3%1HH:
ZRTEVESFIET 1800 THE, HMSRE -,

2010 F 10 H 28 HIBKMZE R4 04 TR Frhllfs nEsing (g
FEF) BT P A KU 4 SRS HE A A0 R, B # O BT e N
ZAMTININ ST A, IR R MR IR R 1% 22.3%1F .

34




®)

!

ZEV HE T+ RBARBREGTRA G 2010 $ 4R RY

PHAAEEE - KAEHETHOAELSE, FHRAEBRLWHE
FHELHRAKRITHHEHEERTHOEATIHIFE, BATH0TIEHA
TLUREBARBICEENRERA S RPE XA PERFEEELHARE R,

81F 2008 F /) L REAEHL W & 2010 4E (R X = T By OS5 8
REHEAOEE, PEXSHDPAEBREUMHEHHEREARDTS, B8R
2009 & 8 ALK, ERFHHEMTEREZE LARL, RAHENAESRFSE
g b, PERFSLLVHEERERELN, — 8oL S Bt
LEAEL THE: BRAG—Ho0LBEN RS HARETHNRETRE
WAREN, 2001 MESKTWHTER LM IAMN KB KRTEEL, -
ZHOES NN ERE T ER.

2. KU, BIRS5ATRME T
1) B

(HErx OEM N5 MR AL H RN HHLBNARLLK, K. HREOEME
IR T R ETIHRMN L, FERAEHE R, BLEESHOTEBLR
BIRATRHUA: BAAEN DS R HREY K. B ARKE A RIZHRE LM
BT BERETWERORERSE, SR FHA T b s
R, AT KRB R E.

(2) bk

ITHRCE, MREABERSHER: SEX5RRRE T L=
TIHE S BPFRTIR L3RG, BT SRR AE . B
TREDABRFAK R RO KN TTI5 T 5 RK R IBUE 90 45 RO TR E
%,

(3) R E)RYLERE B

2 FRIAEE B AR SO £ IRTUR MR VA, & “ZCW” SMRN
SRELY TR LMmE SRR,

BA R T BT PR E " 2 &) MRS E G, < BARBE D S BRIk,
PR IR, RAESHYSE" RAGMMYER. 409, 10 F8E, A
RIRE QR I R b BRI 608 . BFE 7 b AKHRTE . WA E R LA NR
AR RE R LHAWERL, SREWVZOCES D, ET MBI KEERS.

2RI AR IR AT B TR SRR SR BHBAIRT 7. (RALTIIRTT R R
IR BRI T2 RS LT 5% 85 0 LM R AL 8% o+ 5l R
ehl.
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ZEV M T £ RBARBRIAAA G 2010 £ 4IRS

3. AF 2001 ENLEHHMEEARF

201 FAFNEERESE “USEREAPC. BANEFRIE. L #
KR, RAFC AR, BALEAERT, WRTEN AR N0 304,
FUEHLBMAT . BOR. MR, SEERB A HINAIIT Y, SMEARF
KOEF T EARREIRR MRS BEILRETHAR. RRCEHERD
# KRB BOR A B RIPATRR, R RGEE MR R T K B H AR
SRR, THIRRE A RN~ iR ARE, T HREREES, ¥
AR AT S BRI . RIS IR O 25 2T

4. WM

2 A EEGERBETHER ERAMBAMEY, FELATRBRI, G
B2 MRS, MUMKNEOREE SREANE L BEH, BRa%
BUWMHEBCE: MRARRITEREY REBRE, WP ERT ERMERNE Y
F# A,

5. RQB®

(1 EErSS RY T A AT RS 11 35 450 1t RS

2010 410 A 28 B, KBRATEA 3 hIHE4 S0 B R BB BLEE,
B2 S B AR e 1% 22.3% o IXTCEE R S KA B 40 P I H TS5 1 £
o B AUNIHES TR, ABEEET SRS MNKRESEETE, K&
K TE AR SE i 39 FF 30 5 ¥ IR

AR iR, AR THE—F RSN KE AN SNHESEE, Jiir KN
HECENTIMRARIS: B -4, EHATIHHES D —FE RN, 175
BF CHEARBEE PR, B RN A 5 S R T A B
1T

(2) BN E R

hEMYEEHEERNY, BA L NBERM AT, NECEH SRS T
RE THEN DN, 2009 5 2010 ERER ETHRERIRNBE, 50
qJ UM X — s (R P A BT SRE, RN ERXSEETH R GEE 4
FEFEOR, W6 201 EREEXRY. SREEERMBCRMD, 3
RHHBURNE . 00038 BB IHEE B NS A R U R BRI T B W4 % —
ROV RAIE IS S AR OR, XS EMBHRIRBER T RF LW,

(3) W3k T ¥ HE R (I BLA R
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ZEL/ #5554 ABAKBRGN AL 4 010 44288 3y

AR EHEAERERBEERE W HTE OEM FREREKER, Wi OEM
TS50t B 0 (LI 5 0 (0 R B 4 B 7 & R R IR, SIS R o 3 7
IR RGN TR KE KNS HFHRK.

BEXYIX — 5, — RSl I AR B, BRI BN, ]
PR EFRORE. H—AWMEREMAHERPEEAN, TS 4
FEIELROR, HRER &SR AR D& ER R E, TILX & 5 MR
#it. HE, ARTERETEREERAMG, HEHEHRER RS, L
RESMHEasng, Beraxeh.

(4) ARTCRMDIEN R BNRE
2010 FELAK, BN EHL FRBEEDRE, MEEWRALE &
MEFRA, OB KEENQERYWHLATNEIELTARNLR.

XX —HR, —HEASSEFBIT e, MBEHBEARTICERNR
N EHB L — ECEM B AR MR RN S — A S TR
ERMBHNSEEE, SRMEFRMBL2ETFRAKREETHE.,

(5) ALRK

EER, 2ERBAXRIRFAETHRY, HHRWETY, SFEg
WE, MITRMBEMMCE. REAXHE, FERHSIARCEMTS,
GLRFETERTHREAMBLRNELRMUERT, H LTETFEEEWZ
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